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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of
this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
announcement.

This announcement, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this announcement
misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

fERe

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March

Revenue

Gross (loss)/profit

Loss before income tax

Loss attributable to the owners
of the Company

Basic loss per Share (HK cents)

Dividend per Share (HK cents)

Yo s

£ (B)/F

BR 1S 5L AT B 18
RRBIEE NEAEEE

FRENEE GEML)
TS B

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Total assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company

BEE
AehREEHEED
waE
ARe)EB N EEED

mEXE

BE=A=+—HIFE

Changes

—26.9%
N/A 38
52.7%

54.4%
54.7%
N/A A5 A

e MR R
R=A=+—H

Changes

-14.9%
14.1%
13.4%

—62.9%

2020
SEL
HK$°000
FHT

237,322
(17,536)
(105,174)

(100,831)
(2.49)
N/A & A

2020
S e
HK$°000
FHT

248,454
91,196
520,422

(271,968)

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHET

324,855
3,484
(68,878)

(65,302)
(1.61)
N/A 738 £

2019
—T-NF
HK$'000
FET

292,101
79,915
459,002

(166,991)
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Return on equity (Note a) =B (fita)
Return on assets (Note b) BERR (AiFb)
Current ratio (Note c) mENLLE (fatc)
Gearing ratio (Note d) BEABLE (fitd)
Notes:

(@)

4

Return on equity is calculated as net loss divided by Shareholders’ equity.

Return on assets is calculated as net loss divided by total assets.

Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current
liabilities.

Gearing ratio is calculated as total amount of promissory note, convertible

notes, lease liabilities/finance lease payables and advance received from
customers divided by total assets.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
rali@snt

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong and television
broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the
PRC) and develop Multi Channel Network (MCN) business with vast
resources on information contents in channels/internet, such as
YouTube in return for advertising and related revenue.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 15 March 2010 and the Shares were listed on GEM on
30 August 2010.

Currently, the Group’s television broadcasting business is mainly
carried out through Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific as well as Shenzhen
Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural Development Limited* (7 31| 511 /& 5 4=
BEXLBERABR AR . The Group’s Multi Channel Network
(MCN) business is mainly carried out through BayTV Network
Holdings Limited.

The Group’s business of provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector is carried out through TYW and TY Civil
respectively with TYW responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a main contractor and forming joint
operations while TY Civil responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a subcontractor.

*  for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE PROFILE
ral@snt

REGISTRATIONS HELD FOR UNDERTAKING

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has obtained the following registrations from Works
Branch Development Bureau (2% & /@ T##}) of the Government

for undertaking projects as a main contractor:

Registration
& it

RREBIEXRBFE2EM

AEEEABRFEERTERRE TR
PR EARENELR:

Value of project which the Group is eligible to undertake
under the relevant registration

REEBEMAEESEREAE IR ZEE

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Waterworks Category (Group C)
(probationary status)

RAI A TR AR — /KB IIRER
(R (ARl &5%)

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Roads and Drainage Category (Group B)
(confirmed status)

RAINH TR AR — B ERBITEER
(2#8) ([&EwRl 51)

Approved Contractors for Public Works —
Site Formation Category (Group B)
(probationary status)

RAIRNHTIRAERE - R TR ITIZEH
(z#) ([HRBl &%)

A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$300 million each in any
one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
category does not exceed HK$700 million

& % R 1EA —{E3E Rl IR & 4975 #8 #8300,000,00078 7T +
£ 1] — B £R 51| ) T2 42 {& {5 T8 #8700,000,0007% 7T

Current contract value up to HK$300 million

& #4935 (B 5 = 300,000,000/ T

Current contract value up to HK$300 million

& 4935 (B 5 = 300,000,000/ T

Also, the Group has registered under the Voluntary Subcontractor
Registration Scheme (3E3&E 1% 2 2 &M HI/E) , which is
maintained by the Construction Industry Council (i ¥# &) ,
for participating in civil engineering works, road works and drainage

services and waterworks engineering services as a sub-contractor.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

The following diagram illustrates the corporate structure of the
Company as at 31 March 2020:

VNS 323

TEHARRRR
BERE:

The Company
(Cayman Islands)

Investment holding and provision of
management services

—E-EFE=A=+—HB2

A H]
(FEe#HS)
BB ER MR E R RS
100%
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept CNC Logistic Core Galaxy Shenzhen
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited Limited Limited Qianhai Xinhua
BVI) BV) BVI) BV) BV) BV) TV Cultural
Investment Investment Investment Investment Inactive Investment Development
holding holding holding holding CNC Logistic holding Limited*
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept Limited Core Galaxy (PR C)
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited (REELES) Limited Advertising
(RBREXHE) (RBEXHE) (RBREXFHE) (RBEXFE) Hmge (RBEXHE) business
REER REER REER REER REER RYIATEH E
ERBE
BRAR
()
BE¥%
100%
100% 100% 100%
TYW TY Civil Karaoke Xinhua TV BayTV Network
(Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited Asia-Pacific Holdings
Provision of Holding of (Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited
civil engineering motor vehicles, Provision of Television (Hong Kong)
services and provision of civil management broadcasting New Media
laying of water engineering services business business
Plpes services and +HARAT | | FEEREAA HERRE
R laying of water (%) (87%) ARAF
(&%) pipes RUEER RS BRERES (&E)
RBELARTR EELAR LR T
PR K Bk (&%)
KE FEER R
TARTIRRHG K
BRKE

* EHE)

*for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

ral&ai

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Liu Da Yong
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BB8S, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Li Yuet Tai

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Dr. Li Yong Sheng

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai, CPA

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Chairman)
Ms. Tang Li

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BB8S, JP
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP (Chairmarn)

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP
Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BB8S, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

¥yHEES

FERIE  HLAEE X Tt ()
SEEREESL A AT

KRB EE

THEELE

REZES

ZalEt (FE)

FoxAEL

B e A

SERRE S A X T
REISE A&

FEREE WHLEWES X Pt
THRERE

BREEZEES®

SBREEL L K Fwt (FF)
REEE

FEREL LM EE ATt
TR¥ELE

ZEE

BEEtaEEAERA R
P E B AP

A SR

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ra&gid

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG

Suites 2708-10, 27/F,
Everbright Centre,

108 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
China Everbright Bank Co., Limited

WEBSITE

http://www.cnctv.hk

STOCK CODE

8356
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands
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DEFINITIONS
=

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following — HEARIREA » fr X2 5 G H#55) T 55755 K 77
words and expressions shall have the following meanings when —ERAIHE(EFEA B T HZE -

used herein:

“AGM”
[ RBFAE ]

“Board”
[EEg]

“BVI”
[RBERES ]

“China Xinhua NNC”

(B EREERE]

“CNC China”

[ BT EFEERN
(FREY)

“Company”

[AR7A]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Financial Statements”

[ 75 ¥R K

the annual general meeting of the Company

ARARRBERE

the board of Directors

E=xw

the British Virgin Islands
REBRZES

China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (FEFEHHEREBER QA , a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xinhua News
Agency (#7Z4t ) and a Shareholder of the Company
REFERREREERIG] —KRNEBBTMA L AR R R EMLZ 2 EM
BAR WRARBRER

PEFEFEERAERR A A], a company incorporated in the PRC, which owns
100% of the equity interests in China Xinhua NNC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Xinhua News Agency and a substantial Shareholder of the Company
REFTEFEERMAERAR — KPP REGMK Iz AR AT BRFENEH
BREI00%RE  RAEG 2 2EMBRATRARGBZEERE

CNC Holdings Limited ( #F BIFTE BRI BB A ) , a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 15 March 2010
FBETESHEERERAR — ZR T —FF=AThBERSHESTMAL
ZBRAT]

director(s) of the Company

RRBESE

the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020

AEEEE_T_TF-_A=1T B UIEFEZLEZMBEHRRX
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DEFINITIONS
=

“GEM”
[GEM |

“GEM Listing Rules”
[GEM ki #3 1l |

“Government”

[ |

“Group”
[REE ]

“HK$” and “HK cent(s)”
7] R 7L

“Hong Kong”
(&

“Macau”
[J2F9]

“Mr. Kan”
[ 8504 ]

“PRC”
[ B

“SFO”
[ 78 7 & B & 161

“Share(s)”

[t

“Share Option Scheme”
[RERR AT 21

the GEM of the Stock Exchange
Bt 32X FTGEM

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
GEM=E 2 £ #R Al

the Government of Hong Kong

EBBN

the Company and its subsidiaries
Apal REWB AT

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

FRAEEE BT RE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEBFNITHE

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B BRI R 1T R

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (& E3#¥ ) , an executive Director
WMITESEHEELEE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARANE TREES RMIRAE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as

amended or otherwise modified from time to time
BEAREBESTIERZSH REERE (KCTRERT A M7 E2%)

ordinary share(s) of the Company
RRAR 2 ERKR

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 11 August 2010
ARFR=F—FF/\A+— AR Z B R B
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“Shareholder(s)”
[ R ]

“Shunleetat”

[ Shunleetat J

“Stock Exchange”

56 22 FfT

“TY Civil”

[EXLTK]

“TYW’

[ %K%

“WSD”

[7k#5E ]

“Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific”

[(FrEERTAE]

oy
[% ]

holder(s) of the Share(s)
ELESESIN

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Kan

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited * —X N RBRABHSEMK L NG HELELEE
g 2ol

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMAERSMARAQT

Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited (2 AR T2ERAE]) , a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 16 June 2000 and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

EEITATIRERAR] —FZR_ZEZEZFAATABEEBIMKIZERA
A DAREZAEEENB AT

Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company Limited (3 3 /KFGEEGR A F)) , a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 6 February 1996 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BEEKBREEBRAR — KR —ANANF_AXRNBEEBIMK L ZERA
a DARRIzEEZENE AR

Water Supplies Department (/K755 ) of the Government
BT K T%E

Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Co., Limited (TEEZ Rz KRS EZLAR AR, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 22 December 2009 and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
MESEDABEBLEEARAR —ZXR_EZNF+ A+ _BEFETMK
NZERAT BIARARIZEEEEKE QR

per cent
Aot
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FTREESE

To all Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2020, we had obtained
approximately HK$237.3 million (2019: HK$324.9 million) revenue,
which represented a decrease of approximately 26.9% over the
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The gross loss of the Group was amounted to approximately
HK$17.5 million (2019: gross profit of approximately HK$3.5
million) for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The net loss of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
approximately HK$100.8 million (2019: approximately of HK$65.3
million), representing approximately 54.4% increase from that of
previous year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

During the year, revenue derived from provision of civil engineering
services remained as core business of the Group and thus the main
contributor of revenue of the Group. In the meantime, the Group
devoted efforts to develop its television broadcasting and new
media advertising business.

14 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020
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It is a year with full challenges to the Group in 2019. Since the
middle of the last year, due to endless stream of social unrest and
protests throughout Hong Kong, it adversely impacted the local
markets and drove Hong Kong towards an economic downturn.
Hence, under the influence of changing regional and international
political and economic climate, the construction industry and
advertising market in Hong Kong as a whole continue to be in a
downturn.

The Group has been facing challenges in provision of civil
engineering services business, including but not limited to
increasing cost of direct labour, raw material costs, subcontracting
charges and also the keen competition and hence fierce project
bidding competition in the market. Besides, the current social
demonstration and the outbreak of coronavirus have greatly
affected the progress of on-going construction projects and
decreased the Group’s profit. Therefore, this business segment is
expected to continue to be very challenging in the coming years
before the situation becomes clear. Having all things considered,
the Group will continue to strengthen the competitive edge of the
Group over competitors in the construction industry and expanding
the business in order to reduce the negative impact of economic
climate and increase shareholders’ return.

The Group’s advertising business also faced challenging conditions
during the reporting period, as audience’s habits continued to
move away from traditional platform towards digital platform. It led
to declining advertiser budgets in traditional platforms. Under this
circumstance, the Group has adjusted its strategy to open up any
possible and potential business opportunities by co-operating with
different partners and adopting different development strategies
for generating synergies between different segments and media
platforms.

—TNFEHAREMS /ST mBNH—F-
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HEE - WEAREBEFIR D - Bt - RIF I RA
Al - TRHEARL 315 70 B0 SR 1R M A T e BR IR P
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FTREESE

Our businesses in 2020 will be highly challenging due to the
impact of a likely prolonged economic downturn caused by the
coronavirus pandemic, and the yet unsettled local social unrest.
The Group will closely monitor the development of these challenges
and continue to strive to improve its operational efficiency and
business profitability. The Group will also proactively seek for
potential business opportunities that can broaden the sources of
income of the Group and enhance value to the shareholders.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my most sincere appreciation to all the management team
and staff for their dedication and contribution over the past years. |
would also like to thank all the Shareholders, customers, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support and trust.

Jiang Yan
Chairman

29 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E 12 [E 5 5 % 53 i

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong and media and
advertising business comprising television broadcasting business
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and Multi Channel
Network (MCN) business in return for advertising and related
revenue. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
continued to focus on rendering civil engineering services to the
public sector in Hong Kong, develop its television broadcasting
business in the Asia-Pacific (excluding the PRC) and develop
Multi Channel Network (MCN) business with vast resources on
information contents in channels/internet, such as YouTube in
return for advertising and related income.

Provision of civil engineering services

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has been
undertaking four main contracts and five subcontracts. Among the
nine contracts, two of these are related to provision of waterworks
engineering services and the remaining contracts are related to
provision of drainage services and site formation services. Details
of the contracts undertaken are set out below:

EHoE

AEBEZERBBLEIHMIRE LRI ERS
MEREREEER BERTERE (TRIEHR
Bl ) EITERENEB RS RBMAEER - U
SEEREBUS BE T -TFE=A=1—
HIEFE AEBEESINETERRNED
FIREBEARTRERY HRENEAE (TR
PR ) 2 BERBEWRERS  UKFENREE B
# (YouTube ) EE REENARERNEZ R
EREER  UEESES KB A -

RETARTREH

HE T - TF=-A=+—HIFE KA&EE
—HETHBEFTAHORABESBAL - REZN
BAKF - HhfE R K TRRIS AR
HpA ORI B HERE RS KB FEREE
o FTABEANZHBHINMT

Contract period

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client under main contracts
BHES: BHFE &R BEFEANEHH
Main contracts
FEH
3/WSD/13 Mainlying near She Shan Tsuen, TaiPo ~ WSD Sept 2013 - Jul 2016
AR FBKE BR 2 KBE —E-=FN A%
“Z-RFtA
DC/2013/09 Advance Works for Shek Wu Hui Sewage  Drainage Services Jul 2015 - Aug 2017
Treatment Works - Further Expansion Department of
Phase 1A and Sewerage Works at the Government
Ping Che Road
AAESKRERABIR-#—2% BNZEES —T-AFtAZE
BEIAB T EREA)TKELR “E—+F/\A
Q067133 Elevated Road along Lohas Park Road MTR Corporation Mar 2019 - Jul 2019
and the pedestrian footbridge FB1 Limited
HEAKE BRBRRITARBB FEEBRERRA —T-NF=AZ
ZET-NEFLH
ND/2019/08 Site formation works at remaining part Civil Engineering Jan 2020 - May 2021
of Tai Po area 39 and Development
Department of
the Government
ANEEFHRTHOMMATETRE BRLAIRAES :%:%i;ﬂ%
—E-—%f

PR EERIERERAS 2019/2020 £ 17



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E 12 [E 51 5 I 53 i

Contract period

under main contracts

RETENNENH

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client

ERESR BNFE EF

Subcontracts

2EEN

DC/2012/08 Lam Tsuen Valley Sewerage — Hsin Chong Tsun Yip
village sewerage, stage 2, phase 2 Joint Venture

WRAGKRERR-FRERE  HEEXHRL

5/WSD/13 Replacement and rehabilitation of water ~ Hsin Chong Tsun Yip
mains, stage 4 phase 1 and stage 4 Joint Venture
phase 2 —mains in northern and
eastern New Territories
BTHREEKEIRFERFINRE HELEXHE
AR E2H - AL B RRBKEL

12
CV/2015/03 Site Formation and Infrastructural Works ~ Hsin Chong Tsun Yip
near Tong Hang Road and Tsz Tin Joint Venture

Road in Area 54, Tuen Mun
MOEMPMRETREEARANET HEEERE

BRERIR
810B West Kowloon Terminus Station South,  Laing O'Rourke -
Contract 810B Hsin Chong -
Paul'Y
Joint Venture
B4R (F) - 5418108 BER—HE -
RERES
CV/2016/10 Site Formation and Association Hsin Chong Tsun Yip

Infrastructural Works For Development Joint Venture
of Columbarium at Sandy Ridge
Cemetery

RYEAEERERENTITRER  HEEEHRE
HEERTRE

Note:  Amount of works certified is based on the certificates of payment
received from client.
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Oct 2012 - Aug 2016

“2-—F1+A=%
“E2-RENA

Nov 2013 - May 2016

I e
“Z—RERA

Nov 2015 - Jun 2021

—F-R%+—HA=%
—E-—-%HA

Jun 2015 - Oct 2015

—E-RF~A%
—E-8%+A

Dec 2017 - Jun 2021

“2—+F+-R=%
N

Wiz BEREIRS

FESE °

Total contract value
HK$1,984 million

BEWERE
1,984,000,0007% 7T

Total amount of
works certified
(Note)

HK$1,885 million

CHRBEIRAE
(W)
1,885,000,0007% 7T

BOREEE PR 2 M 3REE



Among the above nine contracts, a main contract (contract
numbered ND/2019/08) was newly awarded while two main
contracts (contract numbered 3/WSD13 and contract numbered
DC/2013/09) and a subcontract (contract numbered DC/2012/08)
was completed during the year ended 31 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the two contracts with
contracts numbered CV/2015/03 and CV/2016/10 were the
main contributors to the Group’s revenue, which generated
approximately HK$50.8 million and approximately HK$155.6
million, constituting approximately 21.4% and approximately
65.6% of the Group’s total revenue respectively.

Media and advertising business

2019 was a challenging year macro-economically. Due to the on-
going trade war between the US and Mainland China, it led to
the slowdown in global economic growth. Also, Hong Kong is
experiencing the poorest economic condition in the past decade,
following the fade of social movement. Facing uncertainty and
downside risk of the economy of Hong Kong, the Group continued
to sustain larger pressure and challenges in traditional television
broadcasting business. The television broadcasting segment is
experiencing intense competition in a crowded marketplace with
different operators and changing user habits. A wider range of
contents is available on new platforms and various mobile devices
for users to select and view anytime and anywhere. It has greatly
shifted the advertiser budgets from tradition to new media.

REMRNIBEHOF —BEEN(GORRA
ND/2019/08) Th3i E# - MMIEE A K (& L4
5% R3/WSD13 K& & X 4w 5k /DC/2013/09) K& —
BABEAEH (AHERADC/2012/08) EREZE
CTECEF=-A=t+—HIEFEREK-

HE-_T-_TFE-A=Z+—HILFE A4F
5% ACV/2015/03 % CV/2016/102 lIEA #) 2 K
B F2WE KR 5 R E 4 #950,800,000
7 7T & #9155,600,000/8 7T (h A= B 2 U 54
21.4% ) 4765.6% °

BRERRERK

“E-NFREBEBEXRIBN—F-AR
XEETENBNEZBRE SHEHREE
BRWRE- LN BEELSESEEHFE  FE
IRFERETFREBSNEERE TOHE
BREBENTHBARE L MTRR  AEERE
RERBEREBREAIBABRNRKE -
BREBDEERYFREOHE L RBAREE
BRAMNGF LA CTEHORPEE -
MTekEBEEPREAFLENRTHAFHE
R EZENAE REBRAR D EEHRE
EhERREEBENKE-
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By leveraging on the management experience and business
strategy which has shored up our position in the media market, the
Group is well-positioned and differentiated itself from competitors
and the built-up of market influence of the Group. Besides, the
Group will continue to explore and grasp opportunities for business
development arising from the reform in advertising related sector.
In order to achieve long-term sustainable development, the Group
currently develops Multi Channel Network (MCN) business with
vast resources on information contents in channels/internet,
such as YouTube and expands its revenue base and thereby
promoting the development strategy of brand diversification and
enhancing the Group’s brand awareness in the media industry. The
Group is sensitive to such changes and takes responsive actions
accordingly by incessantly exploring different forms of diversified
media products, platforms and geographical markets to make
space for the survival of the advertising industry.

The Group would continue to seek other suitable opportunities to
diversify its sources of income and is actively looking for candidates
that can further broaden and enrich the management’s expertise
and experience and assist the Group in executing an appropriate
business strategy to better position the Group in a highly
competitive business environment.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group reported a
revenue of approximately HK$237.3 million (2019: approximately
HK$324.9 million), representing a decrease of approximately
26.9% as compared with that for the previous year. The revenue
derived from provision of civil engineering services and media
and advertising business constituted approximately 97.4% and
2.6% of the Group’s total revenue respectively. The decrease
in revenue was mainly due to certain civil engineering projects
substantially completed and reached the maintenance stage or
nearly completion stage as well as keen competition faced by the
Group in obtaining new tenders for the year. For the year ended 31
March 2020, the Group derived aggregate advertising revenue of
approximately HK$6.2 million (2019: approximately HK$1.0 million)
from media and advertising business.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the revenue of the Group
was primarily generated from the undertaking of civil engineering
contracts in the capacity of a subcontractor and a joint venturer.
The breakdown of total revenue by nature of capacity of the Group
is set forth below:

Bt % [ B8

i 2

BHE-_Z-_TF=-A=1+—HLEFE £5£H
$% 15 UK 25 49237,300,0008 T (ZE— L& 4
324,900,000/ 7T ) * ¥ & F Rl 2 £926.9% ° 17
HEARTIRREREERESEBEEZ WG
7 BIAE 2N 62 B 48 UK 75 4997.4% 2 2.6% © WS R
LPEFEHRAFERETLIAIRELREABE
T WEEBREMRE SRR TRE  LARA
EERBSHEENREEBZIRFEMR -HE
T -TFE-AZ+HULEFE AEEEE
NS RS E B S I 1888 496,200,000/%8 7T
(ZZ— L% : 41,000,000/ 7T ) °

BE-F-TF=A=+—AILFE F%H
BEHEBRAUD RBRAEN FHRELL
ATRAK BARE S EE S E2 840
EERSIOT

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEE

Main contractor THRER
Subcontractor NEH

Jointly controlled operations ey TR
Total B

2020 2019

“ECEF —E-NF
HK$'000 % of total HK$'000 % of total
185 1A
FET B (%) FET A2 (%)
22,667 9.8 31,796 9.8
100,707 43.6 141,222 43.6
107,726 46.6 150,877 46.6
231,100 100.0 323,895 100.0
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Cost of services AR 78 B, 2
The Group’s cost of services decreased by approximately 20.7% AEBERNEE —T-FTF=F=+—HI
to approximately 254.8 million (2019: approximately HK$321.4 4 & 7 iR % B 78 /3 49254,800,000/8 7T (=&
million) for the year ended 31 March 2020 as compared with that ~ — J1. 4 : #9321,400,00078 7T ) * ¥ 2 & g, 2 49
for the previous year. The Group’s cost of services mainly includes ~ 20.7% ° 7N &= B ) BR 7 B AN = 2 B 1B 2 S IR 7%
costs of construction services, costs of media and advertising BN ~ £ 88 K [ £5 3 15 R 7R I L B 4SS K
business and other direct operating costs. Costs of construction 7N - ZERBK AT R BERM K BEERE TR
services mainly comprise raw materials, direct labour and D EEERBREN I EEB - KERESEG
subcontracting fee for services provided by the subcontractors. KATERFBRFMEBKA RS REB/E
Costs of media and advertising business mainly comprise of costs XA - BALE X I A £ B BIE(F XK
of television broadcasting business and costs of Multi Channel 2% F& U8 A [ B4R 1B T X 75 B 45 H A B2 7K
Network (MCN) business. Costs of television broadcasting ZA-EXKABEHEEXERRENHLE
business mainly comprise transmission costs, broadcasting fee &7 2 H % & F - m % 58 R B IR T &
and other direct costs attributable to television broadcasting fEEMHLER KT B EHEERE 2 TE
business. Transmission costs comprise satellite transmission fee ~ ZRBREMEBK AT 2 BIEREREFAD
and carriage fee payable to satellite operators while broadcasting &2 3 25 J& 7% 70 % )i Il e o fth B #E KA o o f
fee comprises annual fee payable to media broadcasting providers B 2R AL 2 BELEDERR 2 MEE -
and China Xinhua NNC. Costs of MCN business mainly comprise T 2% & || < 5 B IR S B AN 2 5815 -
of profit sharing of usage of information contents to content
providers and other direct costs. Other direct operating costs
mainly comprise depreciation charges of LED displays screens.
The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s cost of
services:
For the year ended 31 March
BE=RA=t+-BLFE
2020 2019
it St 33 —T-hE
HK$'000 % of total HK$000 % of total
o hAEE o 1haagE
FET  BH(%) FHET AR (%)
Costs of construction services BERBHE
Raw materials B 18,072 7.4 24,049 75
Direct labour BERET 80,557 31.6 83,082 25.8
Subcontracting fee ’ﬁ@%ﬁj \ 53,217 20.9 74,194 23.1
Other direct costs QLN 95,830 376 129,433 403
Subtotal It 247,676 97.2 310,758 96.7
Costs of media and advertising business R & EEEHHRA
Transmission costs XA 1,373 0.5 2,500 0.8
Broadcasting fee EHER . 750 0.3 6,123 19
Depreciation of right-of-use assets of ERRRZ ERERE
fransmission costs e 681 0.2 - -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets of RHER EREEE
broadcasting fee e 1,685 0.7 - -
Other direct costs attrioutable to mediaand 88 R EE X B R
advertising business HiERRA 2,693 1.1 945 0.3
Subtotal INEt 7,182 2.8 9,568 3.0
Other direct operating costs HttHELE MR - - 1,045 0.3
Subtotal Nt - - 1,045 03
Total ok 254,858 100.0 321,371 100.0
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Gross (loss)/profit

The gross loss for the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020 was approximately HK$17.5 million (2019: gross profit
of approximately HK$3.5 million). The gross loss margin of the
Group was approximately 7.1% (2019: gross profit margin of
approximately 1.1%) for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
incurrence in gross loss was mainly due to the (i) the progress
of projects with higher gross profit margin had slowed down
during the year; (i) the decrease in gross profit margin of certain
projects awarded to the Group in the recent years as a result of
keen competition in the construction industry in Hong Kong; (iii)
an increase in direct costs incurred from (a) general increasing
construction costs; (b) unexpected complexity arising from
construction works for certain construction projects of the Group
during the year and towards the completion stage and (c) delays in
certain projects as a result of the outbreak of the novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) epidemic.

Other income

The Group’s other income for the year ended 31 March 2020
increased by approximately 129.6% to approximately HK$1.0
million (2019: approximately HK$0.5 million) as compared with that
for the previous year. The other income mainly consisted of interest
income, cash dividend received from investment in financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and other sundry income during
the year.

Other gains and losses

The Group’s other gains and losses for the year ended 31
March 2020 was approximately HK$11.8 million in deficit (2019:
approximately HK$3.0 million in surplus). Other gains and losses
mainly consisted of the net impact of allowance for expected credit
losses recognised for trade receivables and contract assets totaling
of approximately HK$13.3 million, net gains on disposal of property,
plant and equipment and net gain on foreign exchange difference
for the year.

£ (8]) 7

AEEHE-T-_TF=-A=+—HIFEZ
F184517,500,0008 7T (T — hi EMA
733,500,000 T) - AKBERBE_T_TF
A=+ HALEFEZEBX 7%ﬁ% ==
—NF EFEHIA%) - EEFBDHIEEAR
OWEFEERZ7HEBERDRAFERE  (i)H
REBBRETERFHIETROFRTAE
BB TEERNEMERRD (ji)(a)BBEEN
AIEN: O)AEBRAFERELIRTRE
ETESEREVELTIREEDRE: k(A
HATEARFS(COVID- 19X BRI MERE T
BEEERAMELE 2R A M-

Ht g A

REBREBEE T _TF=-A=+—HBILFE
9 E b I A & 491,000,0008 7T ( — B — N4 :
#7500,000/ 7T ) + 8 A& F 38 I149129.6% © AN F
EEMBAZZEREFNBWA B EBREZRK
AFEARZSBREERERDMNESRKRE R
HzmlA -

Hit s R EE

REBREBEE T _TF=-A=+—HILFE
2 B as & B 18 A B A1 4911,800,0008 7T (=
T— 4 BER%3,000,000/8 7T ) ° REFEEZHM
WHEREETEREEIRRFBRANEE
HR 2B EEBEEE S $£413,300,000%
To HEYIE BB R TR R INEE
B WS PR FHE-
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Amortisation expenses

The Group’s amortisation expenses for the year ended 31 March
2020 decreased by approximately 1.2% to approximately HK$18.4
million (2019: approximately HK$18.6 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The amortisation expenses mainly
consisted of amortisation charges of television broadcasting right
and film rights for the television broadcasting business included in
media and advertising business.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year ended
31 March 2020 was amounted to approximately HK$0.8 million
(2019: Nil). The selling and distribution expenses were mainly
consisted of advertising expenses for the media and advertising
business for the year.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2020 increased by approximately 9.6% to approximately HK$24.6
million (2019: approximately HK$22.4 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The administrative expenses mainly
consisted of auditors’ remuneration, legal and professional fees,
staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration), depreciation
expenses and rental expenses. The increase in the administrative
expenses was mainly attributable to increase in repair and
maintenance expenses and consultant fee for the year.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2020
increased by approximately 10.9% to approximately HK$28.5
million (2019: approximately HK$25.7 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The finance costs mainly consist of
interest expenses for the promissory note and convertible notes.
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Assessment of recoverable amount of intangible assets

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with China Xinhua NNC, APT
Satellite TV Development Limited and Proud Glory Investments
Limited to acquire entire equity interest of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific
at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$700.0 million,
comprising (a) issuance of 474,335,664 Shares to China Xinhua
NNC at HK$0.196 per share; and (b) HK$607,030,210 by way
of the issue of the convertible notes to China Xinhua NNC, Proud
Glory Investments Limited and APT Satellite TV Development
Limited at a conversion price of HK$0.196 per Share. The Group
completed its very substantial acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of the
entire equity interest in Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific on 9 December 2011
and commenced the television broadcasting business since then.

The recoverable amounts of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific as at 31 March
2020 and 2019, were determined with reference to a valuation
conducted by an independent valuer, based on income-based
approach, after considering the financial information of Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific as at 31 March 2020 and 2019, including but not
limited to (i) the financial position of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific and its
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 and 2019; (i) the total revenue
derived from television broadcasting business; (iii) number of
existing contracts and memorandum of understanding; and (iv) the
market and industry condition. The recoverable amount of Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific has been determined on the basis of value in use
calculation and is based on certain key assumptions. The value
in use calculation is based on discounted cash flow projections
prepared from financial budgets approved by the directors of the
Company covering a 5-year period and a pre-tax discount rate of
18.46%. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using a growth rate of 2.5% for different countries and the growth
rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
industry. The discount rates used reflect specific risks to the
segment. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation
related to the estimation of cash inflow and outflows include
budgeted revenue and gross margin, such estimation is based
on the past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development and possible business opportunities of
television broadcasting business.
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The recoverable amount of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific approximated
to the carrying amount of intangible assets, i.e., television
broadcasting right as at 31 March 2020. Therefore, no impairment
loss was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2020. To
the best of knowledge and belief of the Directors, there had not
been any change of valuation methodology and basis of valuation
as at 31 March 2020 and no other changes in circumstance and
reasons giving rise to changes in valuation approach. All changes
of inputs were made to reflect the recent development of television
broadcasting business as compared to that expected in previous

years.

The recoverable amount of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific approximated
to the carrying amount of intangible assets, i.e., television
broadcasting right as at 31 March 2019. Therefore, no impairment
loss was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019. To
the best of knowledge and belief of the Directors, there had not
been any change of valuation methodology, basis of valuation
and assumptions as at 31 March 2019 and no other changes
in circumstance and reasons giving rise to changes in valuation
approach. All changes of inputs were made to reflect the recent
development of television broadcasting business as compared to

that expected in previous years.
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Impairment assessment of contract assets and receivables

The Group made a provision of expected credit losses allowance
of approximately HK$5.4 million and approximately HK$7.9 million
for contract assets and trade receivables respectively based on
the impairment assessment for the year ended 31 March 2020,
the majority of which is mainly related to contract assets and trade
receivables (“such receivables”) of a civil engineering contract in a
capacity of a subcontractor. According to the policy of impairment
provision of receivables of the Group, the Group: (i) has decided the
receivable portfolio by using aging as the credit risk characteristics,
and has made provisions for doubtful debts for trade receivables
and other receivables based on the aging analysis approach, and (ii)
has sorted the customers against whom the provisions for doubtful
debts has been made, and has estimated the expected credit
loss, taking into account the recoverability of certain receivables,
in order to estimate the impairment provisions for receivables. To
the best knowledge of the Company based on the information
currently available and after taking into consideration of (i) the
defaulted payments; (i) the aforesaid customer is in the process
of liquidation; and (iii) certain winding up petitions filed against
the aforesaid customer, the Group assessed the recoverability of
such receivables became uncertain and accordingly the Group
had provided a provision of expected credit losses allowance of
such receivables. The Group will take appropriate actions against
the aforesaid customer to recover the amount. The Company will
update its shareholders on any material development as and when
appropriate.
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Net loss

The net loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2020 increased by approximately 54.4% to
approximately HK$100.8 million (2019: approximately HK$65.3
million) as compared with that for the previous year. The increase in
net loss was mainly resulted from

(@) the decrease in gross profit for the year;

(b) the provision of expected credit losses allowance for contract
assets and trade receivables of approximately HK$5.4 million
and approximately HK$7.9 million respectively, the majority of
which was related to contract assets and trade receivables of
a civil engineering contract in a capacity of subcontractor; and

(c) fair value loss of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss for the year.

Loss per Share

The basic loss per Share for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
approximately HK2.49 cents (2019: approximately HK1.61 cents).

PROSPECTS

The Group anticipates that it is still a challenging year for the
forthcoming year. The provision of civil engineering service business
will continue to provide a stable source of revenue and remains
the major contributor to revenue while the Group will continue to
develop the television broadcasting business and Multi Channel
Network (MCN) business. The Group will continue to diversify the
business spectrum and to broaden the revenue base of the Group.

28 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

REE

BE-_Z-_ZEFE=A=+t—RBLEE AXAA
A AEIRFEIEREFEINL54.4%E 4

100,800,000/% 7t ( =& — L 4F : £965,300,000
BIT) o REEIEM EERR:

(@ FAEFRED

b) REHNEERBEZEWFEIRESE
B E B EE D 54 A5,400,0007% 7T & 49
7,900,000 7T * & R R EB D B A D B &
WEINZ2—ERIRBEHNZANEER

B 5 W IBRR &
© FRNEBEBIZEZEAFTEARZEBREER
FEEIE -
SRER
HE TE=ZA=1+—HILtFE SKE
$f§5$a2%%@2.49;%1m:;—h¢:,%@1.61;%
i) e
A

7N 52 [ 78 A SR A A0 5 = TR DR B B — 4F o B2 {1
TARTRIRF BB R E N BATIR
TNEREIBRATHME RERNEESEE
BREVEMEBLZREBRES -A&H
REEZ T(CEBBERBERASENBRAZR
i



Provision of civil engineering services

The Group is of the view that the general outlook of the construction
industry and the business environment in which the Group operates
remain difficult and challenging. The intense market competition
has led to fewer number of successful tenders and quotations
and lower value of contracts awarded to the Group. The Group’s
gross profit margin is also under pressure from competitive project
pricing on tenders and quotations, which in turn affects the financial
performance of the Group. However, according to the 2020-2021
Budget of the Hong Kong Government, the annual capital works
expenditure is expected to reach HK$100 billion on average in the
next few years. The Group remains cautiously optimistic about the
construction industry in Hong Kong and believe that the availability
of private and public sector construction projects is expected to
grow in the coming years.

Going forward, the Group expects the local construction market in
2020 to remain competitive and demanding. To enable a healthy
inflow of business against current woes in the construction industry,
the Group continues to implement a prudent approach in projects
selection in the upcoming year by tendering to well-established
contractors and remarkable business partners in both private and
public sector. The Group will continue to exercise due care in the
pursuance of this core business so as to balance the risks and
opportunities in this industry and adjust its business strategies from
time to time if required.
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Media and advertising business

The forthcoming financial year is expected to be challenging due
to the competitive market conditions in the advertising industry. In
order to drive subscription and advertising revenues, the Group
commenced to switch their focus for internet and multimedia over
traditional in advertising market in a view to generate synergies
between them. The addition of a potential new sectors could
accelerate advertising business expansion of the Group. It is
expected that such changes would lead to an improvement on
the returns in terms of audience’s attraction and retention. The
attempts to promote new media business are expected to make
substantial progress, which will push the development of the Group
into a new chapter. It is expected the new business will generate
sustainable synergy with the existing resources on television
broadcasting business and thereby creating a broad space for
development for the Group in the media market. Also, the Group
will seize the opportunities in the advertising sector to step up
investments in the advertising market and seek to tap on new
customers, businesses and revenue streams for delivering better
returns to its shareholders.

As a long established and reputable player in different business
segments, the Group holds a cautiously optimistic view towards
the market. It will strive to capture the business opportunities and
apply its expertise. Though faced with the above adverse business
outlook, the Group will endeavor to identify new investment
opportunities and enter into new project of higher value-added
contribution to broaden its income sources.
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Looking forward, the Directors anticipate 2020 will be a challenging
year. The recent outbreak of coronavirus disease (COVID-19)
may cause uncertainty in Hong Kong. The Group will pay close
attention to the development of the outbreak of the COVID-19
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and its related impact
on the Group’s businesses and financial conditions. The Group
will continuously commit itself to developing its core operations
and thus ensure the core competitive strength of the Group. The
Group will further develop the following aspects so as to sharpen
its competitive edges in the market. Looking ahead, the Group
remains optimistic about the prospects of the core businesses of
the Group in the long term.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were listed on GEM on 30 August 2010. The capital of
the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$272.0 million in deficit as at 31 March 2020
(31 March 2019: approximately HK$167.0 million). The decrease in
equity was mainly resulted from net loss for the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group generally
financed its operations through internally generated cash flows.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$322.7 million (31 March 2019: net current
assets of approximately HK$33.2 million), including cash balance
of approximately HK$91.2 million (31 March 2019: approximately
HK$79.9 million). The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets
to current liabilities, was approximately 0.37 as at 31 March 2020
(81 March 2019: approximately 1.19). The decrease in current
ratio were primarily due to the fact that the promissory note and
convertible notes will be matured within twelve months from the
reporting date and thus reclassified as current liabilities.
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GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, which is based on the total amount of promissory
note, convertible notes, lease liabilities/finance lease payables and
advance received from customers divided by total assets, was
approximately 145.0% as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019:
approximately 111.0%). The increase in gearing ratio was resulted
from decrease in total assets which was resulted from amortization
of intangible assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of the
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group was
mainly exposed to foreign currency exchange risk of Renminbi and
United Status Dollars and the management mainly monitored the
foreign currency exchange risk with advices from the Group’s major
banks.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$3.0
million (831 March 2019: nil) contracted, but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s motor vehicles with net
book values amounted to approximately HK$2.1 million (2019:
approximately HK$0.1 million) were held under finance lease.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 March 2019: Nil).
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INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 218 full-time staff in Hong
Kong and over 90.0% of them are direct labour. Total staff
costs (including Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31
March 2020 amounted to approximately HK$88.6 million (2019:
approximately HK$92.0 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 3.7% over that for the previous year. The decrease
was mainly due to the effective cost control for the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for investment in subsidiaries, during the year ended
31 March 2020 and as at the end of the reporting period, the Group
did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any
company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Z %), aged 51, the chairman of the Board,
is responsible for the overall business planning and corporate
strategy of the Group. Dr. Jiang obtained a Doctorate of philosophy
in Science from University of Science and Technology of China ( A2
Bl Rl E 45 17 K& ) in 2003. Dr. Jiang joined Xinhua News Agency
after his graduation from university in 1990 and held the positions
of the deputy officer and the officer of Scientific Editorial Office of
International Department of Xinhua News Agency* (1% - BIBR
R REEE|ET K EI) . He had been the vice-president
of Xinhua News Agency European Regional Bureau* ( ¥ 4t B
#2512+ K ) since 2009, and had been re-designated as the
deputy officer of International Department of Xinhua News Agency*
(FEMH BB IR £ ) from 2015 to 2017. Apart from the
positions held in Xinhua News Agency, Dr. Jiang took a temporary
post as the deputy general secretary of Cheng Jiang County of
Yun Nan Province of the PRC* (EmE /I ZFP REZRIER) .
He had also held the positions as the Deputy Secretary of Chinese
Society for Science and Technology Journalism* ( #r Bl &3 T 2
€ 8# =K ) and the Secretary of The Beijing Press Association —
Science Field* (IL REHE R HMWER) , and was a member of the
International Journalists Alliance — Science Field* ( tt &I ;&
B B3 ) . Dr. Jiang is currently the chairman of the board and chief
executive officer of CNC China and director of China Xinhua NNC.
In the last three years, he did not hold any directorship in any listed
public companies. Dr. Jing has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 14
August 2017, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other or three months’ salary being payment in lieu of notice.
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Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Zk#) , aged 49, vice-chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Group, is responsible for
overseeing the overall project management and daily operations.
Dr. Li is a reporter superior ( £ EFE7 ) of Xinhua News Agency
and has been working in Xinhua News Agency since his graduation
from Wuhan University with a degree of Bachelor of Economics and
Management in 1992. Dr. Li obtained a Doctorate of philosophy
in Economics from Wuhan University of Technology in 2010. Dr.
Li has held the positions of reporter and editor in financial and
economical businesses. Dr. Li has served as the associate director
of the service line of Xinhua News Agency ( ¥ ZE 4t R % H 43 &
4 E5) since 2003 and the editor of Xinhua News Agency Audio
and Video News Desk and the officer of the Financial Television
Centre (BT & E R /0 E ) since 2009. Dr. Li is a director of
China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, Dr. Li did not hold any
directorship in any listed public companies. Dr. Li has entered into a
service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 8 December 2017, and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other or three months’ salary being
payment in lieu of notice.
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Mr. Liu Da Yong (2IXE ) , aged 45, obtained a Bachelor degree
of Law in Armed Police College in 2007. Mr. Liu joined Xinhua News
Agency in 2005 and held the positions of assistant editor of Xinhua
News Agency Audio News Desk ( ¥72E & &+ ) and the legal
specialist of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk
(FTEEALZ 185830 from 2005 to 2010. Mr. Liu was the head of
the legal department of CNC China from 2013 to 2017. Mr. Liu is
a deputy director of administration department of CNC China and
a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, Mr. Liu did
not hold any directorship in any listed public companies. Mr. Liu
has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing from 8 December 2017, and wiill
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other or three months’
salary being payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (Bl %) , aged 55, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Kan formed TYW and TY Civil in 1996 and 2000
respectively and has been the director of both companies since
their formation. Mr. Kan has over 27 years of experience in handling
civil engineering projects of various types. In the last three years,
he held no directorship in any listed public companies. Mr. Kan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 11 August 2010, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice. In addition, Mr. Kan has entered into
an employment contract with TYW to act as the director of TYW
for a continuous term commencing from 6 February 1996 until
terminated by not less than thirty days’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other or thirty days’ salary being payment in lieu
of notice.
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Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Li () , aged 42, obtained a master of business
administration in executive management degree in Royal Roads
University in 2010. Ms. Tang joined Xinhua News Agency in 2009
and held the positions of accountant of Xinhua News Agency
Audio News Desk* ( ¥T2E & %) and was re-designated as the
accountant of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk*
(¥ Z R 48E6) in 2010. She was the Planning and Finance
Director of CNC China from 2013 to 2017. She is currently the
Deputy Director of Financial Assets Department of CNC China and
a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, she did not
hold any directorship in any listed public companies.

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (& /£%) , aged 63, has been the
administration manager of TYW and TYC since December 2012
and further been appointed as a director of TYW and TYC since
November 2015. Mr. Law is experienced in office administration
and tender estimate relating to construction projects and has
over 35 years of experience in civil construction works for various
companies prior to joining the Group. Mr. Law obtained a diploma
in civil engineering and a higher certificate in civil engineering
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as
Hong Kong Polytechnic) in 1978 and 1980 respectively. In the last
three years, he did not hold any directorships in any listed public
companies.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J° (G256 ) , aged 41, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company in January 2018. Mr. Fan is a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
and Risk Management Committee of the Company. Mr. Fan
is a practicing certified public accountant in Hong Kong with
over 14 years of experience. He holds a Bachelor Degree of
Business Administration (Accounting and Finance) from The
University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Laws from the
University of London. Mr. Fan is a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a committee member of the tenth to
twelfth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the
Zhejiang Province, the fourth and fifth Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Shenzhen and the Tenth Vice Chairman
of Zhejiang Province United Young Association.

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Fulum Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1443), Culturecom
Holdings Limited (stock code: 343), Sinomax Group Limited
(stock code: 1418), Chuang’s China Investments Limited (stock
code: 0298), Space Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2448),
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982), and Universal Star
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 2346), all of which are companies
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Fan is also currently an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Omnibridge Holdings Limited (stock code: 8462)
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Mr. Fan had been an Independent Non-Executive Director of LT
Commercial Real Estate Limited from March 2013 to December
2016 (stock code: 0112) and Hong Kong Resources Holdings
Limited from July 2015 to May 2017 (stock code: 2882), the
shares of both companies are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and Sanbase Corporation
Limited from December 2017 to December 2019 (stock code:
8501) and On Real International Holdings Limited from September
2015 to August 2016 (stock code: 8245), the shares of which are
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr. Wu Guo Ming ( REl##) , aged 57, holds two master degrees
and has over 19 years of experience in enterprise management,
investment, project operations and capital market operations.
Mr. Wu was awarded the qualification of State Senior Corporate
Culture Lecturer* (BIZR = A& 133X {LAD) in 2014 and obtained
the required qualification to work in the fund management sectors
(E&M%¥EH)in 2016. He obtained a bachelor degree of
Mathematics from South China Normal University in 1983, a
degree of master of Education from South China Normal University
in 1988 and a degree of master of Business Administration from
Indiana University of Pennsylvania in 1993. Mr. Wu is currently the
deputy general manager of Guangdong Ande Equities Investment
Company Limited* ([ ER ZERELEBR AT ) . Mr. Wu also
served as the director and deputy general manager of Guangdong
Zhuijiang Investment Company Limited* ( & 58 2k T 1% & B D AR
2 a]) from 2002 to 2003 and as the chairman and president of
Guangdong Yingtong Network Investment Company Limited* ( &
REBPEILE AR A A]) between 2003 and 2015. In the last
three years, Mr. Wu did not hold any directorship in any listed public
companies. He has not, by himself or through his firm in which he
practices, provided professional services to the Company in last
two years.
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Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 58S, JP (F&E5854 ) |, aged 70,
obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2008 and a degree of master
of Buddhist studies from The University of Hong Kong in 2010. Mr.
Wan was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1997 and was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region 2004 Honours List. Mr. Wan is engaged in
the business of property and chattel valuation and auction. Mr.
Wan is a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors,
an associate of The Institution of Business Agents, a member
of The Land Institute (London), an associate of The Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators and a fellow of The Institute of Administrative
Accounting. Mr. Wan is currently appointed as the independent
non-executive director of Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited
(a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 746) and Universe Printshop Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8448). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wan did not hold any
directorship in any other listed public companies in last three years.
He has not, by himself or through his firm in which he practices,
provided professional services to the Company in last two years.
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Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (E 2% % %), aged 52,
graduated with professional diploma in accountancy from Hong
Kong Polytechnic in 1990 and obtained a degree of bachelor of law
from Peking University in the People’s Republic of China in 1998
and a degree of master of science from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 1999. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
auditing, accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Wong is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Wong previously worked at one of the reputable international
accounting firms for six years and also worked in Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited for over 13 years with last position
as senior manager of the Listing Division of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited. Mr. Wong worked in a financial service
institution licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission
as vice president of corporate finance division for more than four
years and was the chief executive officer of a financial service
institution providing corporate finance advisory service licensed by
the Securities and Futures Commission for two years. Mr. Wong
is currently a responsible officer of a financial service institution
providing corporate finance advisory service licensed by the
Securities and Futures Commission. In the last three years, Mr.
Wong did not hold any directorship in any listed public companies.
He has not, by himself or through his firm in which he practices,
provided professional services to the Company in last two years.
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The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2020, except
for paragraphs A.2.7 and A.6.7 of the Code. This report further
illustrates in detail as to how the Code was applied, inclusive of the
considered reasons for any deviation throughout the year ended 31
March 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results.

The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the required
standards of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.
The Company was not aware of any non-compliance in this respect
throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is accountable for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible
and effective manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company.

Matters reserved for the Board include, but not limited to:

e approval of the Group’s long term objectives and strategy,
policies and annual budgets;

e oversight of the Group’s operations and management;

e approval of major changes to the Group’s corporate structure,
management and control structure;

e approval of quarterly, interim and annual results;

e approval of any significant changes in accounting policies or
practices;

e responsible for the system of internal control and risk
management;

e approval of matters in relation to Board membership and
Board remuneration;

e review of the existing policies of the Company on corporate
governance;

e review of the coverage of knowledge and skills of the training
sessions arranged for the Directors and senior management
by the Company;

e  evaluated the effectiveness of internal safeguard procedure for
overseeing timely disclosure of material inside information and
perseverance of its confidentiality;
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e monitor the compliance of code of conduct by the Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

e review of the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this report.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises ten Directors, including four
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors and at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 34 to 41 of this
report. The composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr, Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.
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Throughout the year under review and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
5.05(1) and (2) and 5.05AA of the GEM Listing Rules and has
appointed three independent non-executive directors, representing
more than one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with
at least one independent non-executive director possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and
related materials and has access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. The Board and each Director also have
separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

Chairman and chief executive officer

The role and duties of the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company are carried out by different individuals.

Dr. Jiang Yan is the chairman of the Board. The chairman is
responsible for strategic and business directions to the Board and
ensures its effectiveness in all aspects.

Dr. Li Yong Sheng is the chief executive officer of the Company.
The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for the
Company’s day-to-day management and operations and focuses
on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and
delegated by the Board.
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Management functions delegated by the Board

The Board has delegated the responsibilities of the execution
of strategies and decision making for day-to-day operation and
administration functions of the Company to the management
team headed by the chief executive officer. The Board has set out
guidelines for management team as to when final authority should
rest with the Board and its prior approval should be obtained before
making decisions or entering into any commitments; issue of such
include but not limited to any proposed notifiable transactions,
connected transactions, significant investments, major business
decisions related to operation and business strategy, change of key
management of the Group and disclosure of inside information.

Appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.
The appointment of non-executive Directors will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
prior written notice to the other or the payment of three month
salary in lieu of notice.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company. The appointment of independent non-executive
Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the other
or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
at each AGM one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Paragraph A.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the executive Directors and non-executive
Directors present. Although the chairman did not hold a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors, excluding the
executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year
ended 31 March 2020, he delegated the company secretary to
gather any concerns and/or questions that the independent non-
executive Directors might have and report to him for setting up
follow-up meetings, whenever necessary, in due course.

Relation of the Board Members

All Directors are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships) among members
of the Board.

Meeting of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board had convened
total four meetings, four of which are in regular nature. The
attendance record of individual Directors at the Board and
committees’ meetings and general meetings are set out in page 60
of this report.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company provides all members of the Board
with monthly updates on the Group’s performance and financial
position.
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The Directors are aware of the requirement under the paragraph &= EAARSTHIZEA LRI NA IS ETEHERE
A.B.5 of the Code regarding continuous professional development. HJRE - NAFE  EEXCEME ANEL LY
During the year, the Directors reviewed the monthly business B EFE R - AR E M@ F SRERNBEEM R
and financial updates and other reading materials provided to RWABBTEE LT BN ERE I LAREZE
them concerning latest developments in corporate governance EMNEEHRRE -BHEFNIEFTETERRE
practices and relevant legal and regulatory developments. Arecord R ERCE A A R ERFNT :

of the Directors’ participation in various continuous professional

development program is kept by the company secretary as below:

Training
123
Self-learning  Attend seminar
BE2EE MM E
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. Jiang Yan ZaEL v
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FoxkAEL v/
Mr. Liu Da Yong BIRBRE 4
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung BB S v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Tang Li BRZT v
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung EISHESEE v
Independent non-executive Directors BY FHITES
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JpP BRI A FHL v v
Mr. Wu Guo Ming REISE & v
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP FEREA  WLHEE K Fart v
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth FREEE v v/
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Their respective terms of reference are set
out in the Company’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 11 August
2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph C.3.3
of the Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things, reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process and internal control systems, as well as the overall risk
management of the Group, reviewing the financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group, and
reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of audit work of the
external auditors.

The composition of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung
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The members of the Audit Committee possess diversified
industry experience and the chairman of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters.

During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed the first
quarterly results for three months ended 30 June 2019, the interim
results for the six months ended 30 September 2019, the third
quarterly results for the nine months ended 31 December 2019
and the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2020 and is of
the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and that adequate disclosures
have been made.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
A.4.5 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying and
nomination of directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors, reviewing
the board diversity policy, reviewing the nomination policy and
reviewing and accessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Director and making recommendation if necessary.
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The composition of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Qualified
candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee
had convened one meeting.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for
Directors. The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and
process in the nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company; (i) ensure that the Board of the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company; and (i) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of the factors

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate to the Board,

including but not limited to the following:

(@

(b)

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company; and

such other perspectives that am appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.
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Nomination Procedures

Appointment of New Director

54

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and external recruitment
agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.
Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of

the Nomination Policy and report to the Board when necessary.

Also, the Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy,

as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination

Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and

approval.
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Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 30 August 2013 with a view to achieving
a sustainable and balanced development of the Group. The
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. A summary of the
Board Diversity Policy together with the measurable objectives
for implementing such policy and the progress on achieving such
objectives are disclosed below.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the importance of diversity in board
members to corporate governance and the board effectiveness.
The purposes of the Board Diversity Policy are to set out the
basic principles to be followed to ensure that (i) a diverse
range of candidates are considered; and (ii) the Board has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.
Board nomination and appointments will be made on merit basis
based on its business needs from time to time while taking into
account the benefits of diversity. The Company has identified
and implemented programs that will assist in the development
of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for senior
management and board positions.

Measurable objectives

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model
and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience. The ultimate decision shall
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
shall bring to the Board.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

(i)  Independence:
The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong element of
independence in the Board. The independent non-executive
Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their views
to carry weight.

(i)  Skills and experience:
The Board possesses a balance of skills appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The
Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with
considerable experience in a range of activities.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, developing and reviewing measurable objectives
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and monitoring
the progress on achieving these measurable objectives. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of
the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
B.1.2 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among other things, formulating and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy, determining the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.
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The composition of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP (Chairman)
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Remuneration
Committee convened one meeting to consider the revision of
Directors’ remuneration.

Risk Management Committee

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 15
June 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and the Code.

The main duties of the Risk Management Committee include,
among other things, reviewing the risk management system
of the Group; assessing the risks from major decisions and to
consider solutions for significant risk; monitoring the Group’s
risk profile; reviewing and monitor emerging risks relating to the
Group’s business and strategies; having periodic assessment on
the Group's risk profile and risk management capabilities; and
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.

The composition of the Risk Management Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

58 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

FHEZBEE2EKIT

ﬁj#ﬂﬁ§$
TR L HES ATt (EE)
sa%xiﬁ'ai P KA

REsEEE
E/%\%%GE
BE_ZT_TF=-A=1t—HILFEHH M
ZESCEEAR - REZUNEEEBITESZFHM-

EGEEZES

RZZE—RNFEANAT+RBRIIARE
CHEMBESETEGEMEM AR

U]]I]_I

AlE

/

X 3
G

o

RREELZE@zIEREBRE (AHEE) R
MASEZRAREERS HEREETRRE
ZRBEEEBHEEARBR ZBRTE BE
AEBEZRERBERL A REELRZEHEAR
SR NRE 2 B F Y AR ER
AN AR EIRRE NETHE RFEERA
KB b B M AR S R AR

RREEZRE® 2HERMT :

BYFHITES

SEERELE X TFHL (FE)

;%E%EE
it Rk R

I,M%%E

B K F#HL



The Risk Management Committee should meet at least once a
year to consider major investigation findings on risk management
matters and the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Remuneration Committee had convened one meeting to consider
the risk assessment of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company has not established any committee responsible
for the corporate governance function of the Group and the
function has been collectively performed by the Board. The
Board acknowledges the overseeing of the corporate governance
function by the Board collectively. The Board is responsible for the
corporate governance functions with the following duties:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
changes and updating;

e toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

e to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

e such other corporate governance duties and functions set
out in the Code (as amended from time to time) for which the
Board are responsible.

The Board has reviewed and approved the Corporate Governance
Report set out in this report. The Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, and the Company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year, and Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written notice
of such meetings. For any ad hoc Board meetings, Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonably practicable in those
circumstances. Agendas and accompanying papers are sent not
less than 3 days before the date of Board meetings to ensure that
the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft and
final versions of minutes of regular board meetings are circulated
to all directors for their comment and records respectively. All
Directors are kept informed in a timely manner of major changes
that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Board also understands where potential
conflicts of interests arise, the independent non-executive Directors
shall take the lead in discussing the relevant transactions being
contemplated when there is a Director or any of his associates
having a material interest in the transactions and shall abstain
from voting. All directors, in the discharge of their duties, are
allowed to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board and committees’
meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 March 2020
are set out below:

Board
Ezg
Number of meetings RV 4
Executive Directors BirEs
Dr. Jiang Yan ZafT 3/4
Dr. Li Yong Sheng BkAEL 4/4
Mr. Liu Da Yong ARBEE 4/4
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung [ 4/4
Non-executive Directors FuTES
Ms. Tang Li BELT 0/4
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BlsnEi 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, /7 BRERL (P4 4/4
Mr. Wu Guo Ming RE#EE 4/4
M. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 85,/ FEREE HEAEE P4 4/4
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth TRELE 44
Average attendance rate THEEE 87.5%
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs,
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with relevant law
and disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in
“Independent Auditors’ Report” section on pages 86 and 99 of this
report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor, during the year ended 31 March 2020
amounted to HK$0.65 million.

RISK MANAGEMENT ANS INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. To
this end, the Board oversees and approves the Group’s risk
management and internal control strategies and policies, which
are aimed at evaluating and determining the nature and extent of
the risks that are compatible with the Group’s strategic objectives
and risk appetite, with main purpose for provision of reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss rather than
absolute elimination of the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.
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In June 2016, the Group has established a risk management
framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
Risk Management Committee and the senior management of the
Group. The Board determines the nature and the extent of risks
that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives
and has the overall responsibilities for monitoring the design,
implementation and the overall effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems
at least annually, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls.

Risk Management Philosophy

Risk taking is a necessary and accepted part of the Company’s
business. Effectively managing risk is a competitive necessity
and an integral part of creating shareholder value through good
business practices designed to ensure that the Company achieves
its strategic, business and governance objectives, and protects
its corporate reputation, values and integrity. Risk management
applies to all aspects of the Company’s business and forms a
critical part of developing strategic plans, preparing operational
plans and budgets, completing detailed project approval requests
and designing and managing project plans.

Risk Management Process

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects (if any). Senior management is responsible for the annual
risk reporting process. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned
and mitigation plans are documented. The risk assessment
is reviewed by certain members of senior management and
presented to the Risk Management Committee and the Board
for their review. Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.
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Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

e Risk elimination — senior management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate
the risk entirely.

¢ Risk mitigation — senior management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or
the severity of the risk to an acceptable level.

e Risk retention — senior management may decide that the
risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for the
Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

Reporting, monitoring and evaluating are essential and integral
parts of managing risk. Senior management has established an
annual risk reporting process to gather risk issues affecting the
Company. A risk template has been developed to assist in the
identification, documentation, assessment and management of risk
exposures.

Review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system

The Risk Management Committee met at least annually during
the year and reported to the Board for assessment. Key risks
are identified and their responsive mitigating controls are
documented in the risk registers and report to the Board by the Risk
Management Committee.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board
has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The
situation will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board has engaged APAC Compliance Consultancy and
Internal Control Services Limited as its risk management and
internal control review adviser (“ the Adviser”) to conduct the annual
review of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 March 2020. Such review is conducted annually
and cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review
was previously determined and approved by the Board. The
Adviser has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Audit Committee and management. The Board/Audit Committee
are of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

Inside information policy

The Company recognises the significance of consistent practices
of fair disclosure with the aim of disclosing inside information in a
timely and accurate manner. The Company has a policy with regard
to the principles and procedures for handling and disseminating the
Company’s inside information in compliance with the requirements
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571
of the laws of Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules, and such
policy has been communicated to the relevant senior executives
of the Group. Company Secretary works closely with senior
executives in identifying potential inside information and assess
the materiality thereof, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on further
action(s) complying with the applicable laws and regulations.
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In prevention of premature leakage of inside information, the
Company has taken all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure proper preservation of confidentiality of inside information
until disclosure to the general public, including inter alia:

e restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentially;

e appropriate confidentiality agreements are put in place when
entering into any significant negotiations;

e inclusion of a strict prohibition on the unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee code of conduct;
and

e policy is issued to all employees annually reminding their
duties and obligations in respect of any dealings in the listed
securities of the Company as well as its subsidiaries and
associated corporations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai (Z28 %) , aged 37, joined in the Company in
September 2011 as assistant to chief financial officer and re-
designated as company secretary on 1 June 2012. Ms. Li holds
a bachelor’s degree in business administration in Professional
Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and has
over 7 years of working experience in auditing and accounting
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Ms. Li is a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Li has served in an international accounting firm
for five years. In the last three years, Ms. Li did not hold any
directorship in any listed public companies.
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The company secretary took more than 15 hours’ professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2020. Reporting to the chief
executive officer, the company secretary plays an important role in
ensuring proper Board procedures are tailored to the Company’s
business needs and compliance with all applicable laws, rule
and regulations. The Directors could obtain advices and services
from the company secretary for any updates and developments
in corporate governance, applicable laws and regulations when
necessary.

The company secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is
responsible for preparing the meeting agenda, serving notice to
the Board at least 14 days before the regular meetings or at a
reasonable time for other ad-hoc meetings, and providing relevant
Board papers to Directors at least 3 days before the meetings, so
as to ensure that the Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner for effective
and informed decision making.

The company secretary also ensures that the Board meetings are
convened and constituted in accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and the procedural requirements set out in the articles
of association at all times. In addition, the company secretary
will take minutes of the meetings and circulate them to Directors
for comments at a reasonable time after the meetings. After
incorporating Directors’ comments, the executed version of the
minutes will be maintained by the company secretary and be open
for Directors’ inspection during normal office hours.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board believes that general meetings can provide an
open forum for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend general
meetings of the Company and give valuable advices to the
Company through this direct communication platform. The
Company will convene AGM every year and convene any other
extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) as required.

1. The way in which Shareholders can convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than 10% of
the issued share capital at the time of deposit of the requisition
and carrying the right of voting at general meeting can deposit
a written request to convene an EGM.

The written request must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned and deposited to the
Board or the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business at Suites 2708-10, 27/F, Everbright Centre,
108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one
or more Shareholders. The request will be verified with the
Company’s share registrar and upon its confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the company secretary
will notify the Board to convene an EGM and include the
resolution in the agenda. The Board shall convene and hold
such general meeting within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the request is verified to be not in order,
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the result and no
EGM will be convened.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such general meeting, the Shareholders
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM,
but any EGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the said date.
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2. The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

68

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board
may write to the Company’s investor relationship contact
at Suites 2708-10, 27/F, Everbright Centre, 108 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, by phone on +852 3104 2962 or
by email at cnc@cnctv.hk.

The procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

To put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, the
Shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals
with the detail contact information to the company secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website.
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The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. Paragraph A.6.7
of the Code requires that independent non-executive directors
and non-executive directors shall generally attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.

A non-executive Director, namely Ms. Tang Li, did not attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 9
August 2019 due to overseas commitment and pre-arranged
business engagements. Other Board members, the chairmen
of the relevant Board committees and the external auditor of
the Company also attended the annual general meeting to
inter-face with, and answer questions from the Shareholders.

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company is set out on page 60 of this report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s corporate website is www.cnctv.hk. The Company
may from time to time conduct investor/analysts briefings and
presentations, roadshows, media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc.

All corporate communication materials published on the GEM
website (http://www.hkgem.com) are posted on the Company’s
corporate website as soon as practicable after their release. The
Company’s constitutional documents are also available on our
website. No significant changes were made to these documents
during the year ended 31 March 2020. Information on our website
will be updated on a regular basis.

ARBRABRRARE HERRBBZRT
RE -RBERRE  BABIDORBERAAE
BEEANENER BHEERENES
ARBNKBREBRERRBRERARZIE
FresTRIEAB.TIRREBIIFNITES R
FHTEFAHERRAG L2 HIERA
ROER -

—fIATE=R(ERBLL)RBINE
BRBAEBELRERELEARAR -F
—NENANBRTZERAFA G -H
MmMEFEKE HBEEEZESTRFAAN
REVMBAZBEN A B EBCRBFRE A
IEH B 2 AR A o

EZHEARRRRARE 2 BEREN AR
H 5608

REERRE

AR A H) A BB UE Awww.cnetv.hk o AR &) 8]
TERITIREE, /DITAEN RERS - 5KE -
HEgH KEEMS A RENEEALHR
.

FT A GEMAF S (http://www.hkgem.com ) 1) &
MARBMERAENRAHERR ELHEEARQF
MW AREU - ARBNBE IR ARD A
A B - BE T -_TF-A=+—HI
FE ZEXHTEERET AR HHENE
g EHE -

PR EERIERERAS 2019/2020 Fif 69



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BESRS

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector in Hong Kong and television broadcasting
business in the Asia-Pacific Region (excluding the PRC) and Multi
Channel Network (MCN) business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of business activities of the Group,
including a business review of the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 17 to 33
of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group can be found throughout this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Five Year Financial
Summary from pages 255 to 256 and Financial Highlights on
pages 3 to 4 respectively of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to implementing policies
and measures in our daily business operations to foster reduction
of the Group’s environmental impact. Detail information regarding
the environmental, social and governance practices adopted by the
Group is set out in the environmental, social and governance report
which will be disclosed in a separate report and published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company no later than
three months after the publication of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well
as the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options and share award scheme
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations and subject to the Articles of Association
of the Company. Subject to compliance with applicable laws,
rules, regulations and the Articles of Association, in deciding
whether to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, among other things, the financial results, the earnings and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines, and the
current and future development plans of the Company.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 100 to 101 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 5 August 2020 to Tuesday, 11 August 2020, both
days inclusive. During this period, no transfer of Shares will be
registered. In order to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queens’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 4
August 2020.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 34 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 104 to 105 of this report and note 44 to the Financial
Statements.
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DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group made the
charitable donations amounting to approximately HK$0.6 million.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s distributable reserves,
including the share premium account, calculated under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$253.3 million in deficit.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the convertible notes of the Group are set out in note 32
to the Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and financial position for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 255 to 256 of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s revenue, subcontracting costs
and purchases of raw materials attributable to the Group’s major
customers, subcontractors and suppliers respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2020 is as follows:

FTEEFRHER

BHE_Z-_TF=-A=+—HLFE F5EH
2 D BERARREM A IRBRAENEET
EXFP -oERAMEBRNES LD RIWAT:

Revenue W 2=

The largest customer BRAEF 43.4%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFA 96.1%
Subcontracting costs DE KA

The largest subcontractor BADBEH 37.7%
Five largest subcontractors in aggregate ARDBEEh 73.5%
Purchases of raw materials (Notes) BREREM B (MiaE)

The largest supplier BAHER 45.7%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AREEEEN 86.3%

During the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

Notes:

Total purchases of raw materials by the Group included purchases of raw
materials by main contractors for the Group’s use in carrying out waterworks
engineering services as a subcontractor for respective contracts. However,
the suppliers from which main contractors purchased the raw materials were
not included as the suppliers of the Group as the Group did not have direct
relationship with these suppliers.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are set
out in note 43 to the Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, JP

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that all Directors
and officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty.

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
has been provided by the Company to cover potential legal actions
against Directors and senior officers.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.
The appointment of non-executive Directors will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
prior written notice to the other or the payment of three month
salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company. The appointment of independent non-executive
Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the other
or the payment of three month salary in lieu of notice.
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None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this report are
set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages
34 to 41 of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group was entered into or existed during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration is determined with reference to the nature of
job, performance, qualifications and experience of individual
employees, as well as the result of the Group and the market trend.
The Group carries out staff performance appraisal once a year and
the assessment result is used for salary reviews and promotion
decisions. The Group recognises the importance of staff training
and thus regularly provides internal and external training for its staff
to enhance their skills and knowledge.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities of each Director, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the prevailing market
conditions.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the
Financial Statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Particulars of the pension schemes are set out in note 14 to the
Financial Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme has been adopted to provide incentive
or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest. No share
options have been granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares:

REROBFRE:

Percentage of
aggregate
interests to

Number of total issued

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held share capital
BERERE

EBITREAN

" A B REmtE FrERGE A Bak
Mr. Kan (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 69,000,000 1.70%

Bt (M) REIEHEE 2 #E s

Notes:

Mr. Kan is the sole beneficial owner of Shunleetat, which was interested in
69,000,000 Shares. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Shunleetat.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2020,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or are deemed to have, interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group
or who/which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

TERREEMATREQTRSG RHEE
RO SR KE

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO with details as follows:
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Long position in the Shares: RBROHER:
Number of underlying
Shares under
Number of Shares held convertible notes (Note a)
TRREBETZ
RO EE HBRGEE (Hta)
Percentage
of aggregate
Interest in Interest in interests to
Beneficial controlled Beneficial controlled Total total issued
Name owner corporation owner corporation interests share capital
BER
REE REEH hE2HERT
% BEREEA EEER BERBEA EEzER HER REABAE
China Xinhua NNC FEFENEERA 1,188,621,377 - 1,311,378,622 - 2,499,999,999 61.65%
(Note b) (Note b)
(Hiztb) (Hstb)
CNC China FEMENEERE (RE) - 1,188,621,377 - 1311378622  2,499,999,999 61.65%
(Note b) (Note b)
(Histb) (hitp)
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Notes:

(@) Details of the convertible notes were set out in the circulars of the
Company dated 19 November 2011, 6 January 2015, 17 January 2018
and 16 January 2019.

(b)  China Xinhua NNC is wholly and beneficially owned by CNC China.
Accordingly, CNC China is deemed to be interested in the 1,188,621,377
Shares and 1,311,378,622 underlying Shares held by China Xinhua NNC
under the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors
were not aware of any other person/entity (other than the
Directors or chief executive as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above) who which had, or is deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or who which were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group or who/which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year
or subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes with
the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000, carried
interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific. Each note entitles
the holder to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share. Conversion may occur at any
time between 9 December 2011 and 8 December 2014. If the
notes have not been converted, the Company would redeem on
9 December 2014 at the outstanding principal amount. Interest of
5% per annum would be paid annually until the notes are converted
or redeemed.
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On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the first
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain terms
and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the maturity date
of the outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal
amount of HK$277,030,210 was extended for 3 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended for 3 years to 9
December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the convertible notes
was amended from 5% per annum to 3% per annum for the
extended period, being from 9 December 2014 to 9 December
2017. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2017 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 1 year to 9 December
2018. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2018 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 2 years and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 2 year to 9 December
2020. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2020 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates including spouses and children under 18
years of age was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any
right to acquire Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, or had exercised any such right during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
March 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2020 and as at the date of
this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and the laws of Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into following continuing
connected transactions:

EEREROUEEFNER

BRARSHABEEEN BE_T_TF=H
=T HLEFE BBEESIREIZANKBE
A (BRERBRARMI8EH T ) BAREHE
B /8 2 IR AT AR A AT BB B AN R Bl SR E
X AE BRI SRR IMBRITETAA
FAMEF -

BE HEIEBEERRKRH
BHE-_Z-_EFE=A=+—RHIFE KAAT
KEARMNBRARMERE  HEERTMA
A& 15 o

EHARARERE

BIBEARRRGBZz ARERRIBEEEMM &
E-FE-FF=-A=+—BHILFERARRE
BE AZRBERRF 2B BITHRANER
25% ©

BrigERE

NRAB 2B SEMEI MBS BB AN EE
EELEERE UBEARRRIAERLHIE
AR A IR R B EFHAAD o

HEXRS

FARANEEFZATHERERS:

hEFEERIERERAS 2019/2020 Fif 83



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BESRS

Television Broadcasting Right Agreement

On 5 September 2011, Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific entered into
a television broadcasting right agreement (the “Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement”) with China Xinhua NNC, pursuant
to which China Xinhua NNC granted the television broadcasting
right in respect of broadcasting information contents from Xinhua
News Agency under CNC Channels on television channels in the
Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) to the Group for an annual
fee of approximately HK$1.0 million prior to 31 December 2016
and approximately HK$3.0 million with effective from 1 January
2017. The Television Broadcasting Right Agreement has a term of
120 months from 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2021. Since
China Xinhua NNC is a substantial shareholder of the Company,
and therefore a connected person of the Company within the
meaning of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated
under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

GEM Listing Rules Implications

Pursuant to Rule 20.41 of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions
contemplated under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement
are subject to the applicable reporting, annual review and
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company will comply with the applicable reporting,
disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements,
as the case may be, under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
upon any variation or renewal of the Television Broadcasting Right
Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling

Shareholders and their respective associates has any other conflict
of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 42 to 69
of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (‘COVID-19
outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be implemented in countries
where the Group operates. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact to
the Group.

Save for disclosed above, no significant event has taken place
subsequent to 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which
will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Jiang Yan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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B 45 &<t E 5% A RA G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CNC
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 100 to 254, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3c in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss
of HK$100,831,000 during the year ended 31 March 2020 and, as
of that date, the Company’s net current liabilities and net liabilities
are approximately HK$322,749,000 and HK$271,968,000
respectively. As stated in Note 3c, these events or conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in Note 3c, indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.
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Key audit matter

HRELZER

How our audit address the key audit matter

RITHNBERNAHBRERSEHETRE

Allowance for expected credit losses assessment for trade receivables and contract assets

ESRUFBERENEEZRAGEERERTE

Refer to note 5, 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4

to the consolidated financial statements.

FSHRAMBRRMTS  28RU4URGEMBRRMFIZGFTHBE-

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had gross trade
receivables and contract assets of approximately
HK$40,841,000 and HK$15,323,000 respectively,
and provision for allowance for expected credit losses
of approximately HK$11,866,000 and HK$6,085,000
respectively.

R-ZZBE_ZTF=A=+—H ESEREEIE
WK IR 4 58 N & K& E 2 Bl %) /340,841,000 7T &
15,323,000/ T - MIAHEEE BB BRI AR
11,866,000/% 7T %.6,085,000 & JT ©

In general, the credit terms granted by the Group to
the customers ranged between O to 30 days on trade
customers of contract works. Management performed
periodic assessment on the recoverability of the
trade receivables and the sufficiency of provision for
impairment based on information including credit profile
of different customers, ageing of the trade receivables,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation of
outstanding balances, and ongoing trading relationships
with the relevant customers. Management also
considered forward-looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances
in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the
allowance for expect credit loss assessment.

—RimE BERERGHNIRESFEFETERZ
@ﬁ%u?%ﬁﬁ%ﬂaﬁﬁﬁfTHXﬁm1 L
B SRWFIERRE BTAERLE  BELKENR
NoFEHRERAREEEHRERSBREEBE,N
FER SRS EREE 5 W R IE R AT U B KR
ERENRREETERTE - BEEENE BT
EXFEEREESHRNENNATEIEER AT
REREEBRIARENEREESHE-
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Our procedure in relation to management’s allowance for
expected credit losses assessment of the trade receivables
and contract assets as at 31 March 2020 included:
HZMERERERRN S _EF-_A=1+—HZESE
WHIBREHNEEZ BREEBERET G ZEFEIE:

e Understanding and evaluating the key controls that
the Group has implemented to manage and monitor
its credit risk, and how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for trade receivables and contract
assets;

o THEIE ESECHEEREFAEEFEERRM
B i BRI S i - M&EEEMHHJE%EW
RIEREHNEEZ EEEERE:

e Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile
of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2020 to
the underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;

e MEBER_ZE_TEF=-A=+—BAH@MBEE
NHE 5 UGB RERIE N R F & BERNRITR

FEE W

e Inquiring of management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at year end
and corroborating explanations from management
with supporting evidence, such as performing
public search of credit profile of selected customers,
understanding ongoing business relationship with the
customers based on trade records, checking historical
and subsequent settlement records of and other
correspondence with the customers; and

. ﬁ%@@ﬁﬁﬁitaaﬁ%mﬂﬁiﬁﬁ%Fw

REARRN WA RETETEENRE
Wmﬁﬁﬁﬂ% EEFPHERMRR RIERXZCH T
REEPHREEBEER BERTPHNEL REELS
HRe kA R EME &



Key audit matter

HEERER

How our audit address the key audit matter

RITHBERNMERREREHETRE

Allowance for expected credit losses assessment for trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

ESRUMNBERENEEZRACEEREFTE (&)

We focused on this area due to the allowance for expect
credit losses assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets under the expected credit losses model
involved the use of significant management judgements
and estimates.

BT SR aERNTEREEEEELTHNE SR
WHIBERGEHEERMEEBRETHBEE I RERE
NE TR E HI i R fh5t e

e Assessing the appropriateness of the expected credit
loss provisioning methodology, examining the key data
inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and challenging the assumptions
management’s basis and judgement in determining
expected credit loss allowance on trade receivables
and contract assets as at 31 March 2020, including
their identification of credit-impaired trade receivables
and contract assets, the grouping of the trade debtors
into different categories in the provision matrix, both
historical and forward-looking information, used to
determine the expected credit losses.

o IATEHEEEEREBEHENES L MnL R
B A BUR - DAGT (BRI e BB WHEER
Z_RFA=1+—HZEBESRRFEREGNEE
2@%?%%@%%2%“’%%@%ﬁ&ﬂ%kﬁ

BEREEBNEEBENESRIFIERENE
E\m%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁAnﬁTH@%~%%
ETRMEEBEZEL MATEILER -

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables
and contract assets and impairment provision to be
supportable by available evidence.

BMESR - BREERUNEE S RUCRIE RGN EER A
W [ 14 K2 (B 388 8 0 I e (il 5T I PSR B B S FF o
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Key audit matter

HRELZER

How our audit address the key audit matter

RITHNBERNAHBRERSEHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract

BREANEREEENZETEE

Refer to note 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4 to the

consolidated financial statements.

F2RGEUBRRWESRARGE M BHRRM T4z ETHE-

The Group recognises revenue over time in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue for contract with customers.
BEEERREFBVBERELRFGHREF A LW EhE
iy T AR U A o

The revenue and profit recognised in a year on
these projects is dependent, amongst others, on the
assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
construction projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for
work performed) relative to the total expected inputs to
the construction projects (i.e. estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects).
—FANERELIEB AR FAE REAMIN B
AR BEEEHEREBEENSHIRA (AIERKTI
BRESANAHKAR)EHNEZZIER V@ LTEERA
(Bl RIEE AHNMAFHETRE S LK) BT

The uncertainty and subjectivity involved in determining
the cost to complete and foreseeable losses may have a
significant impact on the revenue and profit of the Group.
BETHKKARABREES R EEERFEN &
LRERERY BEEENKRGSRNEKERTE -
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from
construction contracts included:

BPBEEEESONRARRAZIEFBH:

e  Obtaining an understanding of the projects, evaluated
the design and implementation of relevant controls
and tested the operating effectiveness of the controls
relating to revenue recognition and partially completed
projects.

e THRIER  FHAAEBEESIMRET M E M - ORI EI
m R E 5 ST AR B AR B AR I 8@ 1T RO

e Assessing the Group’s revenue recognition practice
to determine that they are in compliance with HKFRS
15 Revenue from contracts with customers, including
the assessment of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
construction projects (i.e. contract cost incurred for
work performed) relative to the total expected inputs to
the construction projects (i.e. estimated total budgeted
contract cost committed for the projects).

o FMf EEENWEBEREL UETHNSEEH
BREERFEIGREFEONKA  BEH E5ER
EEEIE B FEN S W R AR E (B2 BT LIZ
BASH A QR ) AEE RS B VTR HAIR A (BD
HEtRIBE AN AT REES LX) -



Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter

HRELZER RITHBERNMERREREHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

BREAUERERENZEEE ()

Refer to note 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4 to the

consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

F2RGEYBRRWESRARGE M BHRRME4ZETHER - (£)

e  For selected projects, our audit procedures included
the following:
e HMKLETHEEME HKFANBEZEFBEATSE:

agreed projects contract sum to signed contracts
and variation orders;
BEEHNEENTEMBEI S OARIETR:

obtained construction contract from management
and reviewed for any specific or special
performance obligations and conditions during the
financial period;
BEREEGREES AW EZN MM ER
HR SIS REITER &M

assessed the reasonableness of cost incurred
against our understanding of the projects;
NEEHIEEWN THTZFEEN AN EENT

vouched the actual cost incurred during the year
to details of supplier invoices and subcontractors
to check the validity and accuracy of the costs;
NFAMELEBRER AN ZEHERERE LD #
EBENFE ERZ TR AN ERE

performed cut-off testing to verify contract costs
were taken up in the appropriate financial year;
ETHEIDAE  UBE AT NGB IFE
JE S HY ;

PRI EERIEREIRAST 2019/2020 £ 91



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
1% Y7 il 84 6ih 3R &5

Key audit matter

HRELZER

How our audit address the key audit matter

RITHNBERNAHBRERSEHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)
RSN BREZLSHNZETEE (&)
Refer to note 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

FOHREMBRRMNESROARGEMBHRRMFIZETEE - (&)
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Vi

Vi

Vil.

Vil

Viii.

Viil.

assessed and vouched to the estimated cost to
complete by substantiating costs that have been
committed to quotations and contracts entered;
FiBFACAGERNREMEIT S KRBCAR &7
{0 75 BR TR ST ST AR

checked to the latest certificate issued by the
independent surveyors (“Surveyors”) before year
end date for the verification of the value of work
already performed during the year;
mEBREA (DRIZEM]) RNE4A BRI RE
FREETIREBEGMEL 2&FH:

checked to the certificate issued by the Surveyors
subsequent to year end date, to verify the
uncertified work before year end has been
subsequently certified by the Surveyors;
BEBSRNFLLRREL Z2BR UEZNF
RAIKREFREREECBASAZE 2 TR :

performed retrospective review by comparing the
total actual contract costs incurred at completion
against the total budgeted contract costs to
assess the reasonableness of the estimates used
by the management;
FREBRINEREENSNAKAERE
BRBKNNETRIEMES  UHEEEEMA
HEtm &M



Key audit matter

HEERER

How our audit address the key audit matter

RITHBERNMERREREHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

BREH s REEEHNZEEE (#F)

Refer to note 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4 to the

consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

FEHGREUBRRMESROUARGEM B HRRMFTIZETEE - (&)

Xi.

Xi.

Xii.

Xii.

for projects in progress, we further recomputed
the percentage of the progress of the contract
based on input method to test the accuracy of
the percentage of the progress to determine the
revenue;

SETTFIEEMS  HPBRBERANEE—TEH
AEANEER L RREE B D L a2ER
1 - DAHEE W as

for projects completed during the year, we
obtained the certificate of substantial completion
and verified that the remaining revenue has been
captured;

RFATTHEAMS EERSELERIFEHR

WiZE 2 BT E SR

compared total contract revenue to actual cost
incurred plus estimated cost to complete, and
assessed for foreseeable losses;

B R B BB PR B A RN I _ETE R TE TR AR
TR WH A T8 RAVIB K1 TRT A
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Key audit matter

HRELZER

How our audit address the key audit matter

RITHNBERNAHBRERSEHETRE

Contract revenue recognition and accounting for construction contract (Continued)

&

BHNBEREZSHCETEE (&)

Refer to note 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

FESHREUBERMESROUARGEMBHRRMFIZETEE- (&)

A4
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Xii.

Xii.

examined the project documentation (including
contracts effective during the financial period,
terms and conditions) and discussed with
management on the progress of significant
projects to determine if there are any changes
such as delays, penalties, overruns which may
result in liquidated damages.

R A RIE R M ERE (REREBUHAR AR
Z AR RN ) - W ERE IR Eim R E AR
BeER  LEERAFER I BETEER
EMEMEE FINER - Sk BXE-

e Assessing the appropriateness and adequacy of
the disclosures made in the consolidated financial

statements.

o HERAMBHMRMELRE ZEE M M EREN -

Based on our audit procedures performed above, we

found that the management’s judgement in relation to
the estimation of revenue of construction contracts to be

reasonable.
ERBMEMET EZEF BHMEREEEREHERE
FEENWEMBFTHE IBEEIE -



Key audit matter

HEERER

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

BEEEZRETE

How our audit address the key audit matter

RITHBERNMERREREHETRE

Refer to note 5, 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4

to the consolidated financial statements.

F2HFEYBBMRMEIES 20021 URGEMBHRRWFIZSTHE-

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has intangible assets
of approximately HK$25,995,000 relating to television
broadcasting business acquisition in previous years.

RZZEZTF=A=+—H E5EHERATTF
[ U 8 BAR R PR 1% 2 fR T2 & B £925,995,000 B TT

Management performed impairment assessment of
intangible assets based on value in use model that
required significant management judgement with
respect to the discount rate and the underlying cash
flows, in particular future revenue growth and capital
expenditure. Independent external valuation were
obtained in order to support management’s estimates.

ERECDREBLEEETRERNG  ZFFEDERE
RERERMBREELEERSRE (LHEERARKK
RIERRERA)ELERAESERBEEER 5
XHEBEBEH A BEREIMNIEERER -

Our procedures in relation to management impairment
assessment included:

BPMEEEEEREN G ZIEFBRE:

e Evaluating the independent valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

o HEBUMEMMNERE EHMEHML:

e Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumption based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts;

o KEHRMEMBBITENNBLEBHMANEERTK
FHEFTER BB A MR B RARE L

e  (Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and industry;
and

o IKEBEPIBZEFNITROAD GRARKRKRNE
B &

e  Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

o  EMMERIIE MmEMIRARRE AR ERE TG
B

We found the managements’ impairment assessment were
supported by the available evidence.
BMIEE EREZRENECEMGRIBN -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (“the Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

REBMRERGEEMBRRARENER

AITHEBRAEERTEUSHRA M RRER
mE =S MM Ewm bR A GEF SRR M E 2
E RSB - W 3 A ATTE R a2 26D
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RERBEEEZEETHERZ TIFARER
BT A ) B AR AR PR - 85 AR RO AT R BRRE
ﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁi e E R B R AESEAHER
AFEERERBEZSRAMBHRERMELN
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e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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CONSOIJDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

|||ir D ,E\ fm ]}
For the year ended 31 March 2020 # %= —

Revenue
Cost of services

Gross (loss)/profit

Other income

Other gains and losses

Amortisation expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Change in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Loss from operations
Finance costs

Loss before income tax
Income tax

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss

ltemns that may be classified
subsequently to profit or 10Ss:

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

ltems that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:

Change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Other comprehensive loss for the year,
net of income tax

Hith 2@ & X

FoFF=A=+—AUFE

Notes
J/okza
W &= 6
BR 7% A 2N
£ (8) 7
H A A 7
HAth U %5 K B 18 8
B S
SHE M D HEMAX
TR
BRBHREATFEARZ
EREE L ANFEE
EEEE 10
& AN 12
MRETISRAIES IR
FriS 15
FAEE
Hib2mEEE

HER D HERm ZHA -

BMEIRINER 2 BN R

EE

BE M2 EREEAT
@A%Zéﬂééz
AFEE

FRNEMBEEEE
HIBRFT1SFi1&

Total comprehensive loss for the year F A2 HE B2 E 5
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2020 2019
- ey 323 = — NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
237,322 324,855
(254,858) (321,371)
(17,536) 3,484
1,033 450
(11,811) 3,032
(18,367) (18,594)
(770) -
(24,591) (22,441)
(4,636) (9,123)
(76,678) (43,192)
(28,496) (25,686)
(105,174) (68,878)
4,343 3,576
(100,831) (65,302)
(1,104) (1,531)

- (1,057)

(1,104) (2,588)
(101,935) (67,890)




Loss for the year attributable to the

owners of the Company

Total comprehensive loss
for the year attributable to
the owners of the Company

Loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company
— Basic and diluted (HK cents)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Notes

Wit

ZNNTE: 2PN 2
FRER

RRREE AR
FRAZHEBRAE

RATERAEMN
BRER
- EARNEE Gl 17

2020 2019
—g-%%F et
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
(100,831) (65,302)
(101,935) (67,890)
(2.49) (1.61)

BERS 2 M EE Rt FERa M B wER 2z —8fD °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

o Bl B35 I R &

As at 31 March 2020 R-_ZFE-_ZFF=H=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Tax recoverable
Contract assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities/Finance lease
payables

Promissory note
Convertible notes

Employee benefits
Current tax liabilities

Net current (liabilities)/assets

Total assets less current liabilities

HRBEE

ME - BEK&E
EREEE

BEE
EXETRIAEE
FREAMPEBREA
FEARZEREE

REBEE

B 5 I H e WA
QEEE7E
BHEE
BBESE A TE
ANRZEREE
RBehREEHEED

MEE

REBAEE

H 5 R EHMERFRIA
BHAEE

HEAaE MEHRE
et 3RIB
EHER

gk EE

e 8 4&F
EMNEAE

nE (B BEFHE

REERRBAES
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Notes

Wit

24

26
27

24

29
31
32
30

2020 2019
—g-%%F —E-hEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
26,407 38,302
9,107 -
25,995 44,362
124 320

- 1,245

61,633 84,229
84,552 105,738

= 521

9,238 15,517
1,835 6,181
91,196 79,915
186,821 207,872
248,454 292,101
131,243 88,973
63,302 65,156
7,231 42
44,658 -
242,990 -
3,672 3,550
16,474 16,904
509,570 174,625
(322,749) 33,247
(261,116) 117,476




Non-current liabilities kRBERE

Lease liabilities/Finance lease HEaE ®MERE
payables FE At FRIE

Promissory note R
Convertible notes AR EE
Interest payables JE AT H) &
Deferred tax liabilities R IEEE

Total liabilities wEE

Net liabilities BEFE

Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital [N
Reserves T

Total equity HERER

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2020 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Yan
3]
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

2020 2019

—EDEH —ZE-NF

Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
J/okza FET FE T
29 2,925 -
31 - 43,123
32 - 225,475
28 - 2,214
33 7,927 13,655
10,852 284,467

520,422 459,092
(271,968) (166,991)

34 4,055 4,055
(276,023) (171,046)

(271,968) (166,991)

\:Y—YQE/\H —'—j—LElH:t/E&TX
REMBHmEA YHTIALTRRES

ekt
it
)q;,(( ]]]E>

Li Yong Sheng
FXKFA
Director

EF

BERS 2 MEE Rt FERa M B wEk 2z — 8D °

PR EERIERERAS 2019/2020 Fif 103



At31 March 2018 RZF-NE=A=1-H
Adoption of HKFRS 9 (note 1) RABREHREENZ
5 (BzH1)
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 RZB-NFUA-RZHE
Ebt
Loss for the year FRER
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FREMZEEE NBHK
net of tax: E:
Item that may be classfied subsequently ERANEZEECER:
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign ~~ EENEBZERER
operations
Item that wil not be reclassified subsequently ~ EATEEFRAEZEEZ
to proft or loss: ER:
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value (& @t 2 AMERATE
through other comprehensive income NEZSREEIATE
29
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREERELEE

Transfer to accumulated losses upon maturty AR Z B L EREZ

Foreign

of convertible notes (note 32) R (M332)
Recognition of convertible notes equity MERT LR ZERERT
reserves on extension of BRERERER
convertible notes (note 32) (M3t32)
Deferted tax llabilties arisng on extension of LR AR HE S 2 BT
convertible notes (note 32) HEAE (HiE3)

At 31 March 2019
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RZZ-NEZA=t-R

Convertible currency  Investment
Share Share Capital  notes equity translation revaluation Other  Accumulated Total
capital premium* reserves* reserves* reserves* reserves* reserves* losses* equity
TRREE e RE
R BEEE EAGE ERfR BERE Eftif Hit R B EL 5
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK§ 000
A A AT Fhr Sz T AT T AT
(note 34) (note 35) (note 32) (note 39) (ote 39) (note 35)
(Hits4) (Hiitss) (Wists2) (Fitss) (Hitss) (Hiss)
4,055 1,238,195 2,758 1304 (116) - 2862 (1,.399,354) (131,296)
- " - - - - - (1,557) (1557)
4,055 1,238,195 2,758 1,304 (116) - 21,862 (1,400,911) (132,853
_ - = . - - - (65,302) (66,302)
R - - - (1,531) - - - (1,631)
_ - - - - (1,067) - - (1,07)
- - - - (1,531) (1,067) - (5,302) (67,890)
- - - (1,304 - - - 1,304 .
- - - 17,245 - - 19,362 - 36,697
- - - (2.849) - - - - (2.845)
4055 1238,195 2758 14400 (1,647) (1,067) H214 (1464909) (166,991)




Foreign

Convertible currency  Investment
Share Share Capital  notes equity translation revaluation Other  Accumulated Total
capital premium* reserves* reserves* reserves* reserves* reserves* losses* equity
TRREE S RE
12N R EE" EAGE Bafife BERE EfiffE Eft R it e aEs
HKS000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000
AT AT FET AT FET AT FAT AT FET
(note 34) (note 35) (note 32) (note 35) (note 35) (note 35)
(K#34) (Hi#35) (Hiz) (#r#35) (Hr#35) (H#35)
At 31 March 2019 WoT-fE=f=+— 405 123819 2758 14,400 (1.647) (1,087) MM (1,464909) (166.991)
Adoption of HKFRS 16 (note 2) RBERTBREEL
£16% (FizE2) - - - - - - - (3,042 (8,042)
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 RZZ-NENA-AZ
EEsEs 4055 1238195 2758 14,400 (1,647) 1,07) H214 (1,467,951 (170,033)
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (100,831) (100,831)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FREMZERE
net of tax: MBRE:
Items that may be classified subsequently ERUNEEERL
to profit or loss: EE:
Exchange differences on translating foreign BERNERCERER
operations - - - - (1,104) - - - (1,104
Total comprehensive loss for the year 2 - - - - (1,104) - - (100,831) (101,935)
Transfer to accumulated losses upon EERR éi E&@?‘i
derecognition of investment revaluation 2iER - - - - - 1,057 - (1,067) -
At31 March 2020 W-B-BE=p=+-R 4055 1238195 2,758 14,400 (2751 - M4 (1569,8%9) (271,968)
*  The aggregate amount of these balances of approximately * RZ-ZEF-FFZH=Z+—H ZEEHBHE

HK$276,023,000 in deficit (2019: approximately HK$171,046,000) was A AB B4 5276,023,000/8 70 ( ZF— L F : 4
included as reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position as 171,046,000/ ) B i1 A 47 & B 5 L R A B
at 31 March 2020. 1o

BEHT.Z B it ARt Fhr & BT IS R 2 — 507

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

Note k=3

1. RZZ-N\FEA-BRABEFBIREERF
ST emIA | RESZ REt B 491,557,000/ 7T
ABERER T \FHA—RH 2R ERNH
B AMBRELERIBETE 2 M EEEERE -

1. Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” on 1 April 2018
has accumulated impact of approximately HK$1,557,000 was recorded
as an adjustment to the accumulated losses as at 1 April 2018, which
represented the impairment loss allowance net of deferred tax impact.

2. RIZE-NFOA-BRATEMBREENE
165% [ E | REL 2 2FTFE13,042,0008TA
EREN —ZE-NAFMA-—RZRFEENFE

2. Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases” on 1 April 2019 has
accumulated impact of approximately HK$3,042,000 was recorded as an
adjustment to the accumulated losses as at 1 April 2019.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEOlRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Amortisation expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Net gains on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Finance costs
Change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Gain arising on extinguishment of
promissory note

Interest income

Dividend income

Exchange gain, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for trade receivables

Net allowance for expected credit losses

recognised for
contract assets

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other
receivables
Decrease in contract assets
Increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities
Purchase of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Proceeds from disposal of
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Increase in employee benefits

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

BETHELECRHERE
Eff\ﬁfrfﬂm TE1E

%%ﬁi
W G R

iﬁ?@ﬁﬁ?&?ﬁ@$f§
AEZ SMEE
N EEE

R RAREEE Y
FEWA

B EMA

I:/':LLBZ /?%E
HE F W RIBHER
EHEEBERE
e RNEEMRER L TAH
EEBERETE

Mﬁgﬂiﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁzﬁg‘“‘ﬁ
B 5 N H At JE WGRIE R
/(i‘jJD)

ERL
/HWEFEH K I8 38 1
& CRA) /ijJD
E /\L@Téfm? NEEA

ELEMEE
EEBRBEREAFEA
?Zirﬁﬁﬁz}gﬁﬁﬁ
I

1 B 4 A 18 A0

H%>

jii3
‘\J J
\r

5 0> g 0>
2¥Nm 2
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A

[

il

EE
i
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N

REMB RS
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RETHMBREFE
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Notes

it

10

12

 ONN®

2020 2019
—EEF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(105,174) (68,878)
18,367 18,594
18,715 21,863
7,211 -
(957) (131)
28,496 25,686
4,636 9,123

- (1,939)

(213) (78)

(48) (198)

(559) (1,035)
7,920 78
5,407 (5)
(16,199) 3,080
13,201 (21,081)
872 4
31,333 6,598
(1,854) 51,136
(2,154) (26,080)
1,864 18,716
122 235
27,185 32,608
(1,098) (1,235)
26,087 31,373




Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Notes
Bt
RETHEECEESRE
HEME WEEREZ
FT1S 308

Purchase of property, plant and equipment& & ¥ % - W= & &%

Proceeds from disposal of
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Additions of film rights
Interest received
Dividend received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance lease charges paid
Repayment of lease liabilities/

finance lease payables

Net cash used in
from financing activities

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes I

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

Analysis of the balance of cash and
cash equivalents:

Being:
Cash and cash equivalents

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂiﬁw S 1%
AREEARZEREE

Z TS EE

mﬁ%%ﬁ%

EUFIE

B U 8

REZBARS TR
MEETHELECRERE
EfRVEHE A
EEEEAE
MEBRERNIEA

BMEZTHARSFE
RERREEED

b pIlIDE

FONRERBEEEY

EREH T H B

FRAERBEEEY

REeRREeSEBUEHRD
i

B :
ReEMREEED

2020 2019

g g 353 —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

1,430 1,633

(7,476) (20,439)

1,245 -

- (278)

213 78

48 198

(4,540) (18,808)

- (26)

(9,831) (2,473)

(9,831) (2,499)

11,716 10,066

79,915 70,296

(435) (447)

91,196 79,915

91,196 79,915
— &

BERH 2 MY R Ut F 4R B B 75
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
|||irD Bjﬁ%iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂi

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 15 March 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at the offices of Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and Suites 2708 — 2710, 27/F, Everbright
Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
respectively. Its parent company is China Xinhua News
Network Co., Limited (“China Xhinhua NNC”), which owns
29.31% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the provision of
waterworks engineering services, road works and drainage
services and site formation works for the public sector in
Hong Kong and media and advertising business comprising
television broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific region
(excluding the People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”)) and
Multi Channels Network (MCN) business with vast resources
on information contents in channels/internet in return for
advertising and related revenue.

At 31 March 2020, the major shareholder of the Company
is China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (“China Xinhua
NNC”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs and an interpretation issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the
first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19  Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current year and prior years
and/or the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

ERAMEEMBRELER (FEY
BHREEA ) REBTER

REFEBFERZHITEBUBRESE
B % HABRT A

AEECRAFEERXRANBB SR
 ([BAGMAE])BMHZ TIFHTE
B BHmEEAEBREREEITA:

HEEMBHELER HE

F165%

EEMBHRELER AEGAFEZRAS
FEoE (85T A) PR R

B g EL ETENEET R

F199% (IB5TA) #)58

B g EL REEE R R REE

Fo8st (185]4) ARz REAEZ

EEMBRELER BAEPHREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
#m O Bl 75 3R 2% Bfit 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 —F=FF=A=+—HIFFF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

Transition and summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 16

On 1 April 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16. HKFRS
16 superseded HKAS 17, and the related interpretations. The
Group applied the HKFRS 16 in accordance with the transition
provisions of HKFRS 16.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not previously identified as
containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
contracts which already existed prior to the date of initial
application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 April 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with
the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a
contract contains a lease.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessor

During the year ended 31 March 2020, application of HKFRS
16 by the Group as a lessor has no material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application,
1 April 2019. As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised
additional lease liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at
the carrying amounts as if HKFRS 16 has been applied since
commencement dates, but discounted using the incremental
borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the date of
initial application by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i) transition. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the
opening accumulated losses and comparative information has
not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to
the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

i.  excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application;

ERAMEEMBRELER (FEY
BHREEQ ) REEFTR (4)

BERUBHRELEREIGHEE (&)
1ER A

BE_T - THE-_A=FT-HLFE &
El%%ﬁﬂAf%%%%%ﬁ%ﬁW”
16U AR 2 A MBERRL BEKRY

2,
=

1ERABEA

REBEBHERB SN BHRELELFE16
BoMBIFEN T -AFNA-HERX
ERBEEBER - RZE—NFHA—H =K
SERRENINHERBRLEREAENES
FRiEEE MBI EHREERE165
EERBE AN RER HEREEMK
HEERFE16.C8(b) ()3 A - F HHEEE

EEREANENER AR S EE KR R
R-BAEARHZEMESBEERBNZR
TR ER M REEILRER -

RiBEHRRERE SN REERF 165
H WIS B AR NEBIRZFIEMR
ERERLRRBER BT EFEITRD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
|||irD Bjﬁ%iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂi

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
a similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying
assets in similar economic environment. Specifically,
discount rate for certain leases of properties was
determined on a portfolio basis;

used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at
date of initial application in determining the lease term for
the Group’s leases with extension options;

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months
of the date of initial application; and

relied on assessment of whether lease are onerous by
applying HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment review.

On transition, the Group has made the following adjustments
upon application of HKFRS 16:

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously

classified as operating leases, the Group has applied

incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities

at the date of initial application. The weighted average

incremental borrowing rates applied by relevant group entities
ranged from 2.07% to 5.20%.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at
31 March 2019
Less: Effect from discounting at the incremental
borrowing rate as at 31 March 2019

Less: Recognition exemption — short term or low
value leases
Less: Recognition exemption — practical expedient
— leases with lease term ending within
12 months/from date of initial application
Add: Extension options reasonably certain
to be exercised
Add: Finance lease payables recognised
as at 31 March 2019

Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019

Analysed as:
Current
Non-current

ERAMEEMBRELER (FEY

BHREEQ ) REEFTR (4)

BERUBHRELEREIGHEE (&)

EREMEA (#)

RZZE-NF=ZA=1+—BHEEN
i B AR
R —_FE-NEF=ZA=1+—

L ERER e - EHSEEEEE

B R —AI{THEE DA -THES
RERERBBE12E/ R
EROEE

e REREERTITEMNERER

=1

mR-_T-NF=A=1+—HHER
B RY & TH B e KR

R-ZZE-NFOA-AWNHEERE
DR

inE)
FRE

hEFESRIZIREIRAT 2019/2020 FiR

At 1 April
2019
R=F—NF
A—H
HK$'000
FET

21,248

(714)

20,534

(1,848)

(1,859)

362

42

17,221

8,494

8,727

17,221
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
#m O Bl 75 3R 2% Bfit 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 —F=FF=A=+—HIFFF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAFIEBUBHREER ([FBH
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B EER ) REBTA (£)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) EBPBEREEAEIGHREE (&)
As a lessee (Continued) EBRBA (&)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at RN-ZE-NFNA—HZzERFEREEE
1 April 2019 comprises the following: REEBENATEIE:
Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
HK$'000
FET

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases REABBY B HREERFE165 &M
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 REBLEHEC FRAREE

Add: Right-of-use assets relating to deposits of m:BRLEHERSCFEAEEE
operating leases

— recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 —RERBEBVBREERF16
SR1& TR
Add: Amount included in property, plant and m:REESGHENEITRITAD
equipment under HKAS 17 X BER&REBzZ2E
— Assets previously under finance leases -SRHRRMEREE T CEE
By class: RERIE D
Leased premises HEWZE
Motor Vehicles E
Assets related to television broadcasting HERENEBEECEE
business
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impacts on transition

On transition to HKFRS 16, the Group recognised additional
right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities, recognising

the difference in accumulated losses, if relevant. The impact
on transition is summarised below:

2. ERAMITEEMBRERER ([FEM

BHREEQ ) REEFTR (4)

BERUBHRELEREIGHEE (&)
BEZZE

RBEERBYHRELERFI65E K
SERABIEHEEERBIHESR
B RRFEBEETEREZE (WHEE) -8
BB IT -

1 April 2019
R=ZFB—NF
A—H
HK$'000
FET

Accumulated losses as at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=ZA=+—Hz

RETER

(1,464,909)

Adjustments under HKFRS 16 BIEE BB 755 22 R SE 1657 F8 & (3,042)

Accumulated losses as at 1 April 2019 (Restated) R _-Z—HFMA—BZ E:tE1E

(&E5)

(1,467,951)
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption of
HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected by

the changes have not been included.

FERAMAEEMBRELER ([FEY
BHREEA ) REBETR (4)

ERNBHREEANFE16REE (&)
ERBEMEA (#)

TERBAR —F-NFUNA—Hz2AEKHE
REMBMR KRR TS MG ERE

ORI E - VEXBRAEHMTE 2R
A EBEAEN-

Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
report at HKFRS 16
31 March Recognition of at 1 April
2019 Reclassification leases 2019
REEE
BEHREER
KRR F165ER
“E-nF “E-nF
=B=t+-H A—-Hz
EHEHE EHOE HERZ REE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% BB Rk 38,302 (141) - 38,161
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 141 13,845 13,986
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B9 REMEKE 105,738 - 63) 105,675
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade and other payables B REMEMFIE 88,973 - (355) 88,618
Lease liabilties AERME - 42 8,452 8,494
Finance lease payables BEBERNTIE 42 (42) - -
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Lease liabilties HEEE - - 8,727 8,727
Capital and reserves EXR e
Reserves [ (171,046) - (3,042) (174,088)
For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating BIREBEEF ZEREE T _TF = A

activities under indirect method for the year ended 31 March
2020, movements in working capital have been computed
based on opening statement of financial position as at 1 April

2019 as disclosed above.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continuea)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business?®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale and Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform?*

Amendments to HKFRS 16  COVID-19-Related Rent
Concession®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

3 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisitions date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 April 2020

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

ERAMEEMBRELER (FEY
BHREEQ ) REEFTR (4)

ERMEERERZHTERMBREE
B % HABRT A

BEENBMELER REEAP

F175

EENBMELER XBFZTE

FE35% (BETAN)

BEEMBRELER REZHABENA]
FIORRBEGET AEELEZAER
YR 285 BEHESLHE
(1BETA)

BE TR B2 TE#E
F1RREBGEH

R ZE85 (&3]

)

BEREMBMELR  FIEHEHE
FO% - BAGE

YR ZE30%% R BB

B R 5 R B 75

(fBFTA)

EEMBHMELR  BCOVID-1915 8587
g5 (BE5IAR) ML HES

N

" RBEFR AR %R FEARAEN

2 ROIF-FMH-HRHZERBEZFEY
kS

S HRWEAH B —E-FEMA A%
ez EEFEBRATZZ %2 ZHE

REEWIELEAL

4 ROIF-FFNA-HARAZEFEZFRE
IEES4

s RN oECRENH AR AR FE
B £ XL
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting”
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
“Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework”
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2020. The directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements includes applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (before
application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS
36.

3. WEEEE)

(b)

hEFESRIZIREIRAT 2019/2020 FiR

e BMRIIRIBEE L RAEER
BEREREPREAFEFEZ
ETE2RTARINER NIEFTEK
RNMRE) -

B A — IR A E AR EZ A
FEEE

NPEDRFAERRMISZ2EE 2 H
KRB 5% & & &P e
FEBEAINNER Mm% ER
ERRAERBRIUSHAEREM
METDEGF R EERBEZ
RFER AEEEEZERERH
HEELRBETEERZ BN
Ho-RUEGRAMBRRPAERS
FWBENRTFEIRIEEETUE
o EEBM B REERF2RELE R
BAB D RERZNRZ S RIEE
BB REEREI6E (BTN
FMA—BR)RBEGERIF7
5 (BB BB IREERIF165%AT)
ARZHER 5 R ERAFERLEL
FRFENTE (PNEBSER
FRH A HIFEXE B G ERIE
3657 HI(E A EE) BRIN
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

120

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which
are described as follows:

e |evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e |evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group notwithstanding that:

e The Group has incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$100,831,000 during the year ended 31 March
2020 and, as of that date, the Group had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$322,749,000 and HK$271,968,000
respectively; and
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3. WREE(E)

(b) WHEE (&)

(c)

AN BB B HREM S - A FEFER
BATEFENGABEBIBREE
NRBABBH A FEFENERER
U BAE—RA B _RHHE=
AR T

s FAMBWABBEERNE
BEIR ARG EREEX ARG
RIEEMSME CREHAE)

s FAMBWABEBEAEEXE
BEERARMEHABENGA
g (- AR ABRERNRER
o) R

s FEZAFBWABEBEEEEXAR
BN AR A BE

TESFTEEREAIIRN

FREEREE

RERGEAVBRRE EXCHFA
ERAKEZRIRE M BE

e HE_T_THF=-A=1+-—H
FEFE AEBELEFEERY
100,831,000 BT k& EZ#%A -
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

e The Group had promissory note of approximately
HK$44,658,000 and convertible notes of
approximately HK$242,990,000 which are due
within the next twelve months after 31 March 2020.

The directors adopted the going concern basis in the
preparation of Financial Statements and implemented
the following measures in order to improve the working
capital and liquidity and cash flow position of the Group:

(1) Financial support

China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (“China
Xinhua NNC”), one of the major shareholders of
the Company and a convertible notes holder, has
confirmed to provide financial support to the Group
in a reasonable manner under relevant laws and
regulatory requirements, to maintain the going
concern of the Company. The financial support
only refers to allow the Company to extend the
repayment for the liabilities due to China Xinhua
NNC to not earlier than 12 months commencing
from 31 March 2020, including (1) the convertible
notes in the principal amount of approximately
HK$257,030,000; (2) the interest payables on
the convertible notes amounted to approximately
HK$51,108,000 as of 31 March 2020; and (3) the
liabilities due to China Xinhua NNC of approximately
HK$20,337,000 as of 31 March 2020 in respect of
annual fee for television broadcasting right, carriage
fee payment and satellite transmission fee, if the
repayment would cause the Company to be unable
to settle its liabilities due to other parties when they
fall due.

3. WEEEE)

(c) BERKEEE (&)

AEBMEER_FT_FTF=H
=t —BERR+ZEAREH
2GR IR R AR SR R 5 B A
44,658,000/8 7T % 242,990,000/8
Lo

EENREVBREREERAFEL
BEEWE BN T FE AR E A E
BlrEgBE2 R RoEURRERE
RO :

(1)

MEXHF

FPEFEFEEREERA
(HPEFEFEE ﬁmn<$
RAIZEFERR 2 — R R
EEEAEACHERANABEAR
EHEBEEANEEEZRNTAM
$$l%@ﬁﬁi%ﬁuﬁﬁ$
NAMIFELE B I+
BRI B ARG EEEE
HMEREAZBEBENBERL TR
HFARARNBTEHE T -_TF=
A=+—BR+-EAERER
ERFPEFEFEERAOE
% BEENITRREERNE AL
257,030,000 L QEEZ=-Z
—EF=RA=+—RH1EzBR
T2 ERFE & #51,108,000
BT RQEE_ZE_ETF=H
=+ —BHIEZERERBERET
B RNBHELRGEEEE
ER R EN R ERANER
/&#720,337,000/8 7T
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3.

122

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continueq)

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

(2) Alternative source of funding

The Group is actively considering to raise new
capital by carrying out fund raising activities
including but not limited to rights issue, open offer,
placing of new shares and issuance of convertible
note.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
in light of the various measures/arrangements
implemented after the end of the reporting period,
the Group will have sufficient working capital for its
current requirements and it is reasonable to expect
the Group to remain a commercially viable concern.
Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate
as a going concern, adjustments would have
to be made to write down the value of assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
future liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effect of
these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars (HK$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

3. WREE(E)

(c)

FEQERE (&)
(2) HEEHEXEF

AEELEGEEBBFAREE
ABNEBEHMEAN BRERETR
R RFERE - BEEHD &
BITARRER -

ARPMEERL ENHEHR
BEMZEEK T A&
BiEATEEEET A MmER
B2 BRI AT G IR FE AN B
AN AR ENR 2 EEK
2o At EREMITFELEE
BRBITEVHERRBAME -

HAEBEREEBEIERFTFERLE
BEREE AFT2EHRABEN
REEBEMAZEATKDE
BoBA LR ZEMARKERE
AR ARKIERDEER
BEIRNBIRRBEEREA
B-RZFABZHELRNEGS
AT R P AR -

(d) HERZHER

KT AB T (BT JIE - &
TR ARBZNEEER. BRAE
RSN PR A BEY R A AERER
B TRIB (TETT)



4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

e  potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

®  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and,

4. ERESFTHE

(a)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(@) Basis of consolidation (Continueq)

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests

having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

126

(b)

(c)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from the sale or
contribution are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those asset to
a third party.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BERETTBE (£)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (c) ME -BERRE (£)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
principal annual rates used for the current year are as

follows:

Site offices Over the respective project terms

Leasehold 30% or over the respective life of
improvements the leases, whichever is shorter

Machinery 20% - 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Leasing (upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April
2019)

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Leasing (upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April

2019) (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
(Continued)

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and property that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEBTHHEEK (£)

(d) Leasing (upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April d HE(R=ZZE-—NFNA—HEARE

2019) (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statements of financial position.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Leasing (upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April

2019) (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Refunaable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
arate;

e amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group; and
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(d) Leasing (upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April

2019) (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

* the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Leasing (upon application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April

(e)

2019) (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Lease modiifications (Continued)

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

Leasing (prior application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April
2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised
as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a finance lease obligation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(e) Leasing (prior application of HKFRS 16 as at 1 April

2019) (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line
basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

(9)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Film rights

Film rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Cost comprises
direct production expenditures and an appropriate
portion of production overheads. The cost of film rights
are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in accordance
with a formula computed to write off the cost over the
broadcast period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(h) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 April
2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BERXEFBEK (£)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(h) €@ IR (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), except that
at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEBTHHEEK (£)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (hy €T A (&)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)

Classification and measurement of financial assets at B EK AR BT R E

amortised cost (Continueq) (#&)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: WBEBTYER AeMEEDER

BIEER:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e BAZSHMEEZTEZEENAR
selling in the near term; or PARREE 3K

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of e RYIPHERANZIREBEARLSE
identified financial instruments that the Group BEHxFAERE s EHNSR T AR
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of axEs BEHEREEEH
short-term profit-taking; or i A 5 3K

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective s ZEEMARBARIIFEERAME
as a hedging instrument. BREHRTAZITET A

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a SO - AEBRER AT BRI E © 8

financial asset that are required to be measured at the FERBENATEBEMMEEKE

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing EATEARTENEREEETER

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting FEiRER Tﬁ@ﬁﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬁi fis 2011t

mismatch. BB BEER LD ST EEE
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other revenue and other income” line item.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (‘ECL”) on financial assets which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade and
other receivables, pledged bank deposit and cash and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEBTHHEEK (£)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (hy €T A (&)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)

Crediit-impaired financial assets (Continuea) EEERECHMEE (&)

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or € MMERAEHERZERALR
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s EAfERA B RN B A B 2 5Bk
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a BRER GBTERAEEME
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise YN R (Suniw Fi
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter o) ERAIRABEEIET kaErT E b B
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or THEHR %

() the disappearance of an active market for that e HAVHE® ZemEEXREE
financial asset because of financial difficulties. PR % ©

Write-off policy gl

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is WEEBHBTRIXZEFHBAREN

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe MR E A mERRAUE 2 L (132

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of SHFHEETERIEARER

recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been Fr AEERIMEESREE - KERE
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy ZER(MER)E EMEZEHE

proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be ENAgEZERASEKREETT 2

subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s LGB  MSHBAR LRS- H

recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice B EMU RIS B R TR

where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BERXEFBEK (£)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (hy €T H (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&Z)
Measurement and recognition of ECL RIS EE B2 52 RER
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability HHEEFEBZAENELOME E
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the HEEE (AEVNENEBEZRE)
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. BRAORR KB - BABE RENE
The assessment of the probability of default and loss BEDRBLEREGEERFARZES
given default is based on historical data adjusted by HBETHE -TBHEERE A
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects [t R HE R B R i 8 EE - A OAR
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is TR ANHE 2 A8 e 40 B\ g i 8 5E ©

determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all —RmE TEHEEEEAKBES
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in HENASEZFBEHRES MER
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that SEBKRzRERECBE5E
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective WIS EREFETE 2 ERF EE
interest rate determined at initial recognition. I o
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEBTHHEEK (£)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (hy €T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) FERIEEEER T ERMER (&)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for MIEERBELETEEHEERE N
cases Where evidence at the individual instrument level BIERER T EEHE 2 BKHARES
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are ZIER @M AR TEESA

grouped on the following basis:

e Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's o SRITEZHE (MAEEZE
trade receivables and contract assets for ECL on an %J‘E LIﬁl RIBERAEHEBETZER
individual basis); EITRAEEEEN)

e  Past-due status; o EHIEN

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and o BEHRAZHE RERKEITE:

P54

e External credit ratings where available. o THRAZINBEETR

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to EEETHRTSME UERZAR

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share MAEK D EER B BEUNEERR

similar credit risk characteristics. o

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying FMEWATREREE 2 RELER

amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset B RIFeMmEELBREERE Tt

is credit impaired, in which case interest income is ﬁ/R_F CFBWADEEREE 2

calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset. SR ANETE o
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
convertible notes, lease liabilities/finance lease payables
and promissory note) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(@i

Derecognition (Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in the
profit or loss.

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts for variation orders, claims
and incentive payment. Contract costs include costs
that related directly to the specific contract and costs
that are attributable to contract activity in general and
can be allocated to the contract. Contract costs are
recognised when incurred and costs that relate directly
to a specific contract comprise site labour costs; costs of
subcontracting; costs of materials used in construction
and an appropriate portion of variable and fixed
construction overheads.

Variation in contract works and claims are included to the
extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its
receipt is considered probable.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and contract costs associated
with the construction contract are recognised as revenue
and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0]

Construction contracts (Continued)

The outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably when: (i) the total contract revenue can be
measured reliably; (i) it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the contract will flow to the
entity; (i) the costs to complete the contract and the
stage of completion can be measured reliably; and (iv) the
contract costs attributable to the contract can be clearly
identified and measured reliably so that actual contract
costs incurred can be compared with prior estimates.

When the outcome of a construction cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only
to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to be
recoverable.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.

Costs of construction contracts include costs that
relate directly to the specific contract and costs that are
attributable to contract activity and can be allocated to
the contract. Such costs include but are not limited to
material and consumables, direct labour, subcontracting
charges and accommodation expenses. When progress
billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus
is treated as an amount due to contract customers.
When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

@)

Revenue recognition

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

(k)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group'’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

4. EXREHEBE (&)

)]

(k)

hEFESRIZIREIRAT 2019/2020 FiR

W R (&)

BHMEERASENRRAREDSE
& B0 & ah 2 AR 75 T ) & P U B Y
R (RARARBERT) -HREBEER
B 7 i & YRI5 AR E - -
& Wk TR 45 7 S B M BB B 4 (R 1
R BB 15 3K B HA A (2 75 s e

EHNAEBEEARERE B EFP KRR
B (HRESEIND) MAERE ML

BER EEAWGE  TRERENEE
EENGTE

BAE

TRERBHOBEEZERZTRERA
AR ERBEAREHEXEOR
EZB8NBA - HEEXBHOEE
MTRRI B IR A M ER W T AR
ERRAEEAEERE M A REIES
BT ENELNBR -

153



—EFE=A=+—ALFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(k) Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or
the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing
is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the Group transferred the associated
goods or services before payments from customers in
which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for significant financing components, the
Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The Group
recognises interest income during the period between
the payment from customers and the transfer of the
associated goods or services.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BERXEFBEK (£)

(k) Over time revenue recognition: measurement

(k) BERERERWE  TRERBYEE

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(to specify), the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled using either (a)
the expected value method or (b) the most likely amount,
depending on which method better predicts the amount
of consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

U

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before income tax’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over
the lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

U

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

(m) Employee benefits

1. Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BERXEFBEK (£)

(m) EEEH (&)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

2. Short term employee benefits 2 MHIESHEF

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-
term employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.
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Termination benefits 3. HIEEF

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only BIEREAER AR EARARHER
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to IEEE A - St AR 4R 5 4B 1E =\ M 4
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a SHAIREME N R 2 B R B AT 2l
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed IR AR A T ARERR o

formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.

Long service payments 4. REBR#®+

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments payable on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitiements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to contributions
made by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(n)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. WWhen a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(p) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs

eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss

in the period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(q) Foreign currencies (Continued)

r)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.

Segment information

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Related party

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
entity that is preparing the financial statements:

(1)

@)

A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueqd)

(s) Related party (Continueq)

@

(Continueq)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viil

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third party.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsorship employers
are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group’s or the Group’s parent.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Related party (Continued)

(t)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between a reporting entity and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

() that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Current assets and current liabilities

Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the reporting date or in the normal course of
the operating cycle. Current liabilities are expected to be
settled within twelve months of the reporting date or in
the normal course of the operating cycle.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS ANDKEY 5. EESHERAFHTHBAREZEZE

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that management has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

5. EREHAE KM TAABERZE
ERR (&)

EREFTBR2ERHE (&)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continueq)

BREEA W2t R

(i) Construction contract revenue recognition (i)

Revenue recognition on a project is dependent on
management’s estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contracts, with reference to the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed to
date to the estimated total costs for the contracts. The
Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and provision for
claims, prepared for each construction contract as the
contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of
the management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, the management conducts periodic
reviews of the management budgets by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. The
provision for claims is determined on the basis of the
delay in the number of workdays of the completion of
the construction works which is highly subjective and is
subject to negotiation with the customers. Management
conducts periodic review of the provisioning amount.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

()

Construction contract revenue recognition
(Continued)

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs, variation works and
provision for claims which may have an impact in terms
of percentage of completion and profit taken. The
judgements of the management are based on contract
costs and revenues on the latest available information,
which includes detailed contract valuations. In many
cases the results reflect the expected outcome of long-
term contractual obligations which span more than
one reporting period. Contract costs and revenues are
affected by a variety of uncertainties that depend on the
outcome of future events and often need to be revised
as events unfold and uncertainties are resolved. The
estimates of contract costs and revenues are updated
regularly and significant changes are highlighted through
established internal review procedures. In particular,
the internal reviews focus on the timing and recognition
of payments and the age and recoverability of any
disagreed income from variations to the contract scope
or claims. The impact of the changes in accounting
estimates is then reflected in the ongoing results.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

EEEHERMATTABERZRZE

ERR (&)

fEEt T ABER 2 T EHRKIR

AT RERARENEZRRARNEEH]
RGP BABAR R E M E B4R - 1t
ERBETHARAZRAGEARBRER T
—MRFEANEENBEREELRE

N

(i) Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables

and contract assets

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade and other receivables and contract assets.
The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings
as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade and other receivables
and contract assets with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of intangible assets

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

5. EEEFHAE KM TABERZE
ERIR (&)

EFTHPREZETERR (#&)

(i)

BEEERE

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash generating units to which goodwill and intangible
assets has been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the management to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash, a material
impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31
March 2020 were approximately HK$25,995,000
(2019: approximately HK$44,362,000). Details of the
impairment loss calculation are disclosed in note 21.

(iii) Impairment of assets

The Group assesses annually whether the financial
assets and non-financial assets have suffered any
impairment in accordance with accounting policies
stated in note 4(h) and 4(n) respectively. The assets
are reviewed for the impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The determination of recoverable amount requires an
estimation of future cash flows and the selection of
appropriate discount rates.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the
Group’s property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Useful lives of broadcasting right

The Group determines the estimated useful life at
10 years and related amortisation charges for its
broadcasting right. The estimate is based on the license
period of the broadcasting right acquired. Management
will revise the amortisation charge where the useful life is
difference to the one previously estimated.

Useful lives of film rights

The Group determines the estimated useful life in
accordance to the broadcast period of individual film
rights and amortisation for film rights is charged in
accordance to the broadcast period of individual film
rights. The estimate is based on forecasted customer
attrition pattern with reference to similar market
information. Management will revise the amortisation
charge where the useful life is difference to the one
previously estimated.

5. EREHAE KM TAABERZE
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v)

(vi)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continueq)

(vii) Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
accordingly be adjusted in the relevant tax account in the
year in which such determination is made.

(viii) Impairment of right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of right-of-
use assets amounted to HK$9,107,000, No impairment
losses were recognised during the year ended 31 March
2020. Details of the right-of-use assets are disclosed in
note 19.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5, EERMHEBRMAFTTHEREZEZE
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY ERR (&)
(Continued)

HEFHBAERZEERR (&)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ix) EE A

(ix) Determining the Lease Term

As explained in note 2, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease
term at the commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the Group
evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal options
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive for the Group to
exercise the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of that
underlying assets to the Group’s operation. The lease
term is reassessed when there is a significant event or
significant change in circumstance that is within the
Group’s control. Any increase or decrease in the lease
term would affect the amount of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets recognised in future years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

6. REVENUE

Revenue recognised during the years ended 31 March 2020

and 2019 were as follows:

(i

(ii)

Over time of revenue recognition

Construction works RETIE
Advertising income BERA

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date

As at 31 March 2020, the aggregated amount of
the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation under the Group’s existing
contracts is approximately HK$102,990,000 (2019:
HK$178,749,000). This amount represents revenue
expected to be recognised in the future from pre-
completion construction contracts and advertising
contracts entered into by the customers with the Group.
The Group will recognised the expected revenue in future
when or as the work is completed or service is provided
which is expected to occur within the next 12 months.
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BIEFERRKaEmT

@i)

B P ) R W 2
2020 2019
_ 7 —_ qE > _j—LﬁE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
231,100 323,895
6,222 960
237,322 324,855
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OTHER INCOME 7.
Other income recognised during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Interest income FEWA

Dividend income IR B A

Sundry income FEIRA

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8.

Other gains and losses recognised during the years ended 31
March 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Hft A

HE-_ZE-—ZTHER-"FT—HHFE=R=+—
HIEFERREMBALT :

2020 2019

—E-EF —T—-hEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FE T FET

213 78

48 198

772 174

1,033 450
Hiuhz=m R EE

HE-_SZ-_ZHEKR-_T—NE=RA=+—
BIEFERmAZEMRSE REBNT

Exchange gain, net

DEE 3 Was - JHER

Gain arising from extinguishment of 1878 & 4 ZHEE L 2 s
promissory note

Net gains on disposal of property, HEME WEREHE2
plant and equipment WS 55

Allowance for expected credit losses L8 5 EUFRIBFER Z

recognised for trade receivables TBHEEBERE
Net allowance for expected credit REHNEERHAEREEE
losses recognised for contract BHTE

assets

2020 2019
—E-EF —F-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

559 1,035

= 1,939

957 131

(7,920) (78)
(5,407) 5
(11,811) 3,032
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s segment information is presented on the basis
on internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision
maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and
assess their performance. For each of the Company reviews
internal management reports on a regular basis.

Under the segment structure implemented during the
year ended 31 March 2020, in formation reported to the
executives directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provide are:

(i)  Provision of civil engineering services — provision of
waterworks engineering services, road works and
drainage services and site formation works for public
sector in Hong Kong; and

(i) Media and advertising business — (a) the television
broadcasting business of broadcasting television
programmes on television channels operated by
television broadcasting companies in the Asia-Pacific
region (excluding the PRC) and (b) Multi Channel Network
(MCN) business with vast resources on information
contents in channels/internet in return for advertising and
related revenue.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately
as each of the products and service lines requires different
resources as well as marketing approaches.
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Revenue from external customers
Other income and gains

Reportable segment revenue

Reportable segment results

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs

Loss before income tax

Rader s
A AR

DERERA
NEEEFAX
CEN

S
ZN
i

BAERAER

9. oHEHR (&)

2 R R AE

R BIR R] 2 3 MEE o BRI o ) Y ER K
REATWT e

BE-ZE-ZEF=A=1+—HLEE

Provision of Media
civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total
RER
R+ AIRRS BEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
231,100 6,222 237,322
1,674 - 1,674
232,774 6,222 238,996
(27,574) (23,332) (50,906)
366
(26,138)
(28,496)
(105,174)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4.
Segment profit/loss respects the profit earned/loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of central administration
costs, dividend income, interest income, finance costs,
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, gains arising from extinguishment of promissory
note and income tax expense. This is the measure reported
to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. EER (&)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PHRERESE (EF)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BHE-_FT—NEF=ZA=+—HILFE
Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
R
RELARTRRE BEXEH @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET
Revenue from external customers RENPERF 2 Wz 323,895 960 324,855
Other income and gains Hab g A R 245 - 245
Reportable segment revenue A 2| o EBU 324,140 960 325,100
Reportable segment results A2 D EELE 4,004 (30,511) (26,507)
Unallocated corporate income AOBEERA 2,210
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEERE (18,895)
Finance costs A& B A (25,686)
Loss before income tax BR PSR B 18 (68,878)
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue EXEBRHDEKRERREINSRREZ

W -BE_T-_ZTFR_T-NLF=A
=t BIEFEREDBEHE-

LI ) EP AR BT IR AR SR 4 AT A AN S [
SETBORAR - D 8 FEBERIES S
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segment:

At 31 March 2020

Segment assets NHEE
Unallocated AOE
Consolidated assets LREE
Segment liabilities PEBE
Unallocated AAE
Consolidated liabilities BeaE

DTEHER (&)

TMEERERE

AEBRAIZRNEENREI D 2 EER
BESFWT:

R-ZB-FEF=ZA=+—H

Provision of Media
civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total
RER
Rt R TRERS BEEH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FET
112,730 37,223 149,953
98,501
248,454
101,624 46,006 147,630
372,792
520,422
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. IHER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PHMEEREE (£)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-—NF=A=+—H
Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
R
RETARTRRE BERK @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FHET FHET

Segment assets NEEE 149,008 51,589 200,687

Unallocated AOE 91,414

Consolidated assets GEEE 292,101

Segment liabiliies SHEE 83,392 30,729 114,121

Unallocated Aol 344,971

Consolidated liabilties BRAaR 459,092

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and RERDBRI/R DB D EBER

allocating resources between segments:

e allassets are allocated to operating segments other than e BREBABZEAFEARZEME
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial ? FREMEARGZZAFEAR
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, ZemEE ReERRSFEY IR
cash and cash equivalents, current tax recoverable, EEHAHE - EERBEERDER
deferred tax assets and assets for corporate use; and, BEEIN MBEEENIRELED

B o

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other s RAUMKRER EHREENEBEGR
than convertible notes, current and deferred tax liabilities FAEAREBEIN FTEBEY EESE
and promissory note. EpELe
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea) 9. ZHER (&)

Other segment information Hith 5 &R
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_ZE-_ZF=A=1+—HLEE
Provision of Media
civil and
engineering  advertising
services business  Unallocated Total
Rt K RER
IRR% BEEHR AAE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FET FET
Additions to non-current assets REIERDEE 9,872 = 4 9,876
Depreciation of property, plant mE BERRETE
and equipment 17,689 228 798 18,715
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 759 2,366 4,086 7,211
Amortisation of intangible assets EREESE - 18,367 = 18,367
Net allowance for expected credit losses FAXEEZ BHEEER
on contract assets BEER 5,407 - - 5,407
Allowance for expected credit losses HESERFBEZESEE
on trade receivables BiERE 7,920 = = 7,920
Net gains on disposal of property, HENE BEREEL
plant and equipment Wzt H e (957) - - (957)
Change in fair value of financial assets ~ BEBEBHEAFEARZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREECLNTEE - - 4,636 4,636
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 —F=FF=A=+—HIFFF

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. EER (&)
Other segment information (Continued) Hit pEHER (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE T NWEF=ZA=+—HILFE
Provision of Media
civil and
engineering advertising
services business Unallocated Total
RELA R
TERS BEEHK Kol @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Additions to non-current assets AEBIRDEE 20,436 3 - 20,439
Depreciation of property, plant and mE BEREENE
equipment 19,410 735 1,718 21,863
Amortisation of film rights ERREEH - 278 - 278
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH - 18,316 - 18,316
Allowance for expected credit losses BE S RYWGIERR ZERE
recognised for trade receivables BEEERE 78 - - 78
Reversal for allowance for expected RENEERAZESEES
credit losses recognised for BEEEE
contract assets (5) - - (5)
Net gains on disposal of property, HENE BFEREEL
plant and equipment Wzt F R (131) - - (131)
Change in fair value of financial assets at  ERIBRZ A TEARZ
fair value through profit or loss TREEZDTES - - 9,123 9,123
Gains arising from extinguishment of BEARRBEE 2 m
promissory note - - (1,939 (1,939)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea)

Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its
major products and services were as follows:

Construction works TR
Advertising income BEERA

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue by location of customers:

Hong Kong BE

DTEHER (&)

REETEEMERE 2 WE

AEEREE T BESRRE 2 WSS
mF

2020 2019
—E-EE —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
231,100 323,895
6,222 960
237,322 324,855

i E & R

AEBZEBEEBZURES

TREUEEFUEHS 2 AR
ZUIE

2020 2019
—E-%F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
237,322 324,855
237,322 324,855
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-
current assets, excluding the financial assets, right-of-use
assets and deferred tax assets analysed by the geographical
area in which the assets are located:

Hong Kong B
PRC h

Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from provision of civil
engineering services of approximately HK$231,100,000
(2019: HK$323,895,000) are revenue generated from
two (2019: three) customers amounting to approximately
HK$207,675,000 (2019: HK$303,716,000) has individually
accounted for over 10% of the Group’s total revenue. No
other single customers contributed 10% or more to the
Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31
March 2019.
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DEER (&)

HwEER (F)

AT RREEMEES T ZIERBEE
(TEREEREE EREEENLELEHREA

BE)ZEEEZDN:
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHEIT
51,261 80,998
1,141 1,666
52,402 82,664
EBETEREFZER

RBEIARIERBHAEENKS
#9231,100,0008 L (=& — L & :
323,895,000 L)F - BIEHMA
(ZE-—NhF ZR)BFERHIK
# #9207,675,0008 . (=& — L&
303,716,000/ 7T ) & Bl AN S 42 i 25 7Y
10%A L - BEAEME -—FEPREBEE_F
—EFZA=+—BK-ZE—NF=A
=+t —HIEFEAEREBRKZE10%IE A
J:o



ORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers (Continuea)

Revenue from major customers is as follows:

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C (Note (i)

Others

Notes:

(i) No information was disclosed as the corresponding revenue did not
contribute over 10% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31

March 2020.

EFH
BERPZ
BEFEA(KEE))

Hith

()
EREEEFZEN (&)
KEEERS WM -
2020 2019
i —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Frtz FT
106,968 146,709
100,707 121,117
- 35,890
29,647 21,139
237,322 324,855
Bat -

() HRBE_Z-_TF=-A=+—HLFEZ
TR R I S AR B U R R B 10% » L

EfE R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

10. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

Loss from operations has been arrived at after charging:

Contract costs recognised
as expenses
Amortisation of film rights

(included in amortisation expenses)

Amortisation of intangible assets

(included in amortisation expenses)

Television broadcasting right fee and
TV satellite fees
(included in cost of services)
Other direct costs attributable to
media and advertising business
(included in cost of service)
Other direct operating costs
(included in cost of services)
Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment”
Depreciation of right-of-use assets™*
Staff costs (note 11)
Operating lease rentals in respect of
rented premises

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

R R ZAHRA

ERREEH
(BREREHFAT)
(BRREHERAT)

ERRBEERAREEER
E/ (BRERRBAAF)

BRLESEBREEMBER
A (BIER IR AF)

Ht B REEHAR
(BRERRBEKAH)
A% BB Fr A
— B2 R
—IFE LR
ME- BERREBITE

FREEETE™
BITRA (Hit11)
EHHEVEZEEHERS

Expenses relating to short-term leases B B/ i E 2 X

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$17,174,000 (2019: approximately HK$18,893,000), HK$nil
(2019: approximately HK$1,045,000) and HK$1,541,000 (2019:
approximately HK$1,925,000) have been separately expensed
in contract costs recognised as expenses, cost of services and
administrative expenses respectively.

. Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$2,366,000
(2019: HKS$nil) and HK$4,845,000 (2019: HK$nil) have been
separately expensed in cost of services in respect of television
broadcasting right fee and TV satellite fees and administrative
expenses respectively.
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ok

2020 2019
SEE —z-nE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
247,676 310,758
- 278

18,367 18,316
2,123 8,623
2,693 945

- 1,045

650 700
18,715 21,863
7,211 -
88,579 91,962

- 14,425

2,827 -

W BB KRBT E 417,174,000 7T (=
T — L4 1 418,893,000/ 7T) ~ THE T (=

— LA #91,045,0007% 7T ) 21,541,000/
7T (ZZF— N : 491,925,000/ 70) B9 Bl&t
ANER AR 2B KR - BRI KA R ITE
e

15 FA1EE & 2 3T 5 492,366,00008 7T ( ZF — 1
FTHEIT) 4,845,0008 7 (ZE— NG
TETIENHIREHEERERERTEE
BEBZRIEKA AR RITHAL 8-



11. STAFF COSTS

11. BT R

2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Staff costs (including directors’ BIKA (BIEEEFHM)
remuneration) comprise: BIE:
Wages, salaries and other benefits ~ T& - ¥& L EEF 87,260 91,269
Contribution to defined contribution — E &8t (RN
retirement plan 1,319 693
88,579 91,962
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. BEAE
2020 2019
—ECRHF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on: ATEEZHE
Lease liabilities/Finance lease HERE BMEHRE
payables T RIB 366 26
Promissory note (note 31) A ER (HiE31) 2,890 3,388
Convertible notes (note 32) MR EE (#7132) 25,240 22,272
28,496 25,686
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #BZE=—F-—FF=HA=+—HIFFZE

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 13. EEMEREREEBHNE
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

() Directors’ remuneration i) EE=Me
The aggregate amounts of the remuneration paid and REBEE_ET_FTFR-_FT-NF=H
payable to the directors by the Company for the years =+—H JJ:EE ENRENARRE
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 were as follows: EMERENT
Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees other benefits Bonus schemes Total
HeR BHKER
e HitEFl A ST @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET FET
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-E_-ZF
ZA=t-RLEE
Executive director and chief HITEERITHAER
executive officer:
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FxFEL - - - = =
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Dr. Jiang Yan ZalT - - - - -
Mr. Liu Da Yong ARBRE - - - - =
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung BB LA - 10,370 500 19 10,889
Non-executive Directors: HHTEE:
Ms. Tang Li BELLT - - - - -
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung EIEREE 12 1,200 3,100 18 4,330
Indiependent Non-executive Directors: 187 FEH77Z % -
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew pERELLE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wu Guo Ming REHESE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron FEREE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth FRELE 144 - - - 144
588 11,570 3,600 37 15,795
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MUNERATION AND SENIOR
T’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019

Executive director and
chief executive officer:
Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Executive Directors:
Dr. Jiang Yan

Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew
Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth

HE-ZT-h&
=A=t+-RILEE
HITEERTRAEH

FKFEL

HiTEE:
ZEBL
ARBRAE
BEELE

FHTEE:
FELZL
Bttt

BUFNTEE:
BRERE
REHEE
FEREL
B 3

() ES=MsE (F)

Contributions

to retirement

Salaries and benefit
Fees  other benefits Bonus schemes Total

Hek RIREH
ik HitE7 TEaL FERR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET FET
- 4,262 500 19 4,781
12 900 70 18 1,000
144 - - - 144
144 - - - 144
144 - - - 144
144 - - - 144
588 5,162 570 37 6,357
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

13.

14.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020, directors’ emoluments
amounted to approximately HK$48,000 (2019: approximately
HK$48,000) were waived. There were no emoluments paid
by the Group to any directors or chief executive officer
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Senior management of the Group represents the executive
directors during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees the Group during the
year included two (2019: one) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remaining three (2019: four) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

Basic salaries, bonuses and B i N (A A V= ==

other allowances
YNGR =R R

Contributions to retirement
benefit schemes
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13. EEMESRSREEEMS (&)

HE-_Z-TF-A=1+—HLFE BEMX
BB EMNEH R48,0008 T (—T— R
F 448,000 7T ) c AEBW E AR E
ERTRAER TN EMNE AMEAE TR
ZIMAREE KN INAR 2 SZE) K E AR
B fE o

AEBHZ2-_ZE - ZEFN_FT—NFE=H
—+—-BPIEEZaREBEEHITE
£

14. EEME

AEBERAFEZzZEARFHRETEE
ME(ZE-NF:—R)EF FHES
ez FHIREI EXPHRE1S - Her =% (=
Z-hF OB)ESFHEER (LIFEART]
EEHTBITHABR) 2HFH BT

2020 2019
HK$ ’000 HK$'000
FET TF#ET
6,468 9,304

36 70

6,504 9,374




14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 14. BEME (&)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

£ 21,000,000/ 7T

1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,0017% 7T 26,000,000/ 7T
6,000,0017% 7T 27,000,000/% JT

Nil to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$7,000,000

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, none
of five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

=S (LIFARAES) 2MENF
THIEEMAZIT

2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-hF
Number of Number of
employees employees

ES A 1ES N Z
1 —
1 3
1 —
- 1
3 4

REBEE_ZT_FTFR=FE-—NLF=H
“t+—HIEFE RAEmaFATHER
EXRERERAMNE  MAREIFER
A B &= AT ERA T ER B S A
ERBFBREMARSE LR INAR 2 58
Bhs Ve RBER A
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

15. INCOME TAX 15. FTS%
The amount of income tax in the consolidated statement of eERkEMETEKRRCMEHERE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents: (N
2020 2019
—E-SHF —h&F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax & BiF{ 18 — F&FIS
— tax for the year —FRNIHIR 707 1,240
— over-provision in respect of —BAEFEBEEE
prior years (39) (1,690)
668 (450)
Current tax — PRC Enterprise EHRIE-FECEMSH
Income Tax
— under-provision in respect of —BEFEREBETRE
prior years 521 735
1,189 285
Deferred tax (note 33) EERIIR (H15#33)
— current year —REE (5,532) (3,861)
Income tax credit B & (4,343) (3,576)
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15. INCOME TAX (Continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment.) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “BIll”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable
profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
assessable profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at
16.5%. The assessable profits of corporations not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI respectively.

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Enterprise Income
Tax rate of the subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the
PRC is 25% (2019: 25%)).

15. FR8% (&)

R-ZE-—NEFE=A=-+—R FEI*r&
BB (CE—LFBB (BF]) (F75%) 1K
PIEZR) ([EFR])  BERS|#ENESHMK
Fle BERR-_ZBE—NF=ZA=ZF+N\BHEE
% WRB A TR - RIEF SRS -
A &R B E2,000,000/8 7T & 2R B B 5
128.25% 1 B - 2,000,000/% 7T LA + FE R Y
A AE16.5% B B E_T _TF R
TE-NFZAZ+—BHLFE FEHRK
BHTTEERAR Z ERBG T A5 EE
BE— T E16.5% T

RERSHERRBELHS ([RBREX
BEDRAUIOER AR REREE R
LRBEMKLZ B AR BABMRE
HEMRBREZEE S A ZERAMER-

RIBFBRITEOE - AR BNH B ML

ZHBRAZEEMERMEAE25% (=
T—NF:25%)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

15. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

15. R 8% (&)

FARBRRERESEE KA BEEKE
RPN ZBRFrS B AT R 2 SRR T :

2020 2019
S 323 —T-NF
HK$'000 % HK$000 %
FET % FET %
Loss before income tax BB AERE (105,174) (68,878)
Tax calculated at the rates, applicable to & H\ A BB 5K FT & 4 i 74
profits in the countries concerned Bz HEGE TR (17,796) 16.9 (12,014) 17.4
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for N AIHIK T BRI BI X 2 B
tax purpose FE 7,393 (7.0) 7,698 (11.2)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERVABA 2 TBFE
tax purpose (312) 0.3 (369) 0.5
Over-provision in respect of prior years B FEBERE - - (955) 14
Under-provision in respect of prior years B FEBEET 2 482 (0.5) - -
Tax effect of temporary difference not AEREREZRETIBYE
recognised (1,716) 1.6 (56) 0.1
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised I E R 2 HIBEE 2
By 7,606 (7.2) 2,120 (3.1)
Income tax credit FEREe (4,343) 4.1 (3,576) 5.1
16. DIVIDENDS 16. RE

The board of directors does not recommend the payments
of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020
(2019: nil).
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17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RABER A EBRER LB EERTY
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BIEA TSR E -

following data:

2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss B
Loss for the year attributable to the  AAFTESRERRETEEN
owners of the company for the RAaEB ANEEFRNER
purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share (100,831) (65,302)

Number of shares

B 17 8 B
‘000 ‘000
FiR Fhg
Weighted average number of ordinary A LAzt E &% B AR & #5E EiE
shares for the purpose of basic =38 A% HNRE 15 &
and diluted loss per share 4,055,350 4,055,350
Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2020 BE-ZE-_ZFR-_TE—NF=-A=+—
and 2019 are the same as the basic loss per share. The HIEFE SREEEERGRELNEE
computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended HE - HRBRARITRREEEERS
31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 does not assume the BEERLD HEHAEEE_T-FTF=A
Company’s outstanding convertible notes since the assumed T+ —HBEZZE-NF=A=1+T—HI1H
conversion of convertible notes would result in a decrease in ErzEREFEEBTES RARRERL
loss per share. Tz TR E R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 —F=FF=A=+—HIFFF

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ -BERFRE

Leasehold Furnitures Office Motor
improvements Machinery  and fixtures equipment vehicles  Site offices Total
HENELS BE HARRE BORE EE  HERAE @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FiET FET FET FET FET FET FiET
Cost: BA:

At 1 April 2018 RZZE-\EMA—H 2,758 58,222 3,062 10,984 46,506 15,225 136,757
Additions B - 16,410 - 3 4,026 - 20,439
Disposals HE - (700) - - (6,713 - (7,413
Exchange differences BREE (41) = - 29) - - (64)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NF=A=1+—H 2,717 73,932 3,062 10,964 43819 15,205 149,719

Adjustments upon application of ~ FAJEF B /551 75 R & %8

HKFRS 16 F165k 2 AR - - - - (302) - (302)
At1 April 2019 RZZ-nEMA—H 2,117 73,932 3,062 10,964 43517 15,205 149,417
Additions AE - 1,100 5 7 6,364 - 7,476
Disposals HE = (500) - (189) (6,294) - (5,979)
Exchange differences BREE (40) - - 21) - - 61)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-FF=A=1+—A 2,677 74,532 3,067 10,765 44,587 15,225 150,853
Accumulated depreciation: ZE:

At 1 April 2018 RZZ-\FMA—-A 1,586 35,117 2,417 8,852 32,462 14,986 95,480
Depreciation charge for the year £ RFTERS (#210)

(Note 10) 626 13,810 202 813 6,283 129 21,863
Eliminated on disposals HER - (175) - - (5,736) - (5,911)
Exchange differences BREE ) - - (11) - - (15)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-nE=A=1+-H 2,208 48,752 2,679 9,654 33,009 15,115 11,417
Adjustments upon application of P JEF B /51 5 5 & %8|

HKFRS 16 F16E 2 A% - - - - (161) - (161)
At1 April 2019 RZZ-nEMA—H 2,208 48,752 2,679 9,654 32,848 15,115 111,256
Depreciation charge for the year SR ERS (#i210)

(Note 10) 405 12,096 187 631 5,293 103 18,715
Eliminated on disposals HEREHH - (488) - (185) (4,833) - (5,506)
Exchange differences EREE @ - - (17) - - (19)
At 31 March 2020 WZZ-TF=A=1-H 2,611 60,360 2,866 10,083 33,308 15,218 124,446
Net book value: BEFE:

At 31 March 2020 R-B-EF=A=1-H 66 14,172 201 682 11,279 7 26,407
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NE=A=1+—-H 509 25,180 383 1,310 10,810 110 38,302
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18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continueqd)

The carrying amount of the Group’s motor vehicles held under
finance lease amounted to HK$141,000 as at 31 March 2019.
Upon initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group’s motor
vehicles were classified as right-of-use assets.

18. W% HMERRE (&)

RZZE-—NF=RA=+—H8 XEERE
BMEMERE 2 TEZRHEER141,0008
TLe R TR E BB ELERIF165%
B AEE 2 AENRRERAEEE-

During the year, the Group carried out a review of the

REN AEBECHZENE BELREB
ZA O REITERN ZFEEARAE
ERELATIEREAIZHO MBI KRR
MEEEZ IR RAEREER
EEFT - RBE_ZT_FTFER-_FT-NF
A=+ RLEFE BEERREER-

recoverable amount of those property, plant and equipment.
These assets are used in the Group’s performance of
provision of civil engineering services reportable segment.
The recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been
determined on the basis of their value in use. No impairment
loss has been recognised during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. RAREEE
Assets related
to television
Leased Motor broadcasting
properties vehicles business Total
HER
BREY
HEWE B BHZEE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Cost: B
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZE-NFHA—H
(&&3) 9,036 141 4,809 13,986
Additions NE - 2,400 - 2,400
Exchange realignment i 5 F R (104) - - (104)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-ZF=A=+—H 8,932 2,541 4,809 16,282
Accumulated depreciation: e
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-AEMA—R - - - -
Charge for the year FRHEY 4,505 340 2,366 7,211
Exchange realignment i 5 A& (36) - - (36)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-_ZF=F=1+—H 4,469 340 2,366 7175
Carrying amounts BHE
At 31 March 2020 RZE-Z¥=8=1+-H 4,463 2,201 2,443 9,107
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZE-NFWA—H
(E7)) 9,036 141 4,809 13,986
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

19.

200

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continueq)

Details of total cash outflow of leases is set out in the
consolidated cash flow statements.

During the current year, the Group leases certain office
premises, certain motor vehicles and assets related to
television broadcasting business with lease term of between 1
to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The carrying amount of the Group’s motor vehicles held under
finance lease amounted to HK$2,201,000 as at 31 March
2020.

Lease liabilities of HK$10,156,000 are recognised with the
related right-of-use assets of HK$9,107,000 at 31 March
2020. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
securities for borrowing purpose.
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Television
broadcasting
right
ERBRE
HK$ 000
T
Cost: B :
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, R-ZFEE—NFEMWMBA—H-
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 — = A&E—A=+—8-
“E-AFHA-BR
—E-TF=-A=+—H 567,000
Accumulated amortisation and impairment: SN RRE:
At 1 April 2018 RZF—/\FEA—A 504,322
Amortisation for the year (Note 10) EREE (F1E10) 18,316
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-ZTEE—hhE=A=+—BK
—E-AFWMA—H 522,638
Amortisation for the year (Note 10) FEREES (B1E10) 18,367
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-ZTF=A=+—8 541,005
Carrying amount: BRMEE :
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZEFE=H=+—H 25,995
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE—hF=A=+—H 44,362

Intangible assets represent television broadcasting
right acquired by the Group. The useful life of television
broadcasting right is 10 years.

Due to the continuous loss making in the television
broadcasting business for previous years, the directors of
the Company assessed the recoverable amount of intangible
assets as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019.

20. EEE

B EERASERMEE 2 EREME-
EREREZAERAFEFHA T

HRBEFEERENEBHEESE
B ARRERCHER T _FTF=A
=t BER-ZT-AF=ZA=+t—HZE
FEERRE SR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

20.

21.

202

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The directors of the Company reassessed the recoverable
amount of the intangible assets at 31 March 2020 and 31
March 2019 and determined that no impairment loss was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
March 2020 and 31 March 2019. The recoverable amount of
intangible assets was assessed by reference to the value in
use calculation.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets have been allocated for impairment
testing purposes to the cash-generating units of television
broadcasting business (“television broadcasting CGU”).

The directors of the Company have appointed an independent
valuer to perform a business valuation on the television
broadcasting CGU containing intangible assets which was
acquired from the business combination of Xinhua TV Asia-
Pacific Operating Co., Limited (“Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific”)
during year ended 31 March 2012.
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21.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts of
television broadcasting right (including in intangible assets set
out in note 20) before impairment loss, have been allocated to
the television broadcasting CGU are as follows:

R IE

Television broadcasting right

The recoverable amount of television broadcasting CGU has
been determined on the basis of value in use calculation
and is based on certain key assumptions. The value in use
calculation is based on cash flow projections prepared from
financial budgets approved by the directors of the Company
covering a 5-year period and a discount rate of 18.46%
(2019: 22.14%). Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate ranged of 2.5% (2019: 2.5%)
for different countries and the growth rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the industry. The discount
rates used reflect specific risks to the segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019,
no impairment loss was recognised in respect of intangible
assets as the recoverable amount was higher than the carrying
amount of the unit which was assessed by reference to the
value in use calculation.

The management believes that any reasonable possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of television broadcasting CGU to
exceeds its recoverable amount.

BTEAEREMNR (&)

RETRERH  ERENE (BREENH
H0Z B EE) MR RERER 2 RE
BEESEZERBICREELEN &5
LIS

2020 2019
—z-%F —z2-n%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
88,927 145,627

BEREMReEEEN 2T E S5 IIK
BEREBETEET YERETEER
R FHEBEENENENARRESIE
Z—IHERERFEMETEE £18.46%2
BRIRR (ZZT—NF :122.14% ) RE RS
REEAN - ZAFHEI7ASRECHEA
HARBERNF2.5% (ZF—NF:2.5%)
ZEERERHEE MERETHATEZF
HREABRER -FIRA AR ERMSF
ZHEERE-

ZTECRFE=A=F+—HEKZ=ZE—AN
A=+—BLFE arakEEE
2EFEREEFEMFEZENER
%&Wﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ééﬁmﬂ@%ﬁ°

=

HZE
F=
/\\\

ERERAR/EMZERRZEMAESIE
BT eLNERENRSELENLZ
FEHAEBEEEATRESRE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

22. JOINT OPERATIONS 22 b
Detalils of investment in joint operations as at 31 March 2020 R-E_TER_T—HF=A=+—H
and 2019 were as follows: REBLEZIREFBHOT
Principal
Name Place of operation Participating shares activity
8 EE A S RLA TEXB
2020 2019
—BEF —E-NEF

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 40% 40% Civil engineering
Venture (DC/2012/04) operating in Hong Kong

FEEEEE (DC/2012/04) REBLEZ B LESEDHE TARTE

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (DC/2012/07) operating in Hong Kong

FEEEEE (DC/2012/07) REBLE B LEGEDE AT

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (DC/2012/08) operating in Hong Kong

FTEEREEE (DC/2012/08) REBLE B LEGERE AT

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 17% 17% Civil engineering
Venture (5/WSD/13) operating in Hong Kong

TEEZEREG/WSD/N3) NREBLEZIFBEEESERE TARIE

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2015/03) operating in Hong Kong

FTEMEERE (CV/2015/03) REBLE B LEGE R TARIRE

Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49% Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2016/10) operating in Hong Kong

2R E(CV/2016/10) REBLE B LEGE R AT

Note: /’(ﬁ/ﬂ- .

Pursuant to the terms of the joint agreements, the profit sharing for each RIBGEHHEENR LB ELESFZE

year of all joint operations listed herein above shall be distributed to the MoK EREEE MGz RIS THE

joint operators in proportion to their respective interests. BAEaER-
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Trade receivables (note (i)
Allowance for expected credit losses

Other receivables and prepayments
(note (iii))
Deposits

Notes:

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

B 5 UNGRIA (i)
BHEEEERE

H b & UK IR B B R
(1 i (i) )
Re

k>

i) Trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period mainly

derived from provision of construction works on civil engineering

contracts. The related customers are mainly government

department/organisation and reputable corporations. The Group

does not hold any collateral over these balances.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, is

as follows:

Current or less than 1 month

1 to 3 months

More than 3 months but
less than 12 months

More than 12 months

BUEA Sk B 1 {E A
12318 A
HBiE3E AE LM 12(8A

HBid121@ A

23. ESZ R HMEWKE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
40,841 61,930
(11,866) (3,946)
28,975 57,984
43,592 43,675
11,985 4,079
84,552 105,738

Bt -

RBERRZEZRRFBTIERBRHE L
ARIRBANZBETI R -HBEEFPFEERK
FEERFS, B R B BRI 2 B¥ - AEEY
B FERTEEMER-

B 5 RUGIA (BRI ER) BEmEHARR
BRZABZREDNTAOT

2020 2019
—E-EE —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
28,975 57,959

- 25

28,975 57,984
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continueqd)

Notes: (Continued)

()

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

The Group grants an average credit period of 30 days (2019: 30
days) to its trade customers of contract works. Application for
progress payments of contract works is made on a regular basis.

Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses of
trade receivables:

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade
receivables in accordance with simplified approach set out in

23. ESRHMEWFIE£)

Bz (&)

0 (%)
AEBMAEAHIIRYEHESZETH308
TN 0B ZEEH-ANIRE
ERIEE S T
EEENSERY R E R EEE

BE-Z-ZHE=-A=+-RAR-ZT-IF
=A= + FBIEFE 2HRHAEEBERY

HKFRS 9 for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019. BEMEWE S FIERBESMBFERELR
B P B RS A TERR o

HK$'000

FET

Balance as at 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FOA—HE% 3,868

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) FEHEEEER ([BEHREEEE]) BE 78
Balance as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 —E-NEF=A=t—HK

T-NFNA—BZ#&#% 3,946

Allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”) il ,HH FEEE ([BHEEEE]) BE 7,920

Balance as at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_TF=ZA=+—H2#&% 11,866

Details of assessment of expected credit losses are set out in note
41.

Trade and other receivables are short term and hence the directors
of the Company consider the carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting
periods.

It mainly consists of prepayments for insurance and new tenders
and advance payment to subcontractors.

206 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

BHMEERRZFEFBEHRMEA -

i) EBZREMEEFER/ESR RLAREE

ERREZ REMBUHAZ RRER RS
HREHRNFEREE

(i) HEFTZEERBREMNKEHRERASE

[EEZNPA-2 0



24. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract assets: ERHEE:
Retention receivables EURE &

Allowance for expected credit losses T8 Hi{Z & &5 18 # &

Contract liabilities: EHEE:

From construction work KERBETRE

Contract with customers from BEFEEKRAEGY
advertising income

Total 4Bt

Note:

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration
for work completed but not yet billed because the rights are conditional
on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain
period as stipulated in the contracts at the reporting date. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables where the rights become
unconditional. The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced
consideration received from customers, for which revenue is recognised
based on the progress of the provision of related services.

The balance of contract assets (construction service) are expected to be
recovered/settled more than one year. The Group classifies these contract
assets under current assets because the Group expects to realise them in
its normal operating cycle.

24. ENEEEHNAE

2020 2019
—E=%F —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
15,323 16,195
(6,085) (678)
9,238 15,517
58,452 54,572
4,850 10,584
63,302 65,156

Hiat -

ARNEETRRAKERETRBHARELERN
TREMERREZENER RERNHRS A
RENAREPREOREN —EBERY RS
BRJ]TMBRITEE - ERMRR B
BHEEEBREESRUGRE aNaBTREY
FRPUEMBNRERR LR RER A
AR B0 HE [ B RR

BREE (BERY) 2 SHTEFV—Frilkm=,
BE- AEEBUEEANEEDERRDEER
T DRAREEBHNERSEBRTEBEHE
=2
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Note: (Continued))

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets is as

follows:
Within one year —FRA
More than one year —FE

Contract liabilities which are expected to be settled within Group’s normal
operating cycle, are classified as current.

Revenue form construction work recognised during the year ended 31
March 2020 that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the
year was amounted to HK$3,000,000 (2019: HK$6,572,000).

Revenue from advertising income recognised during the year ended 31

March 2020 that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the
year was amounted to HK$5,734,000 (2019: HK$NIil).
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24. ENEEENEE (B)

wis: (&)

BHEEREHEENEMEENT

2020 2019
—E-EHE —E-RE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
9,238 15,517
9,238 15,517

RN ASEEREERMTENZENAE
WAERRE

HE-_Z-_TF=A=1+—HIEFE FAFWNE
B EZ B EREL TS £3,000,000/4 7T (=
T — N4 :6,572,000/87T) °

HE_Z-_ZF=A=+—HLFE FAFVAE
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24,

25.

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses
of contract assets

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for

24. ENEEENEE (B)

BHEERREEERREZLE

BHE_ZT_TF=-A=+—HILEFERE

contract assets in accordance with simplified approach set out BBV MEEREISRATEZ L EAE
in HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2020. MAENEERAHENEEEESZ

HK$'000

FET

Balance at 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\FHNA—H & 683

Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”) EHEESE ([BHEEEE]) B#ERQ (5)

Balance at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 —hWE=ZA=+—HBRZZ—hIF

WMA—HZ#&% 678

Allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”) FEHEESE ([BHREEBE]) B 5,407

Balance at 31 March 2020 RIZZZE=A=+—Hz&#% 6,085

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FELMRESF:
— R BB ANE 55

Unlisted securities:
— Equity securities in PRC

Unlisted equity securities represented the securities issued
by a private entity incorporated in the PRC. The private entity
is principally engaged in provision of audio and video mobile
content services in Express Rail in the PRC. As at 31 March
2019, the Group held 20% of equity interest in the unlisted
equity securities. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group had disposed of the entire interest in the unlisted equity
securities at approximately HK$1,245,000.

25 FRHEMEERBRAFEARZE
MEE

2020 2019
—B-%F —FNF
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET TR

- 1,245

I BB E S 48— R R B L2
MABRETZES ZMAEBRBEIER

HE m%m tSEB B E A R IERNA AR
B-RZE—NF=ZA=1+—H x5E8#H
BIFLETIRAFLH0WRE -HE T =
TFE=-RA=F+—ALFE FAEEBZRY
1,245,000 L HERIELTIRAB S 22
otz o
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25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continuea)

26.

210 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

The above equity investment was irrecoverably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income since 1 April
2018 as the Group considers the investment to be long term

strategic in nature.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed securities:
— Equity securities listed
in Hong Kong

The fair values of the listed securities are determined with
reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

At 31 March 2019, the fair value of suspended trading
security listed in Hong Kong with the amount of approximately
HK$115,000 was reference to the valuation carried by Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuers. The fair value of suspended trading
security listed in Hong Kong was valued by using adjusted
net assets value approach at 31 March 2019. The net asset
value of the suspended trading security is adjusted by the
professional judgments of valuers together with the discount
for lack of control and discount for lack of marketability.

During the year, the securities was delisted, in the opinion of
directors, the fair value is considered minimal.

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

ETES
—RE LT 2 RAE

25.

26.

ZRHMEZEAWBRATFEARZE
BMEE (&)

FlgEAEEE —_E—-N\FHUA—BEDT
ARENEEREREMEERRIEAT
BEAR REATEERAZEEBREN
BERIME -

ERESRAVTEARZEMEE

2020 2019
HK$ ’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
1,835 6,181

FHESZ A TFEDZERZEBRARHM
ERRBIFAHR TS EABEMEE

R_ZT—NFZA=+—H REBLT
ZEEFEEXES 2N FEA115,000%8
Tﬂ‘é%ﬁjééftﬁii;%ﬁﬁaﬂﬁ/ém:su
FFEERARETZHEETE PN
—NEFE=ZA=+—H REBLM2ZEE
FEEEF 2 ATENERAKEAREETF
BEXETHE-DEREERESFCEEF
BT h B RN 2 555 2 7 3 R B = 15 )

YR NR T BN TR A

RERN BEZFAED
(ERE

fRiE BEFERR/ERF



27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% — 0.30% (2019: 0.001% — 0.30%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2020, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$4,595,000 (2019:
approximately HK$2,739,000) which is not freely convertible
into other currencies.

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. BERBEEEEY

SR 1T 4 ﬁ%?ﬁﬁiﬁiﬂﬂw‘qﬂoom%%
0.30% (=ZF — 1 : 0.001%%£0.30% ) &t
5o

RZZEZTF=-A=+—H ZAEEZHES
kRS ZEBYBEEAAREHECERELD
4,595,000/ 7T ( —ZF — L4 : 492,739,000
HAT BRI BEAMER.

/BTE)

28. EZ R EMENFIR

2020 2019
—EB-EF — N4
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Trade payables B 5 RN FIA 25,355 12,327
Retention money payables FEHRER 10,019 -
Amounts due to a shareholder (note (i) FE1~ — £ Hx% RIE (H1EE0)) 20,337 17,337
Interest payables JE T FI) B 54,676 45,596
Amount due to a related party (note (i) JE 1~ — % B2 AT 3KI8 ( Bt aEi)) 2,009 2,009
Other payables and accruals b FE AT IR R FEET K 18,847 13,918
131,243 91,187

Less: payables within twelve months & - & B BB TR ER

shown under current liabilities + =8 A R E B (131,243) (88,973)
Interest payables shown under non-  FERB) B EE T PR ER 5B

current liabilities - 2,214
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continueq)

Notes:

() Amount due to a shareholder represents amount due to a major

substantial shareholder of the Company, China Xinhua NNC, which

is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i)  Amount due to a related party represented amount due to #7%E &
&AL, FEZE PO and China Xinhua NNC have a common
shareholder, Xinhua News Agency (¥ #f) . The amount is

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group normally settles trade payables within 30 days

(2019: 30 days) credit term. Based on the invoice date, ageing

analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period is

as follows:

Current or less than 1 month

1 to 3 months

More than 3 months but
less than 12 months

More than 12 months

BIEAsk 1A A
12318 A
8 @31E A {E 1218 A

Hi@121E A
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28. ESRHMBENRE (&)

Mt

O EN-2RRFEEEN -—RARTEER
RPBMEHHERB2RE AEER - 2
BRIREREE-

(i) EN—RAEALIRBRENHESERSTL
ZHIE e %EEEE %EP/UEEEPI%)T%?%EFEEJ )
B ARBRRBFEL - ZRBREER 2

BRIREREE-
AEE MU0 (ZZE—NF:308)2
1:.1*THHW/E1T%Z%FH RIB - IRIBEEER
By REHIKRE SEMNRIANREK DTN
T
2020 2019
S-S — L%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
24,239 11,234
884 225
- 868
232 -
25,355 12,327




29. LEASE LIABILITIES/FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 2. HEEE HMERERITRE

The Group leases a number of its motor vehicles. The average AEBEHEREHH - FHHEHAIF (=
lease term is 3 years (2019: 3 years). Interest rates underlying T—NF:3F) BEMEEBTNARIE
all obligations under finance leases are fixed at respective ZENENEAHBHETFTAISE (=
contract dates from 3.8% (2019: 3.8%) per annum. The —NF: 38F) - ANEEBRENEERNA
Group has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal HECHBERH YERIABESARK
amount at the end of the lease terms. No arrangements have FIVACREIE-S7 I

been entered into for contingent rental payments.

Future lease payments are due as follows: RREERNKBEBERLAT :
At 31 March 2020 R-B-_ZEFE=HA=+—H
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments payments
BREEER
BIEBEER ZHEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within one year R—F R 7,397 7,231
In more than one year and not more R — G {B- N BiB R F
more than five years 2,962 2,925
10,359 10,156
Less: Future finance charges B R E A (203) -
Present value of lease obligation HMESTZRE 10,156 10,156
Less: Amount due for settlement J T A AR EEE 2R
within 12 months (shown H(AERESEE)
under current liabilities) (7,231)
Amount due for settlement after R+ @ REEIHEE 2 K8
12 months 2,925
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES/FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 2. HEERE MEHSEAFRE (£
(Continued)
The Group entered into lease arrangements with independent REBEBIE=E TWERAER]

third parties in relation to certain properties and motor
vehicles. The lease terms ranged between 1 to 10 years
(2019: 3 years). Interest rates of underlying lease liabilities at
the date of inception is 2.07% to 5.20% and 3.8% per annum
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019, respectively. Finance lease
payables were reclassified to lease liabilities on 1 April 2019
upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 as set out in note 2.

The net carrying value of leased assets used to secure the
lease obligations was approximately HK$9,107,000 (2019:
HK$141,000).

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. Comparative information as at 31 March 2020
has not been restated. Further details on the impact of the
transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 2.
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VHEEZHE- fﬁﬁﬂ)\?uﬂoi(_ —n
F3F) RZZEZBFR-_T—NF=A
=+—H HEREaERFRBE I FF
K5 Bl £2.07%E5.20%K.3.8% ° 1L ft 5F2
& R=—ZE—NENA—BRAFTEH
IR EER F165 s E R E R KB
DEAMEAR-

ARBHEERETNEERENREFE
#)/%9,107,000/8 7T ( =F — L4 : 141,000
ABTT) °

AEBEFRCBITEREIERERER
B RE R E165  WHAER-_Z— AN
FUA—B &S UEREBETR
BEBSSHENFITRE I EAKEHEY
ZEREFRsHERBE- NZZ=F
A=+ BZUEBREHUREES B
BREEEBUEREERNFEIHETE
HE—THFBENWE2 -



At 31 March 2019

Within one year
In ' more than one year and not more
more than five years

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

5/FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

R—FR
HB—FETBRESF

BT AR RE A
82308 (DIER
BaE)

Rt—EARIHBEEL
IR

Present value

Future of minimum

Minimum lease finance lease
payments charges payments
HIEAER

REHEER KRRBMEMIZ 2 A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

43 1 42

43 1 42

42
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 30.

Liabilities for employee EERMNEBERENTIES:

benefits comprise:
Annual leave entitlement FRERN
Long service payments entitement K HIR 755 #E F

31. PROMISSORY NOTE 31.

A promissory note with a principal amount of HK$45,040,000
was issued by Profit Station Limited (“Profit Station”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 11 August 2011
(the “Issue Date”) upon the completion of the acquisition of
17% of equity interests in China New Media (HK) Company
Limited. The promissory note is unsecured, carried interest at
the rate of 3% per annum and matured on 11 August 2014.
Profit Station might early redeem all or part of the promissory
note at any time from the Issue Date. Unless previously
redeemed, Profit Station will redeem the promissory note on
its maturity date

On 11 August 2014 (the “Renewal Date”), Profit Station has
entered into the first extension agreement with the noteholder
of the promissory note pursuant to which the maturity date
of the promissory note was extended from 11 August 2014
to 11 August 2017 and the extended promissory note will
be non-interest bearing with effect from 11 August 2014 till
11 August 2017. Furthermore, the noteholder has agreed to
waive the interest accrued on the promissory note amounting
to approximately HK$4,054,000 for the period from 11 August
2011 to 11 August 2014. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remains
unchanged.
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EEEA
2020 2019
—z-%5 —2-nF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
2,474 2,028
1,198 1,522
3,672 3,650
LR

RAAElz B2 ENE A FProfit Station
Limited ([ Profit Station | ) /¥ =& ——4F )\
A+—8 ([3#1TBH]) Fea s BT 5%
B (BB BRARZITRRAEREEIT
7N %8 /345,040,000 7T Z HH 4R < A
SEBEAERKR ZFNEIEFERRZE
— g4 )\ A+—HEIH§ - Profit Stationa] 74
BT BT MEEIRATER 2325
O RIR BRIEZ ATE WA E - F AIProfit
Station$ 7 B 2| B A M Bl 4 H =% -

RZZE—HFENA+—B ([EFBEE]) -
Profit Station 8272 H, F15 2 RIEFF B AL E]
VE—MOERBE B REARER T
HRAE-Z—NENAT+—HERZE=Z
—+tFENA+—H BEERZALER
BE_E-—MNFNA+—BRBRE-ZT—+
FNA+T—HILERE N ZEFEAL
AErBhEAHLEEE —_T—FNA+—
HE=-Z—NFNA+—ABHAEEZF
8. #94,054,000/ 7T o Br Lt & oh - A L R
B2 AL R



31. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

On 15 December 2017 (the “Second Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the second extension agreement
wit the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
11 August 2017 to 31 December 2018 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 31 December 2018. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remains unchanged.

Upon the second extension, the fair value of the liability
component of the extended promissory note was reassessed
and calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Second Renewal Date. The fair
value of the extended promissory note at the Second Renewal
Date amounted to approximately HK$42,720,000. The fair
value is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a
rate of 9.393%.

On 15 February 2019 (the “Third Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the third extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
31 December 2018 to 30 June 2020 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 30 June 2020. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remains unchanged.

31. RARE (&)

RZZE—tF+-A+HB ([EREH
HEHA ) - Profit Stationf2# ¥, Z4& ~ ZiE %
BABRIMN B RER W Bt A A E
BZRBHEE-ZE—tFNA+—HEE
2" \F+-A=1+—H BgIEE
EREEEE _T—+FENA+—H#E
B N\F+-A=1+—BLLERFFE
SEEE o Br Lt E AN AR 2 H A
R TE

REZRERE KR AR ZR A
EH;H 2 AFERE R BEFHBBRTIANE
BIAEZZSEMGHNEEMETE LT
AR ER 2 AFERE ZIRERHAH
A#142,720,00078 7T - AFE T ERBITRR
S IMEIAI.393% 2 IR KT E -

RZZE-—NhF-_A+HRB([F=XEHAB
HA]) - Profit StationE2# ¥, 21k 7 ZigiE g
ABRINE=ZRER B Bt FHLERE
ZHBMABZE-NF+A=+T—HE
EE-_ZE-_FEFA=Z+H BEEEERZ
EREREEE T —tF/\A+—HERE
ZEZEFXNAZTHERFRRIERT
BooBr BE SN H O RIR 2 AR R A&
s g
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

31.

32.

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

At the beginning of the year N

Gains arising on extinguishment of
promissory note (Note 8)

Interest charged at effective interest
rate of 9.393% (Note12)

Interest charged at effective interest
rate of 9.707% (Note12)

Interest payables

(H17£8)

FEBRX (Kfit12)

FEBRX (Kfit12)
FEAHF) 8

At the end of the year RER

Upon the third extension, the fair value of the liability
component of the extended promissory note was reassessed
and calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Third Renewal Date. The fair value
of the extended promissory note at the Third Renewal Date
amounted to approximately HK$43,101,000. The fair value
is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a rate of
9.707%.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes
with the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000,
carried interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of
the consideration for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia-
Pacific Operating Co., Limited. Each note entitles the
holder to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share.

218 CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

IREBFE.393E T E

REBRNEI7T07TEE

SRS S EL Y s

32.

AARE (&)
2020 2019
—E-EF —h&E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
43,123 43,026
- (1,939)
- 3,032
2,890 356
(1,355) (1,352)
44,658 43,123
REZIRERE SEBZAHLRE B
EBDZATFEREZREHFEHIUE
BIAZEEMSNEXEM[RFGE KT
B AREBR AFEREZREHNAH

A#943,101,0007 7T © ”“$TETJT7RFHTEEEEE
EREEATO7T% 2 IR KRAHE o

JEREE

RZEBE——FE+ A LB ARAETAKA
% %8 & #9607,030,00058 7T 1R F B K58

AFRZABERE 1’?%451%%)?%@ 157 58
ABERERADZBAIRE - BHER

B Ti58 AEFIZE RS D #90.196/8 1.2
HBER B AL B



32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Conversion may occur at any time between 9 December 2011
and 8 December 2014. If the notes have not been converted,
the Company will redeem on 9 December 2014 at the
outstanding principal amount. Interest of 5% per annum will
be paid annually until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the first
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the
maturity date of the convertible notes will be extended for 3
years and the conversion period will accordingly be extended
for 3 years to 9 December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the
convertible notes will be amended from 5% per annum to 3%
per annum for the extended period, being from 9 December
2014 to 9 December 2017.

On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to
9 December 2018. Except the abovementioned, other terms
and conditions of the convertible notes remain unchanged.

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 2 years and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 2 years to
9 December 2020. Except the abovementioned, other terms
and conditions of the convertible notes remain unchanged.

32. MERARRE (&)

HB|ARZTE——F+ANLBE=F
—OE+-RAN\B R AERET MR
BERLB ARARER T —NF+=
ANBEAREBRASBEFEER - FF5E
ZHERBEEFEIN EEHERRIE
@o

R-ZZE—UFE+_—_ANB AREEHREEK
HRARRER 2 W — B AP B ES
HERBEILE—HBEARE BILEARQ
AEPEFENEEREREEETTRR
S8R ETER RGN - A ()T RRER
ZHEEBTERIF BB EELTIR
FEZT—tF+ZANHE: R()EKE
MBI ZE2—mF+=—AhLBE=ZZT—+
FTZANB) 2 BREER 2 FEEH
BF5EEIREFIE-

R-E—tF+-A+=H ARAEH
ARG RIRE—RFB AT B ENR
BERMILE _MBREZE BILAR
mlE PR E N ENEERER BB A A
SRZGERRGS AP BERE 5
HESERIF AL RRBHABTERIF
E-T-N\F+-ANB-BEXAE
S AT R AR R AR 2 BN R R R A M R

o

RZZE-—NF+ZANB ARREER
SRR R B — A AR B ERE
BERPITLFE=MNAERRE BUHAQA
HEp B EREERBREE BRERRE
B2 ARG R AT R R & 2 B )
B E R M B3 A R R A
E-T-TE+-_ANAB-BEXPAE
S AT R AR R AR 2 ELAD R B R A M
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The convertible notes contain two components, liability
component and equity component. The equity component
is presented in equity heading “convertible notes equity
reserves”. The effective interest rate of the liability component

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

32. AMRRER (&)

RAEDBIE=F -

T#W%ﬁmﬁﬂ%”i

Rl RAE

KRR - B AR D N P [ A
xmﬁ%/ﬁﬁJﬁT£W°ﬁi%nzi

+tFT-ANBRRE

220

is 8.84% from 9 December 2017 to 9 December 2018 and
10.795% from 9 December 2018 to 9 December 2020
respectively.

Equity component at 1 April 2018

Transfer to accumulated losses upon maturity
of convertible notes

Recognition of equity component on extension
of convertible notes

Deferred tax liabilities arising on extension
of convertible notes

Equity component at 31 March 2019,
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020

Z-N\F+-ANRILR8B4ENE =
?—/\E—I- ANBRBE-ZE-_THF+—

ANHIEA10.795E -
HK$’000
FET
R-ZE—\FWUA—HZEZFBD 1,304
Al EE I ERR E S RETE R
(1,304)
E/\\\Eﬁﬂgﬁﬂﬁm%ﬁﬁ‘fﬁﬁnw$ E% )
17,245
R EEEE CRIEHIBEEE
(2,845)
R-B-AE=A=+—81"
—E-hFNA-HRZ-ZZE-EF
=A=+—HzEZHD 14,400
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Liability component at 1 April 2018
Interest charged calculated at an effective

interest rate of 8.84% (Note 12)
Interest payable

Liability component at 9 December 2018
before extension
Recognition of equity component on extension
of convertible notes
Capital contribution arised from extension
of convertible notes
Interest charged calculated at an effective interest
rate of 10.795% (Note 12)
Interest payable

Liability component at 31 March 2019 and
1 April 2019

Interest charged calculated at an effective interest
rate of 10.795% (Note 12)

Interest payable

Liabilities component at 31 March 2020

32. MERARRE (&)

R_E—N\FMNA—BzEERD

RERFES4EFE 2 FEMAX
(Kat12)

JEASHFILB,

R-ZE—N\FE+_ANLHEHLLERAZ
BEHD
MERABREBEER ERTD

ERAIBBEZEREEZHE

REBFE10.795EHE 2 F B
(H1at12)
JE A7) B

R-ZE—-hE=F=1+—HBK
—T-hFNA—HZAEBRS
REBRFE10.7965EFE 2 FEMAX
(Kat12)
JEASHFILB,

R-E-ZEF=A=+—-H2
EEHD

HK$'000
FAET

247,511

14,843
(5,324)

257,030

(17,245)

(19,352)

7,429
(2,387)

225,475

25,240
(7,725)

242,990
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33. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets RIEFRTEE B
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFHIBEE

The followings are the deferred tax balances recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements thereon:

33.

ERERL R

REJIREEMBEIREK & TELEHE
BENMBECHRENE -BEERBERDN
wmT - HEBERZA

2020 2019
HK$ ’000 HK$'000
FET TF#ET
124 320
(7,927) (13,655)
(7,803) (13,335)

R MBI ER R ER B RIAE SRR
HEEHWT:

Accelerated  Allowance

Intangible  Convertible depreciation for expected
assets notes allowances credit losses Total
mEFE BHEE
ENEE FWHAREE B BERE @zt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2018 R-Z-NEmA—F 10,343 179 4,137 (308) 14,351
Deferred tax liability arising on extension ERUARZBESZ
of convertible notes EERIEARE - 2,845 - - 2,845
Credited to profit or loss for FARBREA (H1515)
the year (Note 15) (3,023 (619) (207) (12) (3,861)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-Z-nE=ZA=+-BR
—E-NEmMA-A 7,320 2,405 3,930 (320) 13,335
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss for FRMER (GIA) /K
the year (note 15) (Hit15) (3,031) (1,424) (1,273) 196 (5,532)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZF=HA=+-H 4,289 981 2,657 (124) 7,803
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33.

34.

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continuea)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$149,488,000 (31 March 2019:
approximately HK$115,707,000) available for offset against
future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.

SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each

Authorised: ERE

At 1 April 2018, RZE—N\FEOA—H"
31 March 2019, —E-NF=A=+—8"
1 April 2019 and “E-NENA—BR
31 March 2020 —E-_TF=A=1+—H

Issued and fully paid: BRITREAR:

At 1 April 2018, R-ZZE—N\FWMA—AH-
31 March 2019, —E-nF=ZA=+—8"
1 April 2019 and “E-NFHA—AK
31 March 2020 —ET-TF=ZA=+—H

33

34.

ERERLE (&)

PSR NEBBRBATIESENA
149,488,000 T (ZE—NLF=A=+—
H : £9115,707,000/% 7T ) 7] A {E K 48 7 4%
PR ER 4588 7 oK SO F o B A 2R 2R a1 2R OR
UATER - R A T TH B R RIEE R
BEE-

@S
EREE0.00IB T ZEER
Number of Share
shares capital
BB [N
HK$ 000
FrETT
500,000,000,000 500,000
4,055,349,947 4,055
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—EFE=A=+—ALFE

35. RESERVES 35. f#fE
The following describes the nature and purpose of each TR E AR S ERENEES R
reserve within owners’ equity: B :

Reserve

f#1E

Share premium

etn i (B

Foreign currency translation
reserves

SN E

Other reserves

H i

Accumulated losses

REtEBE

Description and purpose
Wik B §

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders provided that
immediately following that date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

BERSHESQGE ARARMEEAIHS IR TRER  HEEZERIKRMR
B2 BEE AARKEHNBEEBBIZFIHNER-

Foreign currency translation reserve represents foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(q).

INEM B R IBIERE RN ER M MRTE L 2 IMEME H Z58 - Li#iw
BRI FT4QHS 2 S BUERRIE -

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Reorganisation.

ARG EMBHEEMBARKARTKB ANGEEEFEREAR
AIREEZHRMBEIT RO EEZZRE -

Cumulative net losses recognised in profit or loss.

RIBz P HER 2 ReHERIFRR -
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 36. @& EEIE4+- 28 EHE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Lease
Liabilities/
Finance
lease  Promissory  Convertible Interest
payables note notes payables Total
HEEE/
MEHE
EARIE RAEE TRREE ERFE @zt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FHET FET FET FHET FET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\ENA—H 2,515 43,026 247 511 36,533 329,585
Cash outflow: Rem:
Interest paid RENEULS (26) - - - (26)
Repayment of finance lease payables BERERERNTE (2,473) - - - (2,473
Other non-cash movement: Hitt kR e 25! -
Galns arising from extinguishment of BEAAZREE 2 W
promissory note - (1,939 - - (1,939
Recognition of convertible notes ERUAREERER
equity reserves on extension of AREBRERRE
convertible notes - - (17,245) - (17,245)
Capital contribution arised from extension ~ ERAIBARZEES 2
of convertible notes HE - - (19,352) - (19,352)
Interest expense FBHX 26 3,388 22,272 - 25,686
Interest payables FERT RIS - (1,352) (7,711) 9,063 -
Net debt as at 31 March 2019 R=Z-n$=ZA=+-H
ZEBRE 42 43,123 225,475 45,596 314,236
At 1 April 2019 RZZE-NFNA—H 42 43,123 225,475 45,596 314,236
Adoption of HKFRS 16 RINEBHBHREERF 165 17,179 - - - 17,179
Adjusted balance as at 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNHA—H
B RERER 17,221 43,128 225,475 45,596 331,415
Cash outflow: Rem:
Repayment of lease liabilities EEREaE (9,831) - - - (9,831)
Other non-cash movement: HittkR %5
Additions to of right-of-use assets NEGRABEE 2,400 - - - 2,400
Interest expense MEF% 366 2,890 25,240 - 28,496
Interest payables FERTHE - (1,355) (7,725) 9,080 -
Net debt as at 31 March 2020 R-Z-ZF=RA=+-H
ZEBFE 10,156 44,658 242,990 54,676 352,480
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37.

226

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed at
a board meeting held on 11 August 2010 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will
expire on 10 August 2020. Under the Share Option Scheme,
the Board may grant options to the Directors, employees,
non-executive Directors, suppliers of goods and services,
customers, advisors and consultants, shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company with the
payment of HK$1 per offer.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the Shares of the Company in issue at the
date of listing of the Shares unless the Company obtains the
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
such 10% limit, in which case the total number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company as “refreshed” shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the Shareholders on the refreshment of the limit. The number
of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the Shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s Shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s Shareholders.
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant
of options. Options may be exercised in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his legal personal representatives) at any time
before the expiry of the period to be determined and notified
by the board to the grantee which in any event shall not be
longer than ten years commencing on the date of the offer
letter and expiring on the last day of such ten-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors and will not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, the average closing prices of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options or the nominal value of the Shares.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing the
shares.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019,
no share option was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and
there is no outstanding share option under the Share Option
Scheme.

37. LR RER AR (&)

R R AN B H R 21E % %
B AR - WA E IR H B R ST
1TBTL A EA(REEZEEEREA)A
REZFSEBETERBAARANGRE (EH
WRAANERNE EANRFEES T FT
KR+ R &RRE— B ER - EAE
BEERE T BIFTE 2 TR ATAR LE 1R T IA 38
) Em A 2 R AR B RITE 2 RE S
BRE-1TEEREFET WK MERA
TZHEZ&E ROREH A BERZ
PP 2 Wi & - AR in X B B g IR th
BRI LA 5 B HRZ TR
mE: Sk zEE-

FrB AR RERN 2 BEFMGT A
Rk o BRETTRD SN AERBE L EALADEE
S HEE B ERBE Sk B ARE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

38.

228

COMMITMENTS 38. &iE
(@ As at 31 March 2020, the Group had outstanding capital @ RZZEZTF=—A=+—H0 1%
commitments in respect of purchase of property, plant MBEME BEREERES MG
and equipment of approximately HK$3,000,000 (2019: WMRZEBINERBEZ R RET
nil) contracted, but not provided in the consolidated B R EYE 493,000,000 7T (ZE— N,
financial statements. FoE\E)o
(o) The Group as lessee (o) AEEEARFAMEA
2019
—ZT-hF
HK$'000
FrET
Minimum lease payments paid FARBLEHEEE N2
under operating leases during HEEERK
the year 14,425
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future R-ZZE-NFE=A=+—8 XxEFRE
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating TR BEH L ERE 2 RRHEEEK
leases which fall due as follows: ZEEERAT
2019
—ZE-NF
HK$'000
FET
Within one year —FR 11,883
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEERFA
(BEEEMRSF) 9,365
21,248
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEHENREREETHAENE &
Group for certain of its office property, director's quarter, EREE - ATHAERME HERBWRES
certain office equipment assets related to, television FREE HERSLREBEHRE &S
broadcasting business, the use of satellite capacity and HEZHESRNT1Z10F 2 EMNHEE T
broadcasting services with lease term of between 1 to 10 BEREMESHNABEMHERAET B
years. All operating lease contracts contain market review AARBEITEAEBLNE NEBERBELH
clauses in the event that the Group exercises its option to WEEEBEEESE -

renew. The Group does not have an option to purchase the
leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.
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39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
31 March 2019, the Group had entered into the following
transactions with related parties which, in the opinion of the
directors, were conducted on normal commercial terms and in
the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

(@ During the year, the Group entered into the following
related party transactions:

Related party relationship Type of transaction
BESEEFR REZEH
China Xinhua NNC Annual fee for television

broadcasting right (note (i)

B E R E E AR A EREBHEFE (M)

Accrued interests on convert
notes (note (i)

R IR 2 A B (AT ()

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the agreements signed between the Group and China
Xinhua NNC on 5 September 2011, China Xinhua NNC granted
the television broadcasting rights to Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific for the
period form 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2021 on an exclusive
basis with an annual fee of HK$1,000,000 payable by Xinhua TV
Asia-Pacific to China Xinhua NNC prior to 31 December 2016,
and approximately HK$3,000,000 payable by Xinhua TV Asia-
Pacific to China Xinhua NNC with effect from 1 January 2017. The
transactions constituted continuing connected transactions under
the GEM Listing Rules. This transaction is exempted for reporting.

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2020, the convertible notes
interests payable to China Xinhua NNC was amounted
to approximately HK$7,725,000 (2019: approximately
HK$7,710,000).

EXBELRS

BRI ER e MRk A El o P EE & 4
HE-_T-TF=A=+—HRZ=ZZ—A
FZRA=+—"RILFE AEEHEHFEH
BRIV TR G EERRZERH IR
ERREEGT URAER KRB EER
B2 ETT

@ FA AEEFTIATHEESRS:

2020 2019

—EC-EAE —ZE—NF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FHEIT

3,000 3,000

ible 7,725 7,710

Wit -

() WBREASEEEFPBEHEFEESREAN-Z
——FNARAETZHE PEMETHE
EREAMESEDRAETEREEER
# OBRESENIEE _Z——F A B
EE-—FNA=ZF+—HLE-R=ZF—RX
FH+—A=+—B HEERDREEN
T EE T B E AR A 2 F & 51,000,000/
LoMEZE—+tF—A—HR FEEED
REENTENENHERBFENA
3,000,000/ 7T ° 2% X 5 B K GEM_ LT 12
AT 2 RERERS GRS EHRRATR -

iy BE-T-TF=A=+—HLLEFE Ef+$
B 2 5 B EAR A 2 AT R R AR B SRR LY
7,725,000% 7T ( == — fL4F : 497,710,000
BT °
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39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(@ During the year, the Group entered into the following

related party transactions: (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iy ~ One of the directors of the Company, Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung
(“Mr. Kan”), who is also a shareholder of the company, has
provided personal guarantee to the lessor in respect of the
Group’s lease liabilities as at 31 March 2019 which disclosed

in note 29.

As at 31 March 2019, the banking facilities of the Group were
secured by corporate guarantee executed by Shunleetat (BVI)
Limited, which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Kan,
the charges over the properties held by Mr. Kan and personal
guarantee provided by Mr. Kan.

(b)  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

The key management personnel of the Group are the directors of the
Company. Details of the remuneration paid to them during the year

are set out in note 13.

(c)  For the transactions constitutes continuing connected transactions
under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to “Connected

Transactions” under “Directors’ Report”.
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39. EXBELXRS (#)

FAAKBETUATRESIRS:
(%)

Bzt (&)

(i) ARF-—BERBHEFLELE ([B%
£ (MARRRRR) B AEER
“E-NAF=A=+-RZHEERER
HEARBEARR FIEWENME
29 °

—WFE=ZA=+—H 458
$R17 @2 & F Shunleetat (BVI) Limited (A
BHrREEERERER) B2 DEE
R BEREMFEE 2 ME 2 W KL
A PTIRAE 2 (B A FEIRVEE R -
AEBEFZEBRABEHM
AEEBXTZEBABRARAEE -FALD
NrzEEMeFIERENMFE13-

BRBKGEMLETRAETHERERS 2
ZERG F2HEFGME AN REE
5]



40. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 40. FRERFH

41.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the additions to BHE_ZT_TF=A=+—RHBILFE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were approximately MEHERHARBZFRAREERTEES
HK$2,400,000 in respect of lease arrangements of motor f&#9/52,400,00078 7T °
vehicles.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 41. €T H
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) £HMITEER
2020 2019
—EZEHF —ET-hF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Financial assets TREE
Amortised cost (including cash and ~ #$5 A (BIEE & &
cash equivalents) REFEEY) 142,186 158,476
Financial assets at fair value FiRAEMEE R EE A TE
through other comprehensive ANRZEREE
income - 1,245
Financial assets at fair value BBEREAFEARLZ
through profit or loss TRIEE 1,835 6,181
144,021 165,902
Financial liabilities SRBE
Amortised costs B SEA A 429,047 369,399

PRI EERIEREIRAS 2019/2020 FiR 231



41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, lease liabilities/finance lease
payables, promissory note and convertible notes. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(i) Credit risk management

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
its trade and other receivables, contract assets
and cash and cash equivalents. Management has
a credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of trade customers and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is
purchased. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the carrying amounts of the recognized
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 —F=FF=A=+—HIFFF

41. €RT R (&)

(b) SREREERNHRBE

ARBIZEREMTABREESRE
b UK B BB ERATFEAR
ZeRMEE - ReMReFEYM H
SHLEHEMENTIE HEAE BE
HMERNKE ALRBERABRER
F-ZEeRMITAZHBREBME
FRE-EREFE R T AERER
BEMSER (B%ER  FXERK
HiERRAR)  FERRERSES
VKR o B 5% LR 2 BRI T XX 8K
Fle B EHZERMETEEME
R BEERAMEERZTAETES
Rk

() FERREE

AEEZEERBRIEREES
KB EWRIE - B REENR
RelReFEW - TEELR
VEEBRE MAAEZZERE
B R -

AEEEHESEFPOMBIN
ETHBEEENG X (ER)
BEEEERRR —MME K
SEYERNEPRGEMR -

AEEZFERBREIEXGEAY
BHRRKMAREEREREEL
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. ERTH (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) cRERSEENREE (£)
(Continued)
EERBERE (&)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued) (i)

The default risk of the industry and country in
which customers operate also has an influence
on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end
of reporting period, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 26.5% (2019: 27.2%)
and 34.3% (2019: 54.8%) of the total trade and
other receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the four (2019: five) largest customers
respectively.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected credit losses provision for all trade
receivables and contract assets. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics.
The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting
credit risk and expected credit loss. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information.

BPEEMETERBER ZEL
R TEEERREMTE A
BREER/ RBEHR AEE 2
265% (ZE—NF:127.2% ) &
34.3% (ZZE—NF:548%)8
S REAMERGRIBLTE D RIRE
AEBSEAEPEA(ZE—N
FRH)RBEFR HEFE—EER
2B R -

AEE AT AT BT
WEERFRAT A R EEE
BEHRE G ZERIRFAA
EUBESRELAEHNEEERAR
HEHEEEERE - RETER
HEEBR BRREZERFICE
REAREERBREHEDHE KE
BEETEL SN LR E
EERRLEMEEBEZ @i
REZE ERERAGAER
ARBEXFZAEEESR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 —F=FF=A=+—HIFFF

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. SRTITHEE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies b) REARSEENREE (£)
(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued) () EEREREE (&)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual debt at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Approximately 100% of total trade receivables
outstanding at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were due
from top 5 trade receivables which exposed the
Group to concentration of credit risk.

As at 31 March 2020, trade receivables and
contract assets that are individually significant
have been separately assessed for impairment.
The Group make periodic assessments on the
recoverability of the receivable based on the
background and reputation of the customers,
historical settlement records and past experience.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

41

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Trade receivables

As at 31 March 2020

Expected credit losses (‘ECL") ~ FEHIEEEE

rate ([EHEEER]) X
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRE 4% (F#7T)
Lifetime ECL (HK$'000) 2HEHREEEB (TEL)

. E®MIA &)

(b) LREAREEBENRBER (&)

() FERBREE(E)

B ZREWR

R-®-®F=A=+-8

More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 1to lessthan ~ More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
3fEA
BEA= 12 NEED 128 REE
DA R 3fEA W12{8A ANE k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
1.6% nil % nil % 100% 29.1%
29,451 - - 11,390 40,841
(476) - - (11,390) (11,866)
28,975 - - - 28,975
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

41. €RT R (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019

Expected credit losses (‘ECL") ~ FEHIEEEE

rate ([EHEERE]
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) R (F75L)
Lifetime ECL (HK$'000)

Contract assets

As at 31 March 2020

Expected credit losses (‘ECL") ~ EHEEERE

rate ((BHEEER] %

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEI#% (T57T)
Lifetime ECL (HK$'000)
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PHEBEEER(TERL)

(b) LRRABREEENREER (&)

PHEBEEER(TERL)

() EERRER (&)
EZEWHE (F)
—hE=ZA=+—8
More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 110 less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
3fE A
ENEA, 12 A ERD 12{8 RmEE
DR1{EA 3EA R12{E A R E ke
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FHET FET FET
2.05% nil £% 100% 100% 6.37%
59,196 - 48 2,686 61,930
(1,212 - (48) (2,686) (3,946)
57,984 - - - 57,984
AHEE
R-ZE-_ZFEF=RA=1+—H
More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 1to lessthan ~ More than carrying
1 month 3months  12months 12 months amount
38R
b 12 NEBD 128 REE
SR 38R W12{8 A RUE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
1.2% nil % nil % 100% 39.7%
9,347 - - 5,976 15,323
(109) - - (5,976) (6,085)
9,238 - - - 9,238




41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

41. ¢RI TH (£&)

(b) SREABRSEENREE (£)

(Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued) () CEERREE (&)
Contract assets (Continueqd) BREE (&)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE—NF=ZA=+—H
More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 1to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
3fEA
BNk 1ES PERERS 1218 REE
DR1{EA 3fEA »12EA AMAE B
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Expected credit losses (‘ECL")  EHEEEE
rate ([BHEEEE]) % 4.19% nil % nil £% nil £% 4.19%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BETI#% (T757T) 16,195 - - - 16,195
Lifetime ECL (HK$'000) 2HEHEERR (TET) (678) - - - (678)
16,517 - - - 15,517
(i) Liquidity risk management (i) HEHELEBREE
Individual operating entities within the Group are AEERNERNESEEEEERR

responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans of cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

EEZEEEE BRRSAR
2R AR BREEFARNTE
HReHF EERBRETE
TEERENKE AAEGER
AEFSE HAET AEE
ZBRREMERERDEST
SKIA R 38 57 B ELE AR
SEgEm TR R SRR
TESRBBIREGE RN AREE
BERE AmEEEMEERR
HEEFE-
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

41. €RT R (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Liquidity risk management (Continued)

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of

the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities
at 31 March 2020 and 2019 on contractual

undiscounted payments:

At 31 March 2020
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Promissory note
Convertible notes

At 31 March 2019

Trade and other payables
Finance lease payables
Promissory note
Convertible notes
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R-Z-ZF=A=+-H
BHREENTE
HERE

EAER

THRERE

RZE-NFZA=1—H
B2 RAMERTE
MAHERNTE
RARR

THRRRE

(b) LRRABREEENREER (&)

(i) REELEBEE (&)

TRREA KRR FIA A
SEEARFCRABENR T
EER_E-NF=ZA=+—H

ZEBBER
Total Total
On Less than 3t0 12 Over undiscounted carrying
demand 3 months months 1year cash flows amount
AERRE BREE
RER  SRSEA  3F12f8A BBI1F RELE ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
41,192 28,924 51,108 10,019 131,243 131,243
- 2,087 5,310 2,962 10,359 10,156
- 45,377 - - 45,377 44,658
- - 262,354 - 262,354 242,990
41,192 76,388 318,772 12,981 449,333 429,047
32,907 12,327 43,739 11,786 100,759 100,759
- 43 - - 43 42
- N N 48,946 48,946 43,123
- - 7,711 262,354 270,065 225,475
32,907 12,370 51,450 323,086 419,813 369,399




41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. ERTH (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) cRERSEENREE (£)
(Continued)
(iii) 7 E @ EE

(iiij) Interest rate risk management

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for
changes in interest rates to the Group’s cash at
bank, convertible notes, promissory note and lease
liabilities/finance lease payables. The Company
manages the risk by regularly evaluating its cash
flows and by repaying the bank borrowings when

7R ER 1B (A ) R B B 7 AR 2 ) R
R EANEERTHRS  AJHRK
R ALZBEIEEAE B
EHERNFKERMB - AARRN
ExREREBRENMFGHERS
mENEERITERAEER

sufficient funds are available. 7
Interest rate profile FIEIEX

The following table details interest rates analysis that
the directors of the Company evaluate its interest

TRELARFE BT EHAE
B2 FI% B -

rate risk.
2020 2019
=HEi e
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
ERFIE BRA %
(%) HK$'000 (%) HK$ 000
FET FHET
Financial liabilities tHAE
Fixed rate borrowings & BE 5L
- Lease liabilties/ -HEaR/
finance lease payables ~ BETRE R 2.07-5.20 10,156 3.8 42
— Promissory note ~-EREER 9.707 44,658 9.707 43,123
- Convertible notes —ARREE 10.795 242,990 10.795 205,475
Financial assets SREE
Floating rate assets FEEE
- Bank balances -RITE 0.001-0.3 91,196 0.001-0.3 79,915
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41. €T E (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies b) REARSEENREE (£)
(Continued)

(iii) FIE@BREE (&)

(iii) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general
decrease or increase of 100 (2019: 100) basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase or decrease the Group’s
loss after tax by approximately HK$912,000
(2019: HK$799,000). There is no impact on other
components of equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for non-derivative financial instruments in existence
at that date. The 100 basis point decrease or
increase represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv) Currency risk

The group entities collect most of the revenue and
incur most of the expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional
currency of each individual group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

41. ¢RI TH (£&)

(b) LREAREEBENRBER (&)

Assets

(iv) E¥mEE

EE

United States Dollars ESUESD)
(USD’)
Renminbi (‘RMB’) AR (TARY])

2020
=
HKS$'000
FET

8,733
81

SEEBUARSZZENDREE
BR1S K AR 7> M M BE A KR 0
MAX ARAEENTIERS
BASEREEERNINEEE
E MARREERALNEHE
) SN 2R B K

REBERBRERRAINEETEZ
E¥EERE¥BEZREAR
T

Liabilities
&
2019 2020 2019
“NF | ZBZBE | _TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THET FET THET

- 8,971 -
117 - -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv) Currency risk (Continued)

v)

Sensitivity analysis

As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not
expect any significant foreign currency exposure
arising from the fluctuation of the HK$ to USD
exchange rates. As a result, the directors of the
Company consider that the sensitivity of the Group’s
exposure towards the change in foreign exchange
rates between HK$ to USD is minimall.

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$
against RMB. The sensitivity analysis includes
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items. A positive number below indicates
an increase in profit or equity where the HK$
strengthen 5% (2019: 5%) against RMB. For a 5%
(2019: 5%) weakening of the HK$ against RMB,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
profit or equity, and the balances below would be
negative.

Foreign currency risk management

m S E R (Aat)

Profit or loss (note)

Note:

This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on
monetary items denominated in RMB not subject to cash flow
hedge at the end of the reporting period.
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41. €RT R (&)

(b) LRRABREEENRBER (&)

(iv) B¥mpE (%)

R E DT

M B T B SR T e - AN B TR
HAgRBTHETZ ERKE
mEE A EAINE R - Ft
RAREEZRRANEEEETR
KL ZEINEEXRESH 2 Ak 2
HREBRE-

Zli'ilzzzﬁﬁkﬁﬁ%&@j%;
ﬁﬁjr?—-‘txmﬂ A/\

TREAVWAEBEHNAETEAR
MIER FTIEES% (T —H
Fib% ) ZBRE -HREDMN
BIEREETUAIINEFEDNSE
BIEH - NH| Z IESR R B TT
)?L/\Eﬁ%ﬂ@5%(:% N
5% ) + Rl i F 3k &5 % 38 00 o fid
BILTAARERESS (ZZE—1
F:5%) Alg¥nflEanE
SEBREERNTZE M5

HRiGEEaH-
(v) ShEjE G EZE
Impact of RMB
ARBHNEE
2020 2019
SEL e
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(4) (6)
Bt

S EEBRIAAREHEMR R EHR
HMARBEDRELPRY 2 EWEIAE 2
Ao (o] 2 g o



41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. ERTH (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) cRERSEENREE (£)
(Continued)

(vi) Other price risk (i) EmEREREE

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in listed equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risks. The
Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity securities quoted in the Stock Exchange. In
addition, the management of the Company monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risk at the end of the reporting period.

If the equity price had been 5% higher/lower
(2019: 5% higher/lower), post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 March 2020 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$92,000 (2019: approximately
HK$309,000) as a result of the changes in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

AREBETRF BN EHRARE
ZRESCHARZBRERR -BRE
BEBEFIRRARIKEMAS
AEIR UL SRR - AR E 2 BB
[ B 5 R B A PR (B 2 BX
REH o WIN AAREEEER
ERER THREFEREZRE
1 H L B e

TX 2 ERE DT ERRE
R P TED Y 2 BB TR gz 7 2 €

WARE L TBE5% (ZF—
¢ Lﬂ/TBMﬁ R E R

—EF=ZRAR=+—HIEF
EZ%M&%E%ﬁ//%m
492,000 T (ZE—NF: 4
309,000 7T) - THRFEBER
BEATEARZeREEZ AT
BEEFTE-
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined as follows:

e The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded on active
markets are determined with reference to quoted market

bid prices and ask prices respectively.

e The fair values of derivative instruments are calculated
using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available,
a discounted cash flow analysis is performed using the
applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments
for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models

for optional derivatives.

e The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors of the
Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated

financial statements approximate to their fair values:

Financial liabilities cHEE
Promissory note EQTIES S
Convertible notes RKREE
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41. €RT R (&)

(c) EMIAZAFE

CREEREHEBEZAFETRATE
BIEE

BABREGRREF AN ERTISE
BEZeRMEEREREE DO
ErmmsERERBEREEEAT
&

TTETAZ A HERBRESE K
REESERER  RIAFRRITAET
AZTEHROBEAESHA AR
HIHEDT IE:E’JHHEEU‘I{EET L
BEZRENN-

EmemEEERABE (TEEL
m%)Z ¥1§E$E%F1§)ﬂﬁ£fﬁfﬁi
) BERMATEEXNET-

B FRFATEFAEIN  RABEFRR VR

EUMBHRETRERCEHEERCHAE
ZEmEREAFEES
2020 2019
= “ET-NF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
HREE A¥E REE NS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FE FEn FET FET
44,658 46,519 43,123 43,365
242,990 226,767 225,475 230,272




41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

41. €WMITH (&)
(c) EMIAZAFE (&)

REEH BN R F*FPERZ 2 FER

y--§

TREINNTERRIZAFEAE
ZEMIT AN LREERFER
BERBEDARFEF=4H:

s FMRRAFENETEENS
NRREEL B EZRE CRE

HE)

o FMBRAFEFEIFAE—
MR 2 MEAINATEZ (AVEE
RS EE (RAEERRLEE
HEEBERNBAER: &

s FZMRRAFENERAEREL
FURBEMSBBERER ZE
EXRBEHAER (TABEMN
BABR)WEET A
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 —F=FF=A=+—HIFFF
41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

(Continued)

At 31 March 2020

41. €W T H (&)
(c) eEMIAZATE (&)
REE BB T E P ERZ A FER

2 (#&)

R-ZB-ZEF=ZHA=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—R A o | E=A @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value FERBERATEARY
through profit or loss TREE 1,835 - - 1,835
At 31 March 2019 —NEF=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— &5l EZH37 E=ME st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value FRBRRATEARY
through profit or loss TREE 6,065 - - 6,065
- - 116 116
6,065 - 116 6,181
Financial assets at fair value FEREMZARREATE
through other comprehensive ~ ABRZ 2B EE
income - - 1,245 1,245
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. ERTH (&)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continueqd) (c) ETMIEZAFE(E)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used).

Fair value as at

RUTBEHZAYE

31 March 31 March

Financial assets 2020 2019
ZBIEF “T-NE

SREE =R=t+-H ZR=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value Listed equity Listed equity
through profit or loss securities in securities in
Hong Kong: Hong Kong:

- HK$1,835,000 - HK$6,065,000

BRBRRENTE REBLHH REE LT
AEZeREE RARES BAES:
- 1,835,000/ 7t - 6,065,000/% 7T

- - HK$116,000

-116,000/8 7T

Financial assets at fair value Assets: Assets:
through other comprehensive - HK$1,245,000

income

FREMPEYER BE: BE:
BRATEARZEREE = 1,245,000/ 7T

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 for both
years.

REEH BN R F*FPERZ 2 FER

g (&)

AEEBDEMEEREREHRRL
NP EFE TREH B HIAEE
ZETMEERATFEZEM (LER
PIERA 2 MEERBARE) -

Fair value
hierarchy

DNFEER

Level 1

F—A

Level 3

E=R5

Level 3

E=A

A W 8 F E
LS o

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HERER
IEHARE

Quoted bid prices in an active
market

ERBMSMBRNEAE

Adjusted net asset value approach

key inputs:

Discount rates of 10% for both lack
of control and lack of marketability
(2019: 10%)

BEREEFEEEIERARE:

PR I K2 SR N R A10%
LHEE(ZT—NF:10%)

Significant inputs are is not based
on observable market data the
instrument is inducted in Level 3

BRBALBUFENTBREMS
HiE ZIASIAE=R5

F—HE _RB2EL
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % - =&

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

—EFE=A=+—ALFE

Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3
fair value measurements

F=MADFETEZHK

As at 31 March 2018
Reclassification from available-for-
sale financial assets

As at 1 April 2018

Transfer from level valuation

Change in fair value of financial
asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss

As at 31 March 2019 and
1 April 2019

Transfer to accumulated losses upon
disposal of entire interest

Change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss

As at 31 March 2020

R-E-\F=A=1—H
AR ESREEEH DA

R-E—-\FMA—H
B AR Bl i (B 88
BREMEEERES
TRMEEZR

ﬁ@?ﬁk%z
N EE

BRBEERATFEARZ
TREEZATEE

%

—hWEZA=+—A8K
“E-NFNA—H
REE2 R EERE
ZEEE
BRBREAFEARZ
ERMEEZATEED

i

>

M

RZEBE-_EBF=F=+—H
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41. €RT R (&)

2 (#)

Financial assets

(c) EMITAZAFE(E)

REEH BN T &P ERZ L FER

at fair value Financial assets
through other at fair value
comprehensive through profit
income or loss
ERHMEE ERER
WEBEATE BEAYHE
ARZEREE ARZzeREE
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

2,302 -

2,302 -

- 700

(1,057) -

- (584)

1,245 116

(1,245) -

(116)




42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes lease liabilities/finance lease payables, promissory
note and convertible note, net of cash and cash equivalents)
and equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital.

42. EXERER

AEEEREAZRE AREASERKE
R 2 BE N PATRI AR R B A1 [ 3 I AR L o B
ERAEAGRKER UWREFREFSER
BB D B R - AR B 2 BEEK S
BB FEALL BT TR

REFIABENGEE AEE A RITH
Petn 2 i & B B PAR AME TS o

AEBERNGBRRERFE (BEHE
SRBE/MEMERNTIE ALEER
AMRRE kR RREFEY) IAX
REEA ARG (BREARFEE) -

AEEZEAREEABRSYFZEER
MEARB-ERAZN c—#0 BE
ERBEARKA KK S E & ANIE R HEREE
go
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42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 42. EXRERERE (&)

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period REPRRER FEAER 2 R

was as follows: T:

2020 2019
—z-2F —T-n%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Debt (note (3)) &% (M1t (a) 297,804 068,640

Less: Cash and cash equivalents R ERREEEY (91,196) (79,915)

Net debt (ET - 206,608 188,725

Equity (note (b)) = (HaEb)) (271,968) (166,991)

Net debt and equity B FE R ER (65,360) 21,734

Net debt to equity ratio B 75 F FR B 2 Y 5 Nil£ 868%

Notes: K&

(@ Debt comprises lease liabilities/finance lease payables, promissory @ EXEeEEEaE MEMERMNRE AL
note and convertible notes as detailed in note 29, 31 and 32 R ATRREE  FED BT 29
respectively. 31532 °

(o)  Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of ) BEPREMBARAEBAEBEERNKRRE
the Company. f o
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 43. XA R FEMB AR ZFHE
THE COMPANY
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting REBB AN REHRFBEHHNM
period are set out below. e
Percentage of equity
Place and date interests and voting
of incorporation and power attributable to Nominal value
Name of subsidiary form QL business structure the Comparg of issued share capital Principal activities
ERAILER ARAEL - \
WEARER ABNREBRENS H&‘Z&SEEM?‘;EEM BRTRAEE TEXH
2020 2019
ZEIEE CTNF
% %
Direct subsidiaries
HEWEAT
TYW (BVI) Limited BVI 2 July 2009, limited liability 100 100 United States Dollars (‘US$") Investment holding
company 50,000, divided into 50,000
ordmary shares of US$1.00
gach
TYW (BVI) Limited ABRLES 50000XTL([%7]) 25 REARK
—TENAFLACH 50,0000 &R EET o%mz
AREEAT E@R
Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural PRC SO May 2013, limited liability 100 100 Registered and paid up capital of ~ Advertising business in PRC
Development Limited” B . RMB30,000,000 o \
AFEREER U ERERAT EFI *f*—ﬁﬁﬂ TR BR RS REA ROBHSEEER
EfRE A& #30,000,0007
Indirect subsidiaries
BEREAR
Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited  Hong Kong, 16 July 2000, limited 100 100 HK$20,000,000 divided into Holding of motor vehicles,
liability company 20,000,000 ordinary shares of provision of civil engineering
HK$1.00 each services and laying of water
EETATIRERAR B —EFTELATRA 20,000,007 5 & ﬁ‘ﬁiiﬁ REIARTIERRER
AREMLAA 20000000% L EUN
FREE10ETEER
Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company  Hong Kong, 6 February 1996, limited 100 100 HK$25,000,000 divided into Provision of civil engineering
Limited liability company 25,000,000 ordinary shares of ~ services and laying of water
N . HK$1.00 each it)tipes o
EEKBREGRAA A m/\i ArE: 25,000,000/ RETARTRREREGEKE
BRE @2%25,000,0()0]%% o
BREE.0E T, SRR
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Company ~ Hong Kong, 22 December 2009, 100 100 HK$10,000, divided into 10,000  Television broadcasting business
Limited imited liability company ordmary shares of HK$1.00 in the Asia Pacific region
o - each ) exc\udm the PRC
HEERTAREZARAA FE _% 7n¢+ AztzR: 10,000 T 7 210,000 WE?:E NEETE
ﬁllﬁ (R BHEE!. 00;%752%5%% HEER %5&%%&
BayTV Network Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 14 May 2010, limited 100 100 HK$10,000 divided into 10,000 Multi Channel Network Business

liability company ordmary shares of HK$1.00

each
ERTREERAR FE % T¢£H+@B 10,000 T 7 210,000 SREBRES
ERE 1 SREE! 00872 EAR

RRBEERRLERAIIAEE 2HER

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in

the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect ANEEREARASEPBRAERE AR
the results of the financial position of the Group. To give details AEZERA HIHEMMBAR ZHEE

of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of SHRBBRITE-
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the MEMBARREREITEMNERES -

end of the year.
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other payables J& &1 7 Sz & E ih FE {5 A H

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Convertible notes

Net current liabilities

44, KRR M BARRARREE

N Bl F 3 O
2020 2019
—ECoSF — N
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHEIT
FRBEE

Y% BUE MR 240 553
RETB AR Z’E 47,705 53,682
47,945 54,235

REEE
B 5 R EAMEIWFIE 161 162
JEUS B B A =) FRIB 5,229 5,396
BehkReEED 9 651
5,399 6,209
HWEE 53,344 60,444

REas
52,954 43,648
JEAST B /B A &) 5 IE 5,699 2,347
Al AR E B 242,990 -
301,643 45,995
REEEFEE (296,244) (39,786)
(248,299) 14,449

Total assets less current liabilities Z2EERRESE
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company

(Continued)

Non-current liabilities
Convertible notes
Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Net liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2020 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Yan
=5
Director

EF

FRBERE
AR RIE
EEFRIRAE

mEE

BEFE

EXRfEE
(LN
Gk

4. ARRZMBRRARRER (&)

RAFZzHMBERRE (F)

2020 2019
—ECEE —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

— 225,475

981 2,404

981 227,879
302,624 273,874
(249,280) (213,430)
4,055 4,055
(253,335) (217,485)
(249,280) (213,430)

BEeCN T _TF AT ABHE
MR ESRER H N ATRR

EEesE:

G0
B A~

Li Yong Sheng
=kH
Director

EF
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z _-—FE_-_TF=HA=+—HILFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

4. ARRZMBRRRREE (&)

Movement in the Company’s reserves AAT2fEEES
Convertible
Share Capital  notes equity Other  Accumulated
premium reserves reserves reserves losses Total
TRRERE
B4 &(E BRfE BHEREE Hibfi e 2itER @t
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FAT FAT FET FAT FET FET
At 1 April 2018 R-Z-N\GmA-B 1,238,195 2758 1,304 3Be4 (1481310) (203,413)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRBERZEBREE - - - - (47,824) (47,824)
Transfer to accumulated losses upon mature of TRRZRI GG ERZRHER
convertible notes - - (1,304) - 1,304 -
Recognition of convertible notes equity reserveson TR AR Z I HER
extension of convertible notes ARZEER R - - 17,245 19,352 - 36,597
Deferred tax liabilty arising on extension of ERABREEEECEEHIESE
convertible notes - - (2,845) - - (2,845)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZB-NE=A=+-HK
“T-NEMA-B 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,527,831) (217,485)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRBERZEBREE - - - - (35,850) (35,850)
At31 March 2020 R-B-BE=f=+-§ 1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54993  (1,563,681)  (253,2335)
45. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 45. #HLEARE BB wE

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June
2020.

46. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019
using modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. Further details of the

changes in accounting policies are disclosed in note 2.1.

In addition, certain comparative figure have been reclassified
to be consistent with the current year’s presentation.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

frl F55 ik =2

A summary of the results and of the financial position of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue
Cost of services

Gross (loss)/profit
Other income

Other gains and losses
Amortisation expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Changes in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

(Loss)/profit from operations
Finance costs

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment loss recognised in respect of

trade receivables

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
Impairment loss recognised in respect of

intangible assets

Loss before income tax
Income tax

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

L6
R A

E(8)/H

ECEION

Hftn gz Rk BE

BHRX

HERD HHX

TRAX

BRERRATEARZ
eREEZATEER

HE (BR) /2
HENBRRZWE
HEHRMGUARR
BEEE
HEERRAEBE
FEVAERDZREER

BAS R ATE R
FigH

FRAERNREZABRLER

AEEBEDEMBERE 2 FE MR
2 DR EE B 2 RERM @K - &5

—|t o
mEeXE
BE=—A=+—HIFFEZE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
o33 —E-NE —E-N\F —E—+F —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FET
237,322 324,855 370,515 454,447 370,939
(254,858) (321,371) (338,000) (473,557) (302,288)
(17,536) 3,484 32,515 (19,110) 68,651
1,033 450 4,093 1,035 906
(11,811) 3,032 268 3,259 1,950
(18,367) (18,594) (19,734) (20,178) (23,598)
(770) - (100) (377) 97)
(24,591) (22,441) (32,101) (33,130) (34,992)
(4,636) (9,123) (1,308) (3,452) (5,773)
(76,678) (43,192) (16,367) (71,953) 7,047
(28,496) (25,686) (33,331) (37,262) (34,276)
= - 114 - -
= - (55) (422) (2,238)
= - - - (19,751)
(105,174) (68,878) (49,639) (109,637) (49,218)
4,343 3576 3,822 5,110 2,775
(100,831) (65,302) (45,817) (104,527) (46,443)

PR EERIERERAS 2019/2020 FiR 255



Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Less: Current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
Less: Non-current liabilities

Total net (liabilities)/assets/Total equity
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FRBEE
hEBAE

BEE
W RBaE

REERRDAR
R R

a%(afk)/4&/ wks

REMBRR

R=A=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ket 23 —ZE-NE —T-N\F —E—+F —T-RE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FAT
61,633 84,229 106,257 126,742 139,072
186,821 207,872 180,873 208,991 278,868
248,454 292,101 287,130 335,733 418,840
509,570 174,625 403,665 415,137 130,832
(261,116) 117,476 (116,535) (79,404) 288,008
10,852 284,467 14,761 22,331 283,377
(271,968) (166,991) (131,296) (101,735) 4,631
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